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Foreword

For Freedom

Great Spirit, I chant for your help
once again

The strength of the four winds braced,
my mind.

My song set me free for I have

dared to dream

before of life-giving

freedom.

I'm free as an Eagle flying over
spacious prairies
that stilled the soul.

Unconstrained,
life-giving freedom
soaring under the
aspect of eternity.

Mountains and seas are no match
for my wings.

What matters if I fly alone?

Where freedom lies
there I find...

home.

- Bobby Gene Garcia -
(January 7, 1980)



Preface

Statement of John Trudell, Last National Chairman of the
American Indian Movement, at the Black Hills International
Survival Gathering

July 18,1980

I'd like to thank you all for coming to this place, and I'd like to give thanks
for being welcomed here myself. And I would like to talk tonight in honor of
all of usin the struggle who havelost our relations to the Spirit World. I would
like to talk in honor of the wind, one of the natural elements. This is a survival
gathering and one of the things I hope you all learn while you're here is...to
appreciate the energy and power that the elementsare, that of the sun, the rain
and the wind. Thope you go away from here understanding that this is power,
the only real, true power. This is the only real, true connection we will ever
have to power, our relationship to Mother Earth.

We must not become confused. We must not become confused and deceived
by their illusions. There is no such thing as military power. There is only
military terrorism. Thereis no such thing as economic power. Thereisonly the
economic within these illusions so we will believe they hold power in their
hands. But they do not. All they know how to do is act in a repressive, brutal
way.

T}}:e power. We are a natural part of the earth. We are an extension of the
earth; we are not separate from it. We are part of it. The earth is our mother.
The earth is a spirit, and we are an extension of that spirit. We are spirit. We
are power. They want us to believe that we have to believe in them, that we
have to assume these consumer identities and these political identities, these
religious identities and these racial identities. They want to separate us from
our power. They want to separate us from who we are. Genocide.

Genocide is just an intellectual way of saying murder because we live in a
so-called “civilized,” industrialized world. And because this world is alleg-
edly civilized and allegedly has laws, they can’t go out and call an act of
murder, murder any more. They call it genocide to throw another illusion in
our eyes. And they have limited our ability to see the necessity for our survival
because they want us to believe that genocide just means physical extinction.

Reprinted by permission of the Black Hills Alliance, P.O. Box 2508, Rapid City, S.D.,
57709
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We must consider the spiritual genocide that they commit against us: the
spiritual genocide that white people have been victimized for thousands

of years, the spiritual genocide that told them not to respect the earth — the
spiritual genocide that told them not to respect the life thatis the earth - but
to pay all their tribute through the churches to god and heaven, that heaven
would take care of them in the afterlife. They tried to take and suppress our
natural identity, our natural spiritual connection to the earth.

We must move to the time when we truly understand our connection to real
power because these people who deal withillusions and imitations, these men
who have attempted to “improve upon” nature, they want to keep us
confused. They want to keep us confused with sexism and agism, racism and
class. They want to keep us in confusion so that we will continue to believe in
onelieafteranotheras they programtheminto our mindsand into our society.

There is no hope for the American political system. The ruling class, the

exploitative one percent who control world economics today, are not going to
change under the existing political rules. They are going to lie to us and they
are going to create the illusion of “changes,” and they are going to push one
face after another in front of us, making promises. We have to understand our
roleasanatural power. We have to understand that when our oppressor treats
us this way and do these things to us, weallow him todoitso long as we accept
his lies. As long as we make excuses for his lies, as long as we tolerate his
brutality, then weallow him to mistreat us. We have been allowing it too long.
That’s genocide.
When 1 go around America and I see the bulk of the white people, they do not
feel oppressed. They feel powerless. When I go amongst my own people, we
do not feel powerless. We feel oppressed. We do not want to make the trade.
We see the physical genocide they are attempting to inflict upon our lives and
we understand the psychological genocide they have already inflicted upon
their own people...that this is the trade-off they want us to make for survival,
that we become subservient to them, that we no longer understand our real
connection to power, our real connection to the earth.

Power. They can’t stop the wind and they can’t stop the rain. They can’t stop
the earthquake and the volcano and the tornado. They can’t stop power. We
are a spiritual connection to the earth. As individuals we have power and,
collectively, we have the same power as the earthquake, the tornado, and the
hurricanes. We have that potential. We have that connection.

We must be willing in our lifetime to deal with reality. It’s not revolution
we're after; it’s liberation. We want to be free of a value system that’s being
imposed upon us. We do not want to participate in that value system. We
don’t want to change that value system. We want to remove it from our lives
forever. Liberation. We want to be free. But, in order for us to be free, we have
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to assume our responsibilities as power, as individuals, as spirit, as people.
We are going to have to work at it. We are going to have to be committed to
it. We must never underestimate our enemy. Our enemy is committed against
us 24 hoursa day. They use 100% of their efforts to maintain their materialistic
status quo. 100% of their effort goes into deceiving us and manipulating us
against each other. We have to devote our lives. We have to make our
commitment. We have to follow a way of life that means we are going to resist
forever.

In the 1980s, we have to start working more realistically with a resistance
consciousness. A resistance, something we can pass on as strength to coming
generations. A resistance where organizational egos do not get in the way, a
resistance where the infiltrators and the provocateurs and the liars and the
betrayers and the traitors do not get in the way. We will not get our liberation
if we do not seriously analyze the experiences of our own lifetimes. The other
side, the enemy, has studied. They understand what we were up to in the
1960s. They understand what we wanted in the early "70s. They have studied
us.

They create certain events, and they manipulate the economics, and they
manipulate the circumstances because they want to smash us the same way
they did in the ’60s, so they can come in and smash our movements. We must
become of a resistance consciousness. We must say that, “We will not allow
you to smash us, evenif it means that we have to deal with that part of you that
you planted in me. We will not allow you to smash us. This is part of our
obligation to the earth. Only by fulfilling our obligation to the earth can we
fulfill our obligation to the people. Only by understanding our connection to
the earth can we create a fair system that’s going to be good to the people.”

We must go beyond the arrogance of human rights. We must go beyond the
ignoranceof civil rights. Wemust step into the reality of natural rightsbecause
all the natural world has a right to existence. We are only a small part of it.
There can be no trade-off. We are the people. We have the potential for power.
Wemustnot fool ourselves. We must not mislead ourselves. It takes more than
good intentions. It takes commitment. It means that at some point in our lives
we are going to have to decide that we have a way of life that we follow, and
we are going to live that way of life, even when our enemies totally surround
us, even when our enemies act against us with brutality and harshness, with
lies and bribes. We are going to have to stand up fo brutality and harshness,
lies and bribes. We are going to have to stand with our way of life. That is the
only solution there is for us. We cannot reach a point in our lives where we're
going to sit back and say, “Well, we'll make this compromise with the other
side.”

They have every intention that they are going to use the nuclearization of the
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world to colonize you all. There is a new Indian this time. The new Indian is
white. They don’t need you any more because they’ve got an entire potential
world market with millions and millions of consumers. So, all the lies they’ve
dangled in frontof your faces, well, they’re going to start pulling back on these
lies a bit, and they’re going to start slapping you all with a bit of reality: the
reality that there are not political freedoms in America; the reality that there
is not religious freedom in America. You all are going to have to deal with
reality and stop making excuses for America.

We Indians are going to have to act as runners and messengers. We are going
to have torunand actas teachers. We are going to have to talk to all the people
who willlisten to us about what we believe, whatit is that we know to be right.
We're going to have to find ways to become a communication of ourselves.
They are afraid of us. We must always remember that every time they have to
createa system builtupon traitors coming inand betraying you, any time they
have tobuild that system, itis because they understand they have a weakness.
And if we persist in our struggle and become dedicated in our resistance...we
will take them down through that weakness.

It doesn’t matter how many jail cells they build. It doesn’t matter how many
racist judges, sexist judges, agist judges and class judges they have. It doesn’t
matter how many of their side they put into illusory positions of “respectabil-
ity.” It doesn’t matter what they throw at us because we make the difference.
We make the decision. We are power.

They deal in illusions, and that’s all it is. We must not be afraid. We must
never allow fear to bea part of our life. We must always deal with reality. They
have been able to use the element of fear to control the masses of people
through murder and making the rest of the people afraid of being murdered.
But what good is it to live on this sacred place, what good is it to be here if we
can’tlive with dignity and respect? Weare here just for our own purposes any
more than we are here for them.

We have to understand the implications of slavery and that America is a
slave state. One way to understand this s thatall of you grew up and left your
homes to seek your independence, and immediately went into debt. And
there went your independence. Slavery is slavery. Whether you are an
indentured servant or in debt, or whether you are in chains, slavery is slavery.
We have to evaluate our values. We have to start stepping away from the
concepts they forced us to learn. We must share knowledge. We must not be
drawn into their traps. Whatever we do, we must do as a resistance; whatever
we do as a people, whatever we do in the name of the people and the earth,
wemustdo this with humility and with gratefulness for what we are and what
we have. But we should not do it with pride.

Because John Wayne is proud, the marines are proud. People flying B-52



bombers are proud. How are we going to get our liberation if we take on their
characteristics? It is time for us to think. We hate to think about the terminol-
ogy we use, [but] we must think about the thoughts that go with our
terminology.

We must make our resistance totally complete. There must be no last way,
half way measures. We have to learn to put up and deal with the hard times
just like we enjoy the good times. We have to learn and understand that hard
times are necessary for the good times to be here. We have to learn and
understand thatall the struggle we will go through in our lives does not mean
wearelosing. We have to understand that they wantus to belazy inourminds
and lazy in our spirits and lazy in our thinking. But the nature of the People
of the Earth has always been one of struggle. It has always been. As the
indigenous people of the western hemisphere, we learned to struggleand live
because of the struggle of our living. We learned to live with harmony and
respect for Mother Nature. We never forgot who we were...

We always had to struggle, so let’s not fool ourselves and try to make
ourselvesquit what webelieve justbecauseit’s going to be hard. Let'sstruggle
forapurpose. Let'sstruggle for the freeing of theearth because only by freeing
the earth, and those who would attack the earth, can we be free ourselves. It
is the only way we can do it.

There have been many social revolutions in America. There have been many
social organizations. There have been women’s rights movements; therehave
been equal rights movements; there have been union movements. And look
who'sstill controlling our lives. We’ve got to deal with that reality. The people
have risen before. The people have spoken before. The people have tried
before. But somewhere they did not put it all together, the reason being that
they always attempted to change the social conditions of America without
addressing the issue of our relationship to the land. [Yet] they cannot create
arepressive military regime without the land. They cannot exploit economics
without the land...

We must not take them on just on the fact that we are going to own the
land...Our concern must be for the land as well as ourselves. If we do not use our
minds to think of our coming generations, they will win their psychological
genocide against us. We must not become discouraged. We must never
quit...If they stop us one way, then we must find another way. They are afraid
of consistency.

They always throw issues at us to keep us jumping from oneissue to another.
They throw lies and illusions in front of us. We must learn from the Vietnam
War. The white American people said they were against war. That’s what the
people said. Then they went and listened to their lying politicians, and their
lying politicians said, “Okay, we will help you. We will declare peace.” And
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so the lying politicians got the people to settle for withdrawal from Vietnam
as being peace. And meanwhile my people were going through a war right
here, right here on the Pine Ridge Reservation. And all that went unnoticed
in the celebrations over peace being declared. The lie was sunk in, and the
American people accepted the lie.

When the black people were struggling for what became civil rights, really
they were talking about equality. The politicians stepped inand said, “We will
help you all.” And the black people settled for civil rights, which is only part
of life. Now the politicians come talking again: “Weare going to help you with
nuclear power.” We’ve got to think about our past experience.

If we are going to consciously become power and use our power
correctly...we are going to have to find a way to communicate our thou ghts
and our resistance and our consciousness which will not accept the nucleari-
zation of the earth, that this goes against everything we know and believe in,
thatthis time we draw theline. We have to take the initiative. We can no longer
afford to become and remain reactionary...We should work within our
movements, but we must always remember these are parts of a total resis-
tance. The resistance is the one thing at this pointin our generation which can
give life to the coming generations...

When we talk about the other side and energy, we can only place so much
responsibility on the shoulders of the enemy. And we do have an enemy. We
can call him Jimmy Carter or Ronald Reagan, or we can call it the Trilateral
Commission. We can call them anything we want, but we’ve got to come to the
reality that they are the enemy because our friends and the people who love
us would not do this to us. So they are the enemy. We have to deal with this
reality: “the enemy.” There must be this consciousness that goes into our
minds and we will start to act accordingly. And we must know what re-
sponsibilities we must place upon the enemy, and what responsibilities we
must take upon ourselves. Because, when we talk about “the energy crisis,”
we must remember that weare energy...We are energy, so we must, if we are
going to go out with the truth and spiritual connection behind us when we
stand against our enemy - and we accuse the enemy of misusing energy, and
we accuse him of abusing it — then we better think real hard about how we
misuse it ourselves. Because we are energy. We have to deal with that.

We are energy, and its how we use ourselves that allows the enemy to
misuse us. This resistance and this struggle for survival must be total,
absolutely complete. There are no half measures. They have interfered in our
lives since the moment we were born. Look at America. You have to pay tobe
born, and you have to pay to be buried. That tells youalotaboutour freedom.
And if they’ve gotten it into our consciousness to accept that, then we’ve got
a lot of work to do. We really do. But we have the ability to change it because
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wearea natural part of the earth...because we were here. The earth did not put
useless things here. We are a natural part of the creation.

They have been attacking indigenous people, and they have been misusing
white people, and they want to push us all into a position where all we think
about is ourselves. They want us to forget the earth, just like they used early
christianity to make the christians forget the earth. They want to do it to all of
us again, in this generation. They want to isolate us and call us names like
“communist” and “anarchist” and “terrorist” and “criminal.” They want to
attack us. They want to use terrorism to intimidate us. We must build a
resistance in our hearts that says we will not accept it, we will never acceptit.

As to the indigenous peoples, I don’t know how you all relate. But indige-
nous people, understanding power, we are the spirit. Weare a natural part of
the earth. And all our ancestors, and all our relations who have gone to the
Spirit World, they are here with us. They have power. They will help us. They
will help us to see, if we are willing to look. We are not separated from them
because there is no place to go. This is our place, the earth. This is our mother.
We will not go away from our mother.

No matter what they do to us, no matter how they strike at us, every time
they do it, we must continue. But we must never become reactionary. The one
thing that has always bothered me about revolution is that every time [ have
met the revolutionaries they have acted simply out of hatred for the oppres-
sor. What we must do is act out of love for our people. No matter what they
ever do to us, we must always act out of love for the people and for the earth.
We must never react out of hatred for those who have no sense.
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Prelude
Succeeding Into Native North America

by Winona LaDuke

The map on the facing page could be called the indigenous North American
view of bioregional secession. Although the scale in which it is presented
prevent all the details from being clear, the treaty and land claim areas
involved are not exactly how it was B.C. (Before Columbus); they are instead
the basic outlines of the legally defined land areas of native nations. The map,
even through its general contours, may help correct some of our basic
miseducation:

First, the map shows how North America’s indigenous
peoples lived in what amount to bioregional configurations.

Second, it shows that North America’s reigning nation-state
governments — those of Canada and the United States — are,
according to the indigenous “host” nations, on shaky
grounds. Very littleland in North America should not rightly
be under native jurisdiction.

Back to the first point. When I was in grade school, I was taught there were
Plains Indians (warlike), Woodland Indians (democratic), and Pueblo Indians
(pacifistic), and that'saboutall. What was left out was that the treaty areasand
treaty rights of indigenous people in North America are ongoing, and that they
accrue to recognizednations, demonstrating distinct socio-cultural and lin-
guistic patterns. Also omitted from my education was the fact that these
nations had survived quite well within their naturally defined territories since
time immemorial; there was/is trade between each of the indigenous areas,
but each was also essentially self-sufficient.

Today, a lot of people question the necessity and utility of centralized
nation-state governance and economics. They find the status quo tobeincreas-
ingly absurd, and are seeking alternatives to the values and patterns of
consumption presently dominating not only North America, but the rest of
the planet as well. The living reality of Native North America, and the
bioregionally-determined redefinition of polity itrepresents, offers the model
for such an alternative arrangement. And, if Leopold Kohr and the Euskadi
(Basques) say sucha naturally grounded structure could work in Europe, why
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not here? So it is important that everyone learn as much as possible about
American Indian realities, rather than the self-serving junk they usually teach
in school.

The second important aspect of the map is the legal basis for protecting the
environment and its inhabitants which it points up. The native struggle in
North America today can only be properly understood as a pursuit for the
recovery of land rights which are guaranteed through treaties. What Indians
ask -really, what they expect ~from those who would claim to be their friends
and allies is respect and support for their treaty rights.

What does this mean? Well, it starts with advocating that Indians regain
jurisdiction over what the treaties define as being their land. It means direct
support to Indian efforts to recover their lands, but not governmental efforts
to “compensate” them for its loss with money (in other words, buying them
off). This, in turn, means that those Indian governments which would #radi-
tionally hold regulatory and enforcement power within these territories
should have the right to do so right now. It also means that land which is
currently taxed, regulated, strip-mined, militarized, drown by hydroelectric
generation or over-irrigation, and nuked by (or with the blessing of) the U.S.
and Canadian governments would not be under their control or jurisdiction
any more.

What is perhaps most important about Indian treaty rights is the power of
the treaties to clarify issues which would otherwise be consigned by nation-
state apologists to the realm “opinion” and “interpretation.” The treaties lay
things out clearly, and they are matters of international law. In this sense, the
violation of the treaty rights of any given people represents a clear violation
of the rights of all people, everywhere. This can be a potent weapon in the
organization of struggles for justice and sanity everywhere. And it should be
appreciated as such to those who champion causes ranging from protection
of the environment to universal human rights.

Native North America is struggling to break free of the colonialist, industri-
alist, militarist nation-state domination which has presently engulfed it. It is
fighting to “secede” from the U.S. and Canada. But, because of the broader
implications of this, we refer to the results not as “secession,” but as “success” ;
not just for Indians, but for all living beings. Won't you help us succeed?
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Introduction
Critical Issues in Native North America

It is impossible to address all the critical issues currently impacting Native
North America in a single volume. We have therefore attempted to assemble
a representative sample, including topics drawn from all areas lying north of
the Rio Grande. By thismethod, we hope notonly seek to analyze specific situ-
ations, both concrete and conceptual, but point to the present broader state of
affairs pertaining to the indigenous nations imbedded within the U.S. and
Canada. In the process, of course, much more has been left out than has been
included in the book.

Some attempt will be made to compensate for this circumstance through
release of a second volume of critical issues studies concerning Native North
America later in 1989. In this second book, readers interested in direct
consideration of the effects of uranium mining upon indigenous peoples
within the U.S., the ongoing fishing rights struggles occurring in the Pacific
Northwest (the U.S. states of Oregon, Washington and Idaho in particular) the
continuing forced relocation of traditional Diné from their land around Big
Mountain (in the U.S. state of Arizona), the situation of the James Bay Cree in
Canada, and “transborder” issues such as those effecting the Mohawks (U.S.
and eastern Canada), Haida (Alaska and northwestern Canada), and O’Otam
(Papago; U.S. and Mexico) will find the information they seek.

In the meantime, this first volume is composed of three distinct sections,
each dealing with an Anglo-Saxon colonial entity. The initial grouping
concerns itself with matters within the 48 conterminous states of the U.S,, the
second with Canada, and the the third with the Arctic North (including
territories claimed by both nation-states). Mexico has not been included as an
area of scrutiny (and will also be excluded from consideration in the second
volume, other than in the O’Otam transborder connection) because, although
its territory is geographically part of North America, its colonial heritage has
been and remains exclusively associated with the Spanish conquest. In this
sense, the issues associated with Mexican treatment of indigenous issues
might be more fruitfully explored within a volume concerning itself with
critical issues in Latin America.

The present volume opens with an excellent summary by Glenn T. Morris
of the evolution of the”legal status” of indigenous nationsunder U.S.law, and
examination of how U.S. legal definitions consequently conflict with the
aspirations of indigenous nations to exercise their inherent sovereign rights
and self-determination. Morris’ essay is followed and reinforced by a more
specific study prepared by M. Annette Jaimes which demonstrates how the

xii



legalistic appropriation of American Indian identity criteria by the U.S. has
served to undermine the expression of indigenous sovereignty, and can be
linked directly to the massive expropriation of Indian landholdings over the
past century. '

Case studies then follow which draw directly from the legal / conceptual
groundwork established by Morris and Jaimes: the editor’s own examination
of the Black Hills land claim within the present-day states of North and South
Dakota; Wyoming, Montana and Nebraska; Winona LaDuke’s study of the
White Earth Anishinabe land claim in present-day Minnesota; Bernard
Neitschmann’sand William LaBon’s brief exploration of the nuclearization of
the Western Shoshone Nation in the Great Basin regionof the U.S.;and Morris’
sketch of the implications of the so-called GO-Road decision in northern
California, effecting the Yurok and other indigenous nations in that area. The
U.S. section concludes with an essay by Jim Vander Wall summing up the
current situation of Leonard Peltier, an indigenous prisoner of war incarcer-
ated by the federal government because of his active resistance to the coloni-
zation of his people.

Section II follows the same pattern as the first section, beginning with
Sharon H. Venn’s Canadian counterpart to Morris’ study of indigenous status
under U.S. law. This is followed by Jim Harding’s elaboration of the recent
colonially engendered effects of uranium mining upon indigenous peoples
within Canada. Next, the Dam the Dams Project provides insightinto both the
present and planned “engineering” of the entire Canadian hydrological
systemasan “economic development” measure, and explains the predictable
impact of this not only upon indigenous peoples, but upon non-Indians the
eco-system generally. The section on Canada closes with my own summary
of the effects of colonial policies and exploitation upon a given people, the
Lubicon Lake Cree.

The final section considers issues and situations within the Arctic North,
and consists of a single essay prepared by Dalee Sambo of the Inuit Circum-
polar Conference (ICC). The Sambo material is framed in the form of an ICC
report, and thus adopts a rather different approach to exposition than do the
other contributions. However, as a result of its very format, the report is able
to cover a considerable range of issues in a very short amount of space.

Hopefully, the contents which follow will prove to be of real utility in terms
of allowing a broad cross-section of people around the world to better
understand the nature, scope and magnitude of problems now confronting
the indigenous peoples of North America. Equally, it is hoped that the
subsequent volume will add substantially to this usefulness.

— Ward Churchill -

Boulder, Colorado
U.S.A.
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Section I.

The United States




The International Status of Indigenous Nations
Within the United States

by Glenn T. Morris

Within the settler society of the United States, there exists a broad ignorance
and confusion about the political, economic, and legal history of indigenous
peoples. This ignorance has led to the conclusion that indigenous peoples are
the equivalent of “ethnic groups” or “domestic minorities,” while ignoring
their national, sovereign status. Indeed, within the indigenous nations them-
selves, primarily as a consequence of the colonial process, there is less than
unanimity about the character of indigenous self-determination and the
manner in which it should be exercised. However, as the term implies, each
indigenous nation within the U.S. should have the right to exercise its political
will, and determine its own future, according to its own needs, traditions, and
aspirations. Far from dictating how self-determination should be exercised in
the U.S. among indigenous peoples, this article will simply outline the
historical legal, political and economic developments which have impaired
the full exercise of political, economic and cultural freedom by indigenous
nations. It will also discuss recent developmentsin theinternational arena and
within the international indigenous movement, and how these developments
may be utilized by indigenous peoples to advance their status in the interna-
tional community.

Colonial History and Indigenous Nationhood

From the time of the initial contact of Europeans with the indigenous nations
of the Western Hemisphere, European states recognized the national charac-
ter of indigenous society.! Subsequently, numerous debates ensued which
raised the issue of the degree to which indigenous national sovereignty was
to be respected by the European colonial powers.? Despite the prevailing
political, economic, and military view in colonial Europe which sought to
ignore the national rights of the indigenous peoples of the Western Hemi-
sphere, the noted legal scholars of the day recognized the legal and moral
prohibitions against the dispossession of the indigenous peoples of the
Americas of their lands without their knowledgeable and informed consent.

Among the most notable legal theorists of the time, Franciscus de Vitoria
held that “the aborigines were true owners, before the Spaniards came among
them, both from the public and private point of view.”* Although others
advanced the theory that indigenous peoples were “outside the law of




nations” due to their “barbarism,” or because they were non-christians, the
prevailing legal view was that indigenous peoples were not to be divested of
their territories by force or coercion. If the contrary should happen, “it shall be
null and of no effect.”*In spite of the writings and opinions of legal scholars
such as Vitoria, las Casas, and Vattel, which fully recognized the rights of the
indigenous nations to control their territories, contemporary writers and
politicians have subverted two ancient doctrines to justify the colonial occu-
pation of the Americas: the doctrines of discovery and conquest.

The common modern assumption is that through the operations of the
doctrine of discovery, European states obtained title to, and sovereignty over,
indigenous peoples’ lands through the mere act of “discovering” them. Not
only is such a conclusion legally ridiculous, it completely misinterprets the
doctrine. Under discovery doctrine, the only right which was gained or lost
was that of the European powers to negotiate with the indigenous peoples of
the Americas. Once one European power had “discovered” other peoples,
competing European states were precluded from carrying on relations with
the same indigenous peoples. No title transferred without the consent of the
indigenous peoples involved.s

Similarly, during the colonial period, the legal transfer of territory under the
doctrine of conquest was drawn very narrowly. The legal scholar Emmerich
de Vattel concluded that conquest could transfer title only after the execution
of a “just war.”*He noted that a just war could only ensue in necessity of self-
defense. If a state pursued a just war in the absence of an injury, or not in self-
defense, then an unjust war was undertaken. Accordingly, the overwhelming
majority of the wars waged in the Western Hemisphere against indigenous
peoples were unjust, and the burden of proof rested with the invading states
to prove the contrary. Consequently, the fiction that title to the Americas was
transferred under this doctrine is constructed on an extremely weak founda-
tion.

Even if, arguendo, indigenous title was transferred through the waging of a
“just war,” the indigenous lands which were not expressly ceded by treaty
provision were retained by the indigenous peoples, and the retained lands
continued to be held with their full national character intact.”Consequently,
if the transfer of territory from indigenous nations to the invading colonial /
settler states of Europe could not be justified legally, absent a voluntary
cession by the indigenous peoples, then what was the justification for the
dispossession? The very simple response is that the territory was taken
through the operation of a system of colonialism which created legal fictions
to justify its actions or, just as frequently, ignored the application of laws as
they existed ~ a process which continues today.

In the case of the United States, very sophisticated legal and political




techniques were employed to divest indigenous peoples of their territories.
The assumption has been that with the passage of time the claims of indige-
nous peoples would be forestalled, and the policies of the settler governments
would become invulnerable to attack. Indigenous peoples, however, have not
been acquiescent in such a conclusion. The international movement for
indigenous self-determination is concerned precisely with overturning the
racist and colonialist legal fictions which have justified the destruction of
indigenous peoples around the world. The following section will describe
some of the methods used by the U.S. to colonize indigenous peoples as a
precursor to the description of some current methods of reverse U.S., and
similar, policies.

The Treaty Relationship and Legal/Political Colonization

Although the first treaty between an indigenous nation and the United
States was signed in 1778, colonial governments had been treating with
indigenous peoples for nearly 150 years prior to that.'The treaty relationship,
then as now, was constructed upon three main tenets:

¢ That both parties to the treaty are sovereign powers;

» That the Indian [nation] has a transferable title of some sort
to the land in question; and

* That the acquisition of Indian lands could notbe safely left to
individual colonists, but must be controlled by government
monopoly.”*

Using this foundation, the United States approached hundreds of indigenous
nations and entered into binding international agreements with them. The
perception, of these agreements and the status of indigenous nations, held by
the United States at the time that they were signed is irrefutable. The position
of the U.S. on this issue is found clearly in the opinions of the U.S. Supreme
Court, and the opinions of the Attorneys General of the United States.

In 1832, Chief Justice John Marshall outlined the U.S. perception of indige-
nous nations and the status of treaties between the U.S. and indigenous

peoples:

The very term “nation” so generally applied to lindigenous) nations
means “people distinct from others.” The words “treaty” and
“nation” are words of our own language, selected in our diplomatic



and legislative proceedings, by ourselves, having each a definite
and well understood meaning. We have applied them to Indians as
wehaveapplied them to other nations of the earth. They are applied
to all in the same sense."

Similarly, U.S. Attorney General Wirt wrote:

Solongasatribeexists and remains in possession ofits lands, its title
and possession are sovereign and exclusive. We treat with them as
separate sovereignties, and...we have no more right to enter upon
their territory than we have to enter upon the territory of a foreign
prince.?

Seven years later, Wirt extended his remarks:

The point, then once conceded that the Indians are independent to
the purpose of treating, their independence is to that purpose, as
absolute as any other nation. Being competent to bind themselves
by treaty, they are equally competent to bind the party who treats
with them. Such party cannot take the benefit of the treaty with the
Indians, and then deny them the reciprocal benefits of the treaty on
the groundsthat they are not independent nations forall intents and
purposes...Nor can it be conceded that their independence as a
nation is a limited independence. Like all other independent nations,
they are governed by their own laws. Like all other independent
nations, they have the absolute power of war and peace. Like all other
independent nations, their territories are inviolable by any other
sovereignty...As a nation, they are still free and independent
[emphasis added].”?

The preceding opinions notwithstanding, the United States has consistently
taken the benefit of Indian treaties while simultaneously denying the recipro-
cal benefits of indigenous nations. Between 1778 and 1871, the United States
signed over 370 treaties with indigenous nations, in time violating the
essential provisions of every one. From the indigenous perspective, treaties
represented the pledge of the entire indigenous nation to uphold the provi-
sions as they were mutually understood. To retreat from the pledge would be
unconscionable. Conversely, the U.S. developed a policy which would allow
it to alter treaty provisions unilaterally by passing subsequent legislation
which would supersede specific treaty provisions.“The result of this doctrine
was the evisceration of explicit and implicit treaty provisions without the
consent or agreement of the indigenous nations involved.

Among the more prominent examples of this practice were the Indian



Representatives of the Lakota Nation and the U.S. Government negotiating
what is probably the most famous international agreement between these
two parties, the 1868 Ft. Laramie Treaty. The U.S. violated the treaty within
five years.

Removal Act, *the Major Crimes Act,“the General AllotmentAct,"” the Indian
Citizenship Act,* the Indian Reorganization Act,” and Public Law 280.*In
each of these examples, the U.S. unilaterally imposed its will over the
sovereign will of a treaty co-equal. In the case of the Indian Removal Act,
Congress authorized the arbitrary removal of indigenous nations by the
President. The affect of this law was the violation of dozens of treaties, one of
the most prominent being the Treaty of Hopewell * between the U.S. and the
Cherokee Nation. Despite the U.S. pledge in the treaty to respect Cherokee
sovereignty and territorial integrity, the Indian Removal Act allowed the
seizure of Cherokee lands and the forced removal of the Cherokee Nation —
leading directly to the death of twenty-five percent of the Cherokee popula-
tion.2

The Major Crimes Act was used by the United States to justify the unilateral
usurpation of indigenous judicial authority in indigenous territories. This
legislation was in direct contravention to expressed treaty provisions which
recognized the criminal and civil jurisdiction of indigenous nations over their
own citizens, and over foreign nationals within indigenous territory.» With
the enactment of this legislation, the criminal jurisdiction of indigenous



governments was dramatically reduced. Since the passage of thislaw, the U.S.
judiciary has further reduced the criminal jurisdiction of indigenous courts.
Although indigenous nations continue to possess and exercise a functional
level of civil jurisdiction, recent judicial and political actions threaten even
that limited judicial power.»

One of the most destructive pieces of U.S. legislation imposed on indigenous
peoples was the General Allotment Act of 1887, also known as the Dawes
Severalty Actor simply the “Dawes Act.” The purpose of the act was reflected
in the Minority Report of the House Committee on Indian Affairs:

The real aim of this bill is to get at Indian lands and open them up
to settlement. The Provisions for the apparent benefit of the Indians
are but a pretext to get at his lands and occupy them. With that
accomplished, we have recently paved the way for the extermina-
tion of the Indian races upon this part of the continent. If this were
done in the name of Greed, it would be bad enough; but to do it in
the name of Humanity, and under the cloak of the ardent desire to
promote the Indian’s welfare by making him like ourselves,
whether he will or not, is infinitely worse. Of all the attempts to
encroach upon the Indian, this attempt to manufacture him into a
white man by act of Congress and the grace of the Secretary of
Interior is the baldest, the boldest, and the most unjustifiable.?¢

The consequence of the act, which required that communally-held indige-
nous national lands be divided into individually, privately-held plots, was
disastrous forindigenous government, culture, and economics. Under the act,
the national lands of 118 indigenous peoples were divided, and 38 million
acres of land were taken by the U.S. outright. Another 22 million acres of land
were declared surplus by the U.S. Government and opened for settlement.
Another 30 million acres were lost due to alienation because of non-payment
of taxes to non-indigenous governments and to alleviate debts created
through the destruction of indigenous economies. In total, over 90 million
acres of indigenous national territory were lost under the implementation of
the Act.”

Another characteristic of the Dawes Act was that, as each individual Indian
was allotted his or her parcel of land, s/he was simultaneously and unilater-
ally bestowed with U.S. citizenship, whether or not the individuals effected
wished to become citizens or not; approximately two-thirds of all Indians
within the United States were made citizens in this fashion between 1887 and
1924.1In the latter year, the Indian Citizenship Act was passed, conveying U.S.
citizenship upon the remaining one-third of the Indian population en mass.
Although the legislation involved stipulates each newly-made Indian citizen



would retain his/her “tribal membership” upon being formally incorporated
into the U.S. polity — a matter which rendered them into what amounts to
“dual citizens” — the implications of this “naturalization” drive are rather
clear. With U.S. citizenship came associated individual obligations and re-
sponsibilities, “legitimate” federal demands for loyalty and allegiance, and -
perhaps most important — another layer of rationalization as to why the
government could not deal with indigenous peoples in terms of their
sovereignty.? The viability of indigenous nations was severely undercut
throughimpositionof U.S. citizenship upon their members, the affiliationand
identification on the members themselves deliberately conflicted and con-
fused (see Jaimes essay in this volume for a more detailed examination of this
issue).

After nearly fifty years of pursuing the assimilationist policy of allotment,
the U.S. replaced the General Allotment Act with the Indian Reorganization
Act of 1934 (IRA). Admitting that allotment policy was a moral mistake and
a failure in inducing indigenous peoples to assimilate into white culture, U.S.
indigenous policy was dramatically altered. In contrast to the allotment
period which promoted the destruction of indigenous culture and society, the
IRA period was marked by a decision to allow limited self-determination for
indigenous nations, but clearly within the parameters defined by the United
States. In theory, the IRA was to allow political autonomy for indigenous gov-
ernments, butin reality most indigenous peoples were coerced onto abandon-
ing their traditional forms of government, and replacing them with clones of
the U.S. system.”? Although the IRA reforms were more desirable than the
policy which preceded them, the IRA began an era in which the U.S. defined
political and economic self-determination to suit its own desires rather than
those of indigenous peoples.

The reform movement, represented by the IRA, was replaced in the 1950s
with legislation designed to “terminate” indigenous nations, and assimilate
them completely into the dominant, settler society. Public Law 280 involved
a series of complex measures which transferred jurisdiction over indigenous
peoples to the individual states of the United States. Simultaneously, legisla-
tion was adopted which abrogated treaties with indigenous nations, liqui-
dated their national territories, and destroyed their national governments.
Between 1954 and 1962, the U.S. had “terminated” over one hundred in-
digenous nations through the operation of this statute.® Eventually, some
provisions of the law were repealed, but much of it remains intact today.

By the mid-1960s the U.S. began to re-evaluate its policy involving the
destruction of indigenous government and culture. A policy which was
subject to accusations of genocide and ethnocide was no longer consistent
with the image of a human rights defender which the U.S. sought to project.




Children of the Mohawk Nation engaging in political action intended to
assist in the struggle of their people to maintain sovereignty and exercise
self-determination in the contemporary era. (Photo: Akwesasne Notes)

With the birth of the modern movement for civil rights in the U.S., and the
resurgence of indigenous demands for sovereignty and self-determination,
advanced by such groups as the American Indian Movement (AIM) and the
National Indian Youth Council (NIYC), the U.S. was forced to alter its
indigenous policy. In an apparent attempt to pre-empt allegations of internal
colonialism by international observers, the U.S. began toadopt the vocabulary
of the international decolonization movement, albeit devoid of any of the
substance. This is particularly true in the use of the term “self-determina-
tion.”%

In 1970, President Richard Nixon made several recommendations regarding
U.S. indigenous policy. Although he specifically repudiated the policy of
termination, Nixon defined the U.S. conceptof indigenous self-determination
very narrowly. Under the Nixon doctrine, self-determination actually meant
self-administration of federal programs within indigenous territory. It did not
address the basic colonial administration of indigenous affairs by the United
States which had developed, and it did not acknowledge any authority in
indigenous nations to determine for themselves their political status.2Other
than in its use of terms such as self-determination, U.S. policy continued to
reflect a neocolonial denial of political and economic independence for in-
digenous peoples. This denial was the root cause of fishing rights confronta-



tions in the Pacific Northwest in the 1960s — most notably on the Trail of
Broken Treaties in 1972, and the seventy-one day siege of the village of
Wounded Knee in 1973.®

Despite the demands for self-determination and respect for indigenous
sovereignty, the U.S. continued to pass and enforce legislation which sought
to use the language of decolonization while continuing to exercise ultimate
control over indigenous nations. In 1975, the U.S. passed the Indian Self-
Determination and Education Assistance Act.*The language of the Act belies
its title, with the Congressional intent being “the maintenance of the Federal
government’s continuing relationship with and responsibility to the Indian
people...” As history has indicated “the Federal government’s continuing re-
lationship” has been one of deceit, fraud, and domination of indigenous af-
fairs without the consent or will of indigenous peoples themselves. As a
response to the repeated efforts of the U.S. to subjugate indigenous nations,
and to present the fiction that indigenous nations within the U.S. were simply
domestic groups within the municipal jurisdiction of the U.S. Congress and
Supreme Court, indigenous peoples began to advance their demands beyond
the borders of the United States.

Contemporary Strategies of Indigenous Peoples Within the U.S.

Contemporary indigenous resistance has based itself on several essential
principles, the most important among them was that indigenous peoples are
members of sovereign nations with binding treaties which the United States
is obligated to respect. As an extension of this position, indigenous resistance
organizations, such as the American Indian Movement, asserted that indige-
nous nations, as colonized peoples within the U.S., possess a right to self-
determination as defined, not by the U.S., but by international instruments on
decolonization.

The entrance of AIM into the international arena was not the first attempt by
indigenous peoples to bring the U.S. to account in the international commu-
nity, however. In the 1920s, the noted Mohawk leader Deskaheh approached
the League of Nations with Iroquois claims against the U.S., and with
assertions of Iroquois sovereignty and self-determination.**As states are wont
to do with issues of indigenous claims, the U.S., Canada, and most of the
League ignored the claims. Fifty years later the League of Nations was gone,
replaced by the United Nations, but the Iroquois, and other indigenous claims
persisted. In 1974, AIM developed a strategy to extend the movement for
indigenous self-determination beyond the limited remedies available in the
domesticlegal and political fora of the United States. In 1977, the International
Indian Treaty Council (the international diplomatic arm of AIM) was recog-



nized as the first indigenous non-governmental organization at the United
Nations.

Since then, the international movement for indigenous peoples’ rights has
grown dramatically.*Indigenous peoples in the United States have utilized
several international forums including the U.N. Commission on Human
Rights, the International Labor Organization, and the U.N. Working Group
on Indigenous Populations. Although no binding international covenants or
conventions regarding indigenous peoples have been passed since 1957,
recent developments leave room for optimism in this area. Of particular
interest to indigenous peoples in the U.S. is the recent resolution of the U.N.
Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minori-
ties on the matter of contemporary interpretation of treaties between settler
states and indigenous peoples.” Traditionally, states have viewed treaties
made with indigenous peoples as niceties which carried little or no force of
law beyond that which the settler state chose to bestow on them. With the
passage of this resolution, an important body of the United Nations has
decided to review the treaties to ascertain their international significance, and
the degree to which they are binding on the states which signed them.

Although the treaty issue is of major importance to indigenous nations
within the U.S,, it is also of importance to other indigenous peoples, such as
the Maoris of Aotearoa (New Zealand), and Cuna of Panama, and various
indigenous nations in Canada. Because the review will be conducted by state
members of the U.N., there is limited optimism among indigenous peoples
that states will see the justice in enforcing the treaties which indigenous
peoples continue to view as sacred national pacts.

Prospects for the Future

As with indigenous peoples around the world, indigenous peoples in the
U.S.are participating to a greater and greater degreein international legal and
political fora, particularly the U.N. Working Group on Indigenous Popula-
tions (WGIP).®»Through this participation, the continuing abuses against the
indigenous nations within the United States are brought into international
focus. Of particular importance in this work is the development of an
international declaration which outlines the rights of indigenous peoples
under international law. As has already been mentioned, the limited relief
available to indigenous peoples in the domestic courts of states forces indige-
nous peoples, including those in the U.S,, to seek remedies elsewhere.

While the WGIP has proven to be an effective vehicle for the expression of
indigenous frustration with the statist orientation of international law and
politics, recent recommendations reflect the differences between indigenous
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aspirations and state intransigence. Nowhere is the divergence clearer than
with the draft declarations themselves. In its recommendations to date, the
WGIP has suggested very broad expressions of rights for indigenous peoples.
For example, “the right to be free and equal to all other human beings,” and
“to be free from discrimination.”*They also would protect religious freedom,
cultural identity, and the right to education. They do not mention such
subjects as treaty rights or the right to be free from colonial domination by
invader or settler states.

Conversely, the draft declaration of the indigenous delegates to the WGIP,
including those from the U.S., expressly recognizes the right of indigenous
peoples and nations to exercise self-determination, to control their traditional
territories, and to have their treaties recognized as binding instruments of
international law.#Future sessions of the WGIP will be forced to address these
very fundamental and difficult issues, and the indigenous peoples from the
United States will be present to assert their position that international law and
politics must finally be broadened to include them and their other indigenous
brethren. Whether or not they are successful is one of the more critical issues
presently facing the indigenous nations of the Fourth World.
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Federal Indian Identification Policy:
A Usurpation of Indigenous Sovereignty
in North America

by M. Annette Jaimes

As is amply demonstrated in Glenn Morris’ essay included in this volume,
American Indian peoples whose territory lies within the borders of the United
States hold compelling legal and moral rights to be treated as fully sovereign
nations. It is axiomatic that any such national entity is inherently entitled to
exercise the prerogative of determining for itself the criteria by which its
citizenry, or “membership,” is to be recognized by other sovereign nations.
This is a principle which applies equally to super-powers such as the U.S.S.R.
and to non-powers suchas Grenada and Monaco. Infact, itis a tenet so widely
understood and imbedded in international law, custom, and convention, that
it bears no particular elaboration here.

Contrary to virtually universal practice, the U.S. has opted to unilaterally
preempt the rights of many North American indigenous nations to engage in
this most fundamental level of internal decision-making. Instead, in pursuit
of the interests of their own state rather than those of the nations which are
thereby affected, federal policy-makers have increasingly imposed “Indian
identification standards” of their own devise. Typically centering upon a
notionof “blood quantum” —notespecially different inits conception fromthe
eugenics code once adopted by nazi Germany in its effort to achieve “racial
purity,” or currently utilized by South Africa to segregate blacks and “col-
oreds” — this aspect of U.S. policy has increasingly wrought havoc with the
American Indian sense of nationhood (and often the individual sense of self)
over the past century.

The present paper will offer a brief analysis of the motivations underlying
this federal usurpation of the American Indian expression of sovereignty, and
point out certain implications of it.

Federal Obligations:

The 371 formally ratified treaties entered into by the U.S. with various
Indian nations represent the basic real estate documents by which the federal
government now claims legal title to most of its landbase. In exchange for the
lands ceded by the Indians in perpetuity, the U.S. committed itself to the
permanent provision of a range of services to Indian populations (i.e.. the
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citizensof the Indian nations with which the treaty agreements were reached),
which would assist themin adjusting their economies and ways-of-life to their
newly constricted territories. For example, in the 1794 Treaty with the Oneida
(also affecting the Tuscarora and Stockbridge Indians), the U.S. guaranteed
provision of instruction “in the arts of the miller and sawyer,” as well as
regular annuities paid in goods and cash, in exchange for a portion of what is
now the State of New York.! Similarly, the 1804 Treaty with the Delaware
extended assurances of technical instruction in agriculture and the mechani-
cal arts, as well as annuities.2 As E.C. Adams frames it:

Treaties with the Indians varied widely, stipulating cash annuities
to be paid over a specified period of time or perpetually; ration and
clothing, farming implements and domestic animals, and instruc-
tion in agriculture along with other educational opportun-
ities..[And eventually] the school supplemented the Federal pro-
gram of practical teaching. *

The reciprocal nature of such agreements received considerable reinforce-
ment when it was determined, early in the 19th century, that “the enlighten-
ment and civilization of the Indian” might yield - quite aside from any need
on the part of the U.S. to honor its international obligations — a certain utility
in terms of subordinating North America’s indigenous peoples to Euroameri-
can domination. Secretary of War John C. Calhoun articulated this quite
clearly in 1818:

By a proper combination of force and persuasion, of punishment
and rewards, they [the Indians] ought to be brought within the pales
of law and civilization. Left to themselves, they will never reach that
desirable condition. Before the slow operation of reason and expe-
rience can convince them of its superior advantages, they must be
overwhelmed by the mighty torrent of our population. Such small
bodies, with savage customs and character, cannot, and ought not,
to be allowed to exist in an independent society. Our laws and
manners ought to supercede their present savage manners and
customs...their [treaty] annuities would constitute an ample school
fund; and education, comprehending as well as the common arts of
life, reading, writing, and arithmetic, ought not to be left dis-
cretionary with the parents...When sufficiently advanced in civili-
zation, they would be permitted to participate in such civil and
political rights as the respective States. ¢

The utter cynicism involved in Calhoun’s position — that of intentionally
using the treaty instruments by which the U.S. conveyed recognition of Indian
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A group of Navajo children forcibly removed from their homes and families
in New Mexico upon their arrival at the Carlisle Indian School in
Pennsylvania, circa 1885. (Photo by J.N. Choate; Smithsonian Institution)

sovereignty as the vehicle upon which to destroy that same sovereignty —
speaks for itself. The more important point (for purposes of this study),
however, is that a confluence of U.S. strategic interests had congealed around
the notion of extending federal obligations to Indians by 1820. The tactic was
therefore continued throughout the entirety of the period of U.S. internal
territorial conquest and consolidation.*By 1900, the federal obligations to In-
dian nations were therefore quite extensive.

Financial Factors:

As Vine Deloria, Jr., has observed:

The original relationship between the United States government
and the American Indian tribes was one of treaties. Beginning with
the establishment of the federal policy toward Indians in the North-
west Ordinance of 1787, which pledged that the utmost good faith
would be exercised toward the Indian tribes, and continuing
through many treaties and statutes, the relationship has gradually
evolved into a strange and stifling union in which the United States

17



The impact of federal Indian identification policy: the same group of Navajo
children after some six months socio-cultural homogenization at the Carlisle
School. (Photo by N.]. Choate: Smithsonian Institution)

has become responsible for all of the programs and policies affect-
ing Indian communities.®

What this meant in practice was that the government was being required to
underwrite the cost of a proliferating bureaucratic apparatus overseeing
“service delivery” to Indians, a process initiated on April 16, 1818, with the
passage of an act (U.S. Statutes at Large, 13:461) requiring the placement of a
federal agent with each Indian nation, to serve as liaison and to “administer
the discharge of Governmental obligations thereto.” As the number of Indian
groups with which the U.S. held relations had increased, so too had the
number of “civilizing” programs and services undertaken, ostensibly in their
behalf. This was all well and good during the time-span when it was seen as
a politico-military requirement, but by the turn of the century this need had
passed. The situation was compounded by the fact that the era of Indian
population decline engendered by war and disease had also come to an end;
the population eligible for per capita benefits, which had been reduced to a
quarter-million by the 1890s, could be expected to rebound steadily in the 20th
century. With its land-base secured, the U.S.was casting about for a satisfactory
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mechanism to avoid paying the ongoing costs associated with its acquisition.

The most obvious route to this end, of course, lay in simply and overtly
refusing to comply with the terms of the treaties, thus abrogating them.” The
problems in this regard were, however, both two-fold and extreme. First, the
deliberate invalidation of the U.S. treaties with the Indians would (obviously)
tend to simultaneously invalidate the legitimacy which the country attributed
to its occupancy of much of North America. Second, such a move would
immediately negate the useful and carefully nurtured image the U.S. had
cultivated of itself as a country of progressive laws rather than raw force. The
federal government had to appear to continue to meet its commitments, while
at the same time avoiding them, or atleast containing themat some acceptable
level. A devious approach to the issue was needed.

This was found in the so-called “blood quantum” or “degree of Indian
blood” standard of American Indian identification which had been adopted
by Congress in 1887, as part of the General Allotment Act (25 U.S.C.A. 331,
popularly known as the “Dawes Act,” after its sponsor, Massachusetts
Senator Henry Dawes). The function of this piece of legislation was to
expedite the process of Indian civilization by unilaterally dissolving their
collectively (i.e.: nationally) held reservation land holdings. Reservation lands
were reallocated in accordance with the “superior” (i.e.: Euroamerican)
concept of property: individually deeded land parcels, usually of 160 acres
each. Each Indian, identified as being those documentably of one-half or more
Indian blood, was entitled to receive title in fee of such a parcel; all others were
simply disenfranchised altogether. Reserved Indian land which remained
unallotted after all “blooded” Indian had received their individual parcels
was to be declared “surplus,” and opened up for non-Indian use and occu-
pancy.

Needless to say, there were nowhere near enough Indians meeting the act’s
genetic requirements to absorb by individual parcel the quantity of acreage
involved in the formerly reserved land areas. Consequently, between 1887
and 1934, the aggregate Indian landbase within th U.S. was “legally” reduced
from about 138 million acres to about 48 million.® Moreover, the allotment
process itself had been manipulated in such a way that the worst reservation
acreage tended to be parceled out to Indians, while the best was opened to
non-Indian homesteading and corporate use; nearly 20 million of the acres
remaining in Indian hands by the latter year was arid or semi-arid, and thus
marginal or useless for agricultural purposes.?

By the early 1900s, then, the eugenics mechanism of blood quantum had
already proven itself such a boon in the federal management of its Indian
affairs that it was generally adapted as the “eligibility factor” triggering
entitlement to any federal service from the issuance of commodity rations to
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The diminishment of Indian lands within the United States since the early
19th century has been coupled directly to federal policies such as those
concerning Indian identity. These maps are derived from Charles C. Royce,
Indian Land Cessions in the United States, U.S. Bureau of Ethnography, 1890.

health care, annuity payment and educational benefits. If the federal govern-
ment could not repeal its obligations to Indians, it could at least act to limit
their number, thereby diminishing the costs associated with underwriting
their entitlements on a per capita basis. Concomitantly, it must have seemed
logical that if the overall number of Indians could be kept small, the adminis-
trative expenses involved in their service program might also be held to a
minimum. Much of the original impetus towards the federal preemption of
the sovereign Indian prerogative of defining “who’s Indian,” and the stan-
dardization of the racist degree-of-blood method of Indian identification,
derived from the budgetary considerations of a federal government anxious
to avoid paying its bills.

Other Economic Factors:

As the example of the General Allotment Act, used above, clearly demon-
strates, other economic determinants than the mere outflow of cash from the
federal treasury figureinto the federal utilization of blood quantum. The huge
windfall of land expropriated by the U.S. as a result of the act was only the tip
of the iceberg. For instance, in constricting the acknowledged size of Indian
populations, the government could technically meet its obligations to reserve
“first rights” to water usage for Indians while simultaneous siphoning off
artificial “surpluses” to non-Indian agricultural, ranching, municipal and
industrial use in the arid west.**The same principle pertains to the assignment

20



of fishing quotas in the Pacific Northwest, a matter directly related to the de-
velopment of a lucrative non-Indian fishing industry there.*

By the 1920s, it was also becoming increasingly apparent that much of the
agriculturally worthless terrain left to Indians after allotment lay astride rich
deposits of natural resources such as coal, copper, oil and natural gas; later in
the century, it was revealed that some 60% of all “domestic” uranium reserves
also lay beneath reservation lands. It was therefore becoming imperative,
from the viewpoint of federal and corporate economic planners, to gain
unhindered access to these assets. Given that it would have been just as
problematic to simply seize the resources as it would have been to abrogate
the treaties, another expedient was required. This assumed the formof legisla-
tion unilaterally extending the responsibilities of citizenship (though not all
the rights; Indians are still regulated by about 5,000 more laws than other
citizens) over all American Indians within the U.S.

Approximately two-thirds of the Indian population had citizenship
conferred upon them under the 1877 Allotment Act, as a condition
of the allotment of their holdings...[In 1924] an act of Congress (8
U.S.C.A. 1401 (a)(2)] declared all Indians to be citizens of the U.S.
and of the states in which they resided...2

The Indian Citizenship Act greatly confused the identification and loyalties
even of many of the blooded and federally certified Indians insofar as it was
held to hold legal force, and to carry legal obligations,whether or not any given
Indian or group of Indians wished to be a U.S. citizen. As for the host of non-
certified, mixed-blood people residing in the U.S,, their status was finally
“clarified”; they had been definitionally absorbed into the American main-
stream at the stroke of the Congressional pen. And, despite the fact that the act
technically left certified Indians occupying the status of citizenship in their
own indigenous nation as well as in the U.S. - a “dual form” of citizenship, so
awkward as to be sublime - the juridical door had been opened by which the
weight of Indian obligation would begin to accrue more to the U.S. than to
themselves. Resource negotiations would henceforth be conducted between
“American citizens” rather than between representatives of separate nations,
a context in which federal and corporate arguments “to the greater good”
could be predicted to prevail.

In 1934, the effects of the citizenship act were augmented by the passage of
the Indian Reorganization Act (25 U.S.C.A.§461; also knownas the “Wheeler-
Howard Act,” after its Senate and House sponsors). The expressed purpose
of this law was to finally and completely usurp the traditional mechanisms of
American Indian governance (e.g.: the traditional chiefs, council of elders,
etc.), replacing them with a system of federally approved and regulated
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“tribal councils.” These councils, in turn, were consciously structured more
along the lines of corporate boards than of governmental entities. As Section
17 of the IRA, which spells out the council functions, puts the matter:

[AnIRA charter] may convey to the incorporated tribe the power to
purchase, take by gift, orbequest, or otherwise, own, hold, manage,
operate, and dispose of property of every description, real and
personal, including the power to purchase restricted Indian lands
and to issue in exchange for corporate property, and such further
powers as may be incidental to the conduct of corporate business,
not inconsistent with the law.

Indeed, since the exercise of such typical governmental attributes as juris-
diction over criminal law had already been stripped away from the council by
legislation such as the 1885 Major Crimes Act (18 U.S.C.A. §1153), there has
been very little for the IRA form of Indian government to do but sign off on
leasing and other business arrangements with external interests. The situation
was/is compounded by the fact that grassroots Indian resistance to the act’s
“acceptance” onmany reservations was overcome by federal manipulation of
local referenda.”* This has left the IRA governments in the position of owing
Washington rather than their supposed constituents for whatever legitimacy
they may possess. All in all, it was and is a situation made to order for the
rubber-stamping of plans integral to U.S. economic development, at the direct
expense of Indian nations and individual Indian people.

This is readily born out by the fact that, as of 1984, American Indians
received, on the average, less than 20% of the market royalty rates (i.e.: the
rates paid to non-Indians) for the extraction of minerals from their land. As
Winona LaDuke observes:

By official census counts, there are only about 1 1/2 million Indians
in the United States. By conservative estimates a quarter of all the
low sulphur coal in the U.S. lies under our reservation land. About
15% of all the oil and natural gas lies there, as well as two-thirds of
the uranium. 100% of all U.S. uranium production since 1955 has
been on Indian land. And we have a lot of copper, timber, water
rights and other resources, too. By any reasonable estimation, with
this small number of people and vast amount of resources, we
should be the richest group in the United States. But we are the
poorest. Indians have the lowest per capita income of any popula-
tion group in the U.S. We have the highest rate of unemployment
and lowest level of educational attainment. We have the highest
rates of malnutrition, plague disease, death by exposure and infant
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mortality. On the other hand, we have the shortest life-span. Now,
I think this says it all. Indian wealth is going somewhere, and that
somewhere s definitely not to Indians. I don’t know your definition
of colonialism, but this certainly fits into mine.!

In sum, the financial advantages incurred by the U.S. in its appropriation of
the definition of Indian identity have been neatly joined to even more
powerful economic motivators during this century. The previously noted
reluctance of the federal government to payits bills cannot be uncoupled from
its desire to profit from the resources of others.

Contemporary Political Factors:

The utilization of treaties as instruments by which to begin the subordina-
tion of American Indian nations to U.S. hegemony, as well as subsequent
legislation such as the Major Crime Act, the General Allotment Act, the Indian
Citizenship Act, the Indian Reorganization Act, and the Termination Act all
carry remarkably clear political overtones. This, to be sure, is the language of
the colonizer and the colonized, to borrow a phrase from Albert Memmi,*and
in each case the federal manipulation of the question of American Indian
identity has played its role. These examples, however, may rightly be per-
ceived as being both historical and as parts of the “grand scheme” of U.S.
internal colonialism (or “Manifest Destiny,” as it was once called).

Today, the function of the Indian identity question appears to reside at the
less rarified level of maintaining the status quo. In the first instance, it goes to
the matter of keeping the aggregate Indian population at less than 1% of the
overall U.S. population, and thus devoid of any potential electoral power. In
the second instance, and perhaps of equal importance, it goes to the classic
“divide and conquer” strategy of keeping Indians at odds with one another,
even within their own communities. As Tim Giago, conservative editor of the
Lakota Times, asks:

Don’t we have enough problems trying to unite
without...additional headaches? Why must people be categorized
as full-bloods, mixed bloods, etc.? Many years ago, the Bureau of
Indian Affairs decided to establish blood quanta for the purpose of
[tribal] enrollment. At that time, blood quantum was set at one-
fourth degree for enrollment. Unfortunately, through the years, this
caused many people on the reservation to be categorized and
labeled....[The] situation [is] created solely by the BIA, with the able
assistance of the Department of Interior.s
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What has occurred is that the limitation of federal resources allocated to
meeting U.S. obligations to American Indians has become so severe that
Indians themselves have increasingly begun to enforce the race codes exclud-
ing the genetically marginalized from both identification as Indian citizens
and consequent entitlements. In theory, such a posture leaves greater per
capita shares for all remaining “bona fide” Indians. But, as American Indian
Movement activist Russell Means has pointed out:

The situation is absurd. Our treaties say nothing about your having
to be such-and-such a degree of blood in order to be covered. No,
when the federal government made its guarantees to our nations in
exchange for our land, it committed to provide certain to services to
us as we defined ourselves. As nations, and as people. This seems to
have been forgotten. Now we have Indian people who spend most
of their time trying to prevent other Indian people from being
recognized as such, just so that a few more crumbs - crumbs from
the federal table - may be available to them, personally. [don’t have
to tell you that this isn’t the Indian way of doing things. The Indian
way would be to get together and demand what is coming to each
and every one of us, instead of trying to cancel each other out. We
are acting like colonized peoples, like subject peoples...."

The nature of the dispute has followed the classic formulation of Frantz
Fanon, wherein the colonizer contrivesissues which pit the colonized against
one another, fighting viciously for some presumed status within the colonial
structure, never having time or audacity enough to confront their
oppressors.* In the words of Stella Pretty Sounding Flute, a member of th
Crow Creek bank of Lakota, “My grandmother used to say that Indian blood
was getting all mixed up, and some day there would be a terrible
mess....[Now] no matter which way we turn, the white man has taken over.”*

The problem, of course, has been conscientiously exacerbated by the gov-
ernment, through its policies of leasing individual reservation land parcels to
non-Indians, increasingly “checkerboarding” tribal holding since 1900.
Immediate economic consequences aside, this has virtually insured that a
sufficient number of non-Indians would be resident to reservations that
intermarriage would steadily result. During the 1950s, the federal relocation
program — in which reservation-based Indians were subsidized to move to
cities, where they might be anticipated as being subsumed within vastly
larger non-Indian populations — accelerated the process of “biological hy-
bridization.” Taken in combination with the ongoing federal insistence that
“Indian-ness” could be measured only by degree of blood, these policies tend
to speak for themselves.
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Even in 1972, when, through the Indian Education Act (86 Stat. 334), the
government seemed finally to be abandoning blood quantum, there was a
hidden agenda. As Lorelei DeCora (Means), a former Indian education
program coordinator, puts it:

The question was really one of control, whether Indians would ever
beallowed to control theidentification of their own group members
or citizens. First there was this strict blood quantum thing, and it
was enforced fora hundred years, over the strong objections of a lot
of Indians. Then, when things were sufficiently screwed up because
of that, the feds suddenly reversed themselves completely, saying
its all a matter of self-identification. Almost anybody who wants to
can just walk in and announce that he or she is Indian — no
familiarity with tribal history, or Indian affairs, community recog-
nition, or anything else really required —and, under the law, there’s
not a lot that Indians can do about it. The whole thing is suddenly
just laissez faire, really out of control. At that point, you really did
havealot of people showing up claiming that one of their ancestors,
seven steps removed, had been some sort of “Cherokee princess.”
And we were obliged to acceptthat, and provide services. Hell, if all
of that was real, there are more Cherokees in the world than there
are Chinese.?

Predictably, Indians of all perspectives on the identity question reacted
strongly against such gratuitous dilution of themselves. The result was a
broad rejection of what was perceived as “the federal attempt to convert us
from being the citizens of our own sovereign nations, into benign members of
some sort of all-purpose U.S. minority group, without sovereign rights.” 2 For
its part, the government, without so much as a pause to consider the conno-
tations of the word “sovereign” in this connection, elected to view such
statements as an Indian demand for resumption of the universal application
of the blood quantum standard. Consequently, the Reagan administration
has, during the 1980s, set out to gut the Indian Education Act 2and to enforce
degree of blood requirements for federal services, such as those of the Indian
Health Service.»

At this juncture, things have become such a welter of confusion that:

The Federal government, State governments and the Census Bu-
reau all have different criteria for defining “Indians” for statistical
purposes, and even Federal criteria are not consistent among Fed-
eral agencies. For example, a State desiring financial aid to assist
Indian education receives the aid only for the number of people
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AIM Leader Russell Means
during the 1972 Trail of Bro-
ken Treaties occupation of
the Bureau of Indian Affairs
Building in Washington,
D.C. Control of Indian iden-
tity was a major issue of the
demonstration and one of the
Trail's Twenty Points. (Pho-
to: Akwesasne Notes)

with one-quarter or more Indian blood. For preference in hiring, en-
rollment records from a Federally recognized tribe are required.
Under regulations for law and order, anyone of “Indian descent” is
counted as an Indian. If the Federal criteria are inconsistent, State
guidelines are [at this point] even more chaotic. In the course of
preparing this report, the Commission contacted several States with
large Indian populations to determine their criteria. Two States ac-
cept theindividual'sowndetermination. Fouracceptindividualsas
Indian if they were “recognized in the community” as Native
Americans. Five use residence on a reservation as criteria. One
requires one-quarter blood, and still another uses the Census Bu-
reau definition that Indians are who they say they are.®

This, without doubt, is a situation made to order for conflict,among Indians

more than anyone else. Somehow, it is exceedingly difficult to imagine that
the government would wish to see things turn out any other way.
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Implications:

The eventual outcome of federal blood quantum policies can be described

as little other than genocidal in their final implications. As American Studies
scholar Patricia Nelson Limerick recently summarized the process:

Set the blood quantum at one-quarter, hold to itasa rigid definition
of Indians, let intermarriage proceed as it had for centuries, and
eventually Indians will be defined out of existence. When that

happens, the federal government will be freed of its persistent
“Indian problem” »

Already , this conclusion receives considerable validation in the experience
of the Indians of California, such as the Juanefio. Pursuant to the “Pit River
Consolidated Land Settlement” of the 1970s, in which the government pur-
ported to “compensate” many of small California bands for lands expropri-
ated during the course of non-Indian “settlement” in that state (at less than 50
cents per acre), the Juanefio and a number of other “Mission Indians” were
simply declared to be “extinct.” This policy was pursued despite the fact that
substantial numbers of such Indians were known to exist, and that the
government was at the time issuing settlement checks to them. The tribal rolls
were simply ordered closed to any new additions, despite the fact that many
of the people involved were still bearing children, and their population might
well have been expanding. It was even suggested in some instances that
childrenborn after anarbitrary cut-off date should beidentified as “Hispanic”
or “Mexican” in order that they benefit from federal and state services to
minority groups.»

When attempting to come to grips with the issues raised by such federal
policies, the recently “dissolved” California groups, as well as a number of
previously unrecognized ones such as the Gay Head Wampanoags (long
described as extinct), confronted a Catch-22 situation worthy of Joseph Heller.
This rested in the federal criteria for recognition of Indian existence in the
present day:

1. An Indian is a member of any federally-recognized Indian
Tribe. To be federally-recognized, an Indian Tribe must be
comprised of Indians.

2. To gain federal recognition, an Indian Tribe must have a land

base. To secure a land base, an Indian Tribe must be federally
recognized.?
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As a Shoshone activist, Josephine C. Mills, put it in 1964, “There is no longer
any need to shoot down Indiansin order to take away their rights and land [or
to wipe them out]...legislation is sufficient to do the trick legally.”»The notion
of genocidal implications in all this receives firm reinforcement from the
federal propensity, during the second half of this century, to utilize residual
Indian landbases as dumping grounds for many of the more virulently toxic
by-products of its advanced technology and industry.*By the early "70s, this
practice had become so pronounced that the Four Corners and Black Hills
Regions, two of the more heavily populated locales (by Indians) in the
country, had been semi-officially designated as prospective “National Sacri-
fice Areas” in the interests of projected U.S. energy development.* This, in
turn, provoked Russell Means to observe that such a move would turn the
Lakota, Navajo, Laguna and other native nations into “national sacrifice
peoples.”®

American Indian Response:

Of late, there have been encouraging signs that American Indians of many
perspectives and political persuasions have begun to arrive at common
conclusions regarding the use to which the federal government has been
putting their identity, and the compelling need for Indians to finally reassert
complete control over this vital aspect of their lives. For instance, Dr. Frank
Ryan, a liberal and rather establishmentarian Indian who has served as the
director of the federal Office of Indian Education, began, during the early
1980s, to reach some rather hard conclusions about the policies of his employ-
ers. Describing the federal blood quantum criteria for benefits eligibility in the
educational arena as “aracist policy,” Ryan wenton to termitas nothing more
than “a shorthand method for denying Indian children admission to federal
schools [and other programs].”2 He went on to conclude that, “The power to
determine tribal membership has always been an essential attribute of inher-
ent tribal sovereignty,” and called for abolition of federal guidelines on the
question of Indian identity without any lessening of federal obligations to the
individuals and group affected.® The question of the [re]Jadoption of blood
quantum standards by the Indian Health Service, proposed during the ‘80s by
the Reagan administration, has served as even more of a catalyst. The National
Congressof American Indians, neverabastion of radicalism, took up theissue
at its 43rd Annual Convention, in October of 1986.

The NCAI produced a sharply worded statement rejecting federal identifi-
cation policy:

[T)he federal government, in an effort to erode tribal sovereignty
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and reduce the number of Indians to the point where they are
politically, economically and culturally insignificant, [is being
censured by] many of the more than 500 Indian leaders [attending
the convention].*

The statement went on to condemn:

...a proposal by the Indian Health Service to establish blood quotas
for Indians, thus allowing the federal government to determine
who is Indian and who is not, for the purpose of health care. Tribal
leaders argue that only the individual tribes, not the federal govern-
ment, should have this right, and many are concerned that this
debate will overlap [as it has, long since] into Indian education and
its regulation as well [emphasis added].*

Charles E. Dawes, Second Chief of the Ottawa Indian Tribe of Oklahoma,
took the convention position much further at about the same time:

What could not be completed over a three hundred year span [by
force of arms] may now be completed in our life-span by adminis-
trative law... What I am referring to is the continued and expanded
use of blood quantum to determine eligibility of Indian people for
government entitlement programs...[in] such areas as education,
health care, management and economic assistance...[obligations]
that the United States government imposed upon itself in treaties
with sovereign Indian nations...We as tribal leader made a serious
mistake in accepting [genetic] limits in educational programs, and
we must not make the same mistake again in health programs. On
the contrary, we must fight any attempt to limit any program by
blood quantum every time there is a mention of such a
possibility...we simply cannot give up on this issue — ever...Our
commitment as tribal leaders must be to eliminate any possibility of
genocide for our people by ad ministrativelaw. We must dedicateour
efforts to insuring that our Native American people[s] will be
clearly identified without reference to blood quantum...and that
our sovereign Indian Nations will be recognized as promised
[emphasis added] .

On the Pine Ridge Reservation in South Dakota, the Oglala Lakota have
become leaders in totally abandoning blood quantum as a criterion for tribal
enrollment, opting instead to consider factors such as residency on the
reservation, affinity to and knowledge of, as well as service to the Oglala
people.”” This follows the development of a recent “tradition” of Oglala
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militancy in which tribal members played aleadingrolein challenging federal
conceptions of Indian identity during the 1972 Trail of Broken Treaties
takeover of BIA headquartersin Washington, and seven non-Indian members
of the Vietnam Veterans Against the War were naturalized as citizens of the
“Independent Oglala Nation” during the 1973 siege of Wounded Knee.* In
1986, at a meeting of the United Sioux Tribes in Pierre, South Dakota, Oglala
representatives lobbied the leaders of other Lakota reservations to broaden
their own enrollment criteria beyond federal norms, despite recognition that,
“in the past fifty years, since the Indian Reorganization Act of 1934, tribal
leaders have been reluctant to recognize blood from individuals from other
tribes [or any one else].” *

In Alaska, the Haida have produced a new draft constitution which offers
a full expression of indigenous sovereignty, at least insofar as the identity of
sovereignty and citizenry is concerned. The Haida draft begin with those who
arenotacknowledged as members of the Haida nationand posits thatall those
who marry Haidas will also be considered eligible for naturalized citizenship
(justlikeinany other nation). The children of such unions would also be Haida
citizens from birth, regardless of their degree of Indian blood, and children
adopted by Haidas would also be considered citizens.® On Pine Ridge, a
similar “naturalization” plank had surfaced in the 1982 TREATY platform
upon which Russell Means attempted to run for the Oglala Lakota tribal presi-
dency before being disqualified at the insistence of the BIA.#

An obvious problem which might be associated with this trend is that even
though Indian nations begin to recognize their citizens by their own standards
rather than those of the federal government, the government may well refuse
to recognize the entitlement of unblooded tribal members to the same services
and benefits as any other. In fact, there is every indication that this is the
federal intent, and such a disparity of “status” stands to heighten tensions
among Indians, destroying their fragile rebirth of unity and solidarity before
it gets off the ground. Federal policy in this regard is, however, also being
challenged.

Most immediately, this concerns the case of Dianne Zarr, an enrolled
member of the Sherwood Valley Pomo Band of Indians, who is of less than
one-quarter degree of Indian blood. On September 11, 1980, Ms. Zarr filed an
application for higher educational grant benefits, and was shortly rejected as
not meeting quantum requirements. Zarr went through all appropriate
appeal procedures before filing, on July 15, 1983, a suit in federal court,
seeking to compel award of her benefits. This was denied by the district court
on April 2, 1985. Zarr appealed and, on September 26, 1985, the lower court
was reversed on the basis of the “Snyder Act” (25 U.S.C. 5297), which
precludes discrimination based solely on racial criteria. Zarr received her
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grant, setting a very useful precedent for the future.

Still, realizing that the utility offered by U.S. courts will necessarily be
limited, anumber of Indian organizations haverecently begun to seek to bring
international pressure to bear on the federal government. The Indian Law
Resource Center, National Indian Youth Council and, for a time, the Interna-
tional Indian Treaty Council and World Council of Indigenous peoples have
repeatedly taken Native American issues before the United Nations Working
Group on Indigenous Populations (a component of the U.N. Commission on
Human Rights) in Geneva, Switzerland, since 1977. Another forum which has
been utilized for this purpose has been the Fourth Russell International
Tribunal on the Rights of the Indians of the Americas, held in Rotterdam,
Netherlands, in 1980. Additionally, delegation from various Indian nations
and organizations have visited, often under auspices of the host governments,
more than 30 countries during the past decade.®

Conclusion:

The history of the U.S. imposition of its standards of identification upon
AmericanIndiansis particularly ugly. Its cost to Indians hasinvolved millions
of acres of land, the water by which to make much of this land agriculturally
useful, control over vast mineral resources which might have afforded them
acomfortable standard of living, and the ability to form themselves into viable
and meaningful political blocks atany level. Worse, it has played a prominent
role in bringing about their generalized psychic disempowerment; if one is
not allowed even to determine for one’s self, or within one’s peer group, the
answer to the all-important question “who am I?,” what possible personal
power can one feel he/she possesses? The negative impacts, both physically
and psychologically, of this process upon succeeding generations of Native
Americans in the U.S. are simply incalculable.

The blood quantum mechanism most typically used by the federal govern-
ment to assignidentification to individuals over the yearsisasracistin its form
asany conceivable policy. It has broughtabout the systematic marginalization
and eventual exclusion of many more Indians from their own cultural-
national designation than it has retained. This is all the more apparent when
one considers that, while one-quarter degree of blood has been the normused
indefining Indian-ness, the quantum has varied from time-to-time and place-
to-place; one-half blood was the standard utilized in the case of the Missis-
sippi Choctaws and adopted in the Wheeler-Howard Act, one-sixty-fourth
was utilized in establishing the Santee rolls in Nebraska. It is hardly unnatu-
ral, under the circumstances, that federal policy has set off a ridiculous game
of one-upsmanship in Indian Country: “I'm more Indian than you” and “You
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aren’t Indian enough to say (or do, or think) that” have become common
assertions during the second half of the 20th century.

The restriction of federal entitlement funds to cover only the relatively few
Indians who meet quantum requirements, essentially a cost-cutting policy at
its inception, has served to exacerbate tensions over the identity issue among
Indians. It has established a scenario in which it has been perceived as
profitable for one Indian to cancel the identity of his/her neighbor as a means
of receiving his/her entitlement. Thus, a bitter divisiveness hasbeen builtinto
Indian communities and national policies, sufficient to preclude their achiev-
ing theinternal unity necessary to offer any serious challenge to the status quo.
At every turn, U.S. practice vis a vis American Indians is indicative of an
advanced and extremely successful system of colonialism.

The outcome of the particular process examined in this paper can only be
that Indians, both as peoples and as individuals, will eventually be defined
out of existence. Arithmetically, it is calculable that by some point in the next
century, the simple act of suddenly enforcing the quarter-blood standards
across theboard would result in the aggregate Indian population appearing to
be near zero. This, in turn, would allow the federal government to “justifia-
bly” close the books on Indians, write off all remaining obligations to such
people, and declare them extinct (as has already been done with the Juaneno
and other groups). In this sense, federal control and manipulation of the
criteria of Indian identity carries obvious implications, not only of colonial-
ism, but of genocide.

Fortunately, increasing numbers of Indians are waking up to the fact that
this is the case. The recent analysis and positions assumed by such politically
diverse Indian nations, organizations and individuals as Frank Ryan and
Russell Means, the National Congress of American Indians and the Indian
Law Resource Center, the Haida and the Oglala, are a very favorable sign. The
willingness of the latter two nations to simply defy federal standards and
adopt identification and enrollment policies in line with their own interests
and traditions is particularly important. Recent U.S. court decisions, such as
thatin the Zarr case, and growing international attention and concern over the
circumstances of Native Americans are also hopeful indicators that things
may be at long last changing for the better.

We are currently at something of a crossroads. If American Indians are able
to continue the positive trend in which they reassert their sovereign preroga-
tive to control the criteria of their own membership, we may reasonably
assume that they will be able to move onward, into a true process of
decolonization and reestablishment of themselves as functioning national
entities. The alternative, of course, is that they will fail, continue to be duped
into bickering over the question of “who’s Indian” in light of federal guide-
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lines, and thus facilitate not only their own continued subordination, expro-
priation and colonization, but ultimately their own statistical extermination.
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The Black Hills Are Not For Sale
A Summary of the Lakota Struggle for the 1868 Treaty Territory

by Ward Churchill

One of the more important and better known issues involving questions of
indigenous sovereignty in North America is the so-called Black Hills land
claim advanced by the Lakota (the “Western Sioux” or “Teton Dakota”;
Oglala, Brulé, Hunkpapa, Minneconjou, Sans Arc, Blackfoot and Two Kettles
Bands) Nation over the past century. This essay will attempt to summarize the
history of the struggle for the Black Hills, and explain the critical nature of its
ultimate resolution upon American Indian rights to land and self-determina-
tion throughout the United States.

The Treaties of Fort Laramie

In 1851, the U.S. entered into the first Fort Laramie Treaty with the Lakota,
Cheyenne, Arapaho, Crow and other indigenous nations of the northern
plains region. In large part, the treaty was an attempt by the federal govern-
ment to come to grips with the matter of Indian territorality within the vast
“Louisiana Purchase” area it had acquired from France earlier in the century.
The Lakota were formally recognized in the 1851 treaty instrument as being
entitled to ahugetract centering upon their sacred lands, called Paha Sapa (the
Black Hills), including virtually all of the present states of South Dakota and
Nebraska, as well as appreciable portions of Kansas, North Dakota, Montana
and Wyoming, and a small portion of Colorado. In sum, the U.S. acknowl-
edged Lakota sovereignty and national “ownership” of between 6 and 7% of
the total land area now comprising the 48 contiguous states of the United
States.!

It was not long, however, before gold and silver were discovered in the
Virginia City area of Montana Territory, and a “short route” to these ore fields
began to be considered essential to a U.S. economy beset by the demands of
the Civil War (1861-65). Hence, at least as early as 1864, the government
entered into open violation of the 1851 treaty, sending troops to construct a
series of forts intended to secure what was called the “Bozeman Trail,”
directly through the western portion of the Lakota homeland. The Lakota,
under the political leadership of Red Cloud, an Oglala, responded by forming
analliance with the Cheyenne and Arapaho, bringing their joint military force
tobear upon the trail during 1866-67. By 1868, the U.S., having suffered several
defeats in the field, and finding its troops trapped within their forts, sued for
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peace.2 This led to the second Fort Laramie Treaty in the same year, in which
(in exchange for being allowed to withdraw its remaining soldiers in one
piece) the federal government once again recognized Lakota sovereignty and
national territorality, this time establishing a “Great Sioux Reservation”
encompassing all of contemporary South Dakota west of the east bank of the
Missouri River, and acknowledging that the “Greater Sioux Nation” was en-
titled to permanent use of “Unceded Indian Territory” involving large por-
tions of Nebraska, Wyoming, Montana and North Dakota.? Further, the new
treaty committed U.S. troops to prevent non-Indians from trespassing in
Lakota territory, specified that it did nothing to “abrogate or annul” Lakota
land rights acknowledged in the 1851 treaty,* and provided that:

No [subsequent] treaty for cession of any portion of the reservation
herein described which may be held in common shall be of any
validity or force as against said Indians, unless executed and signed
by at least three-fourths of all adult male Indians [the gender
provision was a U.S,, rather than Lakota, stipulation], occupying or
interested in the same.”

All might have been well in the aftermath of the 1868 treaty had a Catholic
priest, Jean de Smet, not ventured illegally into the Black Hills and afterwards
reported to the Sioux Falls (South Dakota) Times that he had discovered gold
therein.® In short order, this led to the government’s reinforcing Lt. Colonel
George Armstrong Custer’s elite 7th Cavalry Regiment and violating both the
1851 and 1868 treaties by sending this heavy military force directly into the
Hills on a “fact-finding” mission. Custer’s 1874 report that he too had found
gold in the Paha Sapa, much ballyhooed in the eastern press, led to another
military foray into the Hills - the Jenny Expedition — during the summer of
18757 The fact that there was gold in the heart of Lakota Territory, in their most
holy of places, was thus confirmed to the satisfaction of Washington officials.

With that, the government sent yet another treaty commissionto meet with
the Lakota leadership, this time in an effort to negotiate purchase of the Black
Hills.* When the Lakotas refused to sell (as was clearly their right, under either
or both treaties), Washington responded by transferring its relations with
them from the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) to the Department of War. All
Lakotas were ordered to gather at their “assigned agencies” within the Great
Sioux Reservation by not later than the end of January 1876, although they
plainly had every right to beanywhere they chose within their treaty territory;
those who failed to comply with this utterly unlawful federal directive were
informed that they would be viewed as having broken the peace and conse-
quently treated as “hostiles.” Meanwhile, Presideat Ulysses S. Grant com-
pleted the government's raft of treaty violations by secretly instructing his
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Leadership of the Lakota Nation during negotiations with U.S. commission-

ers prior to signing the second Ft. Laramie Treaty, April 1968. (Photo: Smith-
sonian Institution)

army commanders to disregard U.S. obligations to prevent the wholesale
invasion of the Lakota heartland by non-Indian miners.’

“The Great Sioux War”

For their part, the Lakotas withdrew into the remote Powder River county
of southeastern Montana, a part of their unceded territory, to discuss what
they should do next. In turn, the army used this “gesture of hostility” as a
pretext for launching a massive assault upon them, with the expressed intent
of “crushing Sioux resistance completely, once and for all.” The U.S. objective
in this was, of course, to simply obliterate the Lakota ability to effectively
oppose federal expropriation of the Black Hills. The mechanism chosen to
accomplish this task was a three-pronged campaign consisting of some 1,500
men each under Major Generals George Crook (coming into the Powder River
Country from the south) and Alfred Terry (from the east). Another 1,000 men
under Colonel John Gibbon were to approach from the west, and the Lakotas
(as well as their Cheyenne and Arapaho allies) were to be caught between
these forces and destroyed.®

Asit turned out, the army’s plan failed completely. On June 17, 1876, Crook’s
entire column was met by an approximately equal number of Lakotas led by
Crazy Horse, an Oglala. The soldiers were quickly defeated and sent into full
retreat.” This was followed, on June 25, by the near annihilation of Custer’s 7th
Cavalry - attached to Terry’s column - in the valley of the Little Big Horn

39




River. The good colonel, contrary to the popular American legend that he
encountered “3-5,000 howling savages, was - like Crook -~ beaten by an
number of Indians approximately equal to the strength of his own command.
For the second time in a decade, the Lakota had successfully defended Paha
Sapa, militarily defeating the U.S. Army.

This time, however, the victory was to prove bitter. Vengefully licking its
woundsafter having been unable to best the Indians in open combat, the army
imported Colonel Ranald McKenzie, a specialist in “total war.” The new
tactician spent the winter of 1876-77 tracking down individual Lakota and
Cheyenne villages, using sheer numbers to overpower themand slaughtering
women, children and old people as a matter of course.*By the spring of 1877,
it wasall over. In order to spare their non-combatants further butchery at the
hands of the army, the Lakota leaders ~ aside from Sitting Bull and Gall,
Hunkpapas who led their followers to sanctuary in Canada, not returning
until the 1880s - surrendered. Having laid down his arms, Crazy Horse was
assassinated by the military on September 5, and the era of Lakota armed
struggle was brought to a close.*

The Theft of Paha Sapa

Undoubtedly as a result of the military advantage it eventually gained over
the Lakotas during the Great Sioux War, the U.S. congress felt itself empow-
ered to pass an act of February 28, 1877, stripping away the Unceded Indian
Territory of the Great Sioux Nation as well as that portion of the Great Sioux
Reservation itself containing the Black Hills (see Map I). There is strong
evidence that congress was well aware that the act was patently illegal insofar
as it had enacted a slightly earlier measure suspending treaty-guaranteed
allocations to provide Lakota subsistence rations until such time as the
Indians “gave up their claim over the Black Hills.” In simplest terms,
congress realized that the Lakota land cession it desired required the 75%
expressed consent of all adult Lakota men in order to be valid, and it set out
to starve the Indians into providing the necessary signatures. Even under
these conditions, however, a commission headed by George Manypenny, and
sent from Washington to obtain the Lakota consent stipulated by the 1868
treaty, was able to obtain the agreement of about 10% of all Lakota men.
Nonetheless, congress passed its law “legally” expropriating the Hills.”

Over the following two decades, erosion of Lakota sovereignty and land-
base were exacerbated by imposition of the Seven Major Crimes and General
Allotment Acts (see Morris essay in this volume). The Lakota economy was
prostrated, and the political process by which the nation had traditionally
governed itself was completely subverted. By 1890, despair at such circum-

40



Map 1: Sioux Land Cessions
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stances had reached a level leading to the widespread adoption of the Ghost

Dance religion, a phenomenon which provided the government an excuse by

which to declare a state of military emergency, assassinate Sitting Bull, and

then perpetrate the massacre of some 350 of his followers at Wounded Knee.*
After that, Washington tended to view the Lakotas as being “thoroughly bro-

ken.”

During the 1920s and "30s, Lakota sovereignty was even more thoroughly
diminished through imposition of the Indian Citizenship and Indian Reor-
ganization Acts (sce Jaimes essay in this volume)and, asa consequence, by the
1950s congress was scriously considering the “termination” (i.e.: externally
and unilaterally imposed dissolution) of the Lakota Nation altogether.”
Although — unlike the Menominee, Klamath, and a number of other indige-



nous nations during the ‘50s — the Lakota were ultimately not terminated, the
effects of their colonization were almost as devastating: by the contemporary
era, their 1868 treaty territory had been reduced toa “complex” of reservation,
geographically separating the bands from one another, comprising only some
10% of its original area (see Map I). Of the residue, the assertion of federal
“trust responsibility” over Lakota property, a matter accommodated within
the U.S. doctrine of exercising “plenary [full] power” over Indian affairs,
placed more than two-thirds of the most productive acreage in the use of non-
Indian ranchers and farmers.»

The consequences of this situation were readily apparent. By the federal
government’s own data during the 1970s, American Indians experienced far
and away the lowest annual incomes of any identifiable “U.S.” population
group and, correspondingly, by far the shortest average life-spans.2 Such
circumstances have not changed appreciably by the late 1980s and, through-
out both decades, the poorest single county in all of Indian Country - or the
U.S. more generally — has been Shannon, on the Pine Ridge (Oglala Lakota)
Reservation.2

The Legal Battle

The Lakota, of course, never accepted the circumstances of their coloniza-
tion lying down. Realizing in the wake of Wounded Knee that any direct
military response to U.S. transgressions would be at best self-defeating, they
opted instead to utilize the colonizers’ own legal codes ~ and international
pretensions as a “humanitarian power, bound by the laws of civilized con-
duct”® - as a means of recovering what had been stolen from them.

The First Court Case

In 1920, a federal law was passed which “authorized” the Lakota to sue the
government “under treaties, or agreements, or laws of Congress, on the
misappropriation of any funds or lands of said tribe or band or bands
thereof.”* The law was hardly altruistic on the part of congress which,
realizing that there had been “difficulties” with the manner in which Lakota
“consent” had been obtained for the 1877 Black Hills land cession, saw this as
a handy means to buy the Indians off and “quiet title” to the Hills once and for
all. This was amply revealed in 1923, when the Lakota entered their suit with
the U.S. Court of Claims, seeking return of their stolen land rather than the
monetary compensation the government had anticipated would be at issue.
Notknowing what to do in the face of this unexpected turn of events, the court
simply stalled for 19 years, endlessly entertaining motions and counter-
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motions while professing to “study” the matter. Finally, in 1942, when it
became absolutely clear the Lakota would not accept cash in lieu of land, the
court dismissed the case, claiming the situation was a “moral issue” rather
than a constitutional question over which it held jurisdiction.” In 1943, the
U.S. Supreme Court refused to even review the claims court decision.

The Claims Commission

The court room route appeared to be stalemated. But — on August 13, 1946
- the Indian Claims Commission Act” was passed by a congress anxious to put
the best possible moral face on the government’s past dealings with American
Indians, given the recently announced U.S. intention of si tting in judgement
of the Nazi leadership for having engaged in planning and engaging in
“aggressive war” and other “crimes against humanity.” Section II of the new

actdefined five bases upon which Indians might sue the government for lands
lost, including;:

e (Claimsinlaw or equity arising under the constitution, laws, and
treaties of the United States.

* Claims which would result if the treaties, contracts and agree-
ments between the claimant and the United States were revised
on the ground of fraud, duress, unconscionable consideration,
mutual or unilateral mistake, whether of law or of fact, or any
other ground recognizable by the court of inquiry.»

Recognizing that such language might arguably cover the Black Hills
taking, the Lakota refiled their original Court of Claims case with the Claims
Commission in 1950. The commission, however, opted to view the case as
having been “retired” by the 1942 Court of Claims dismissal (and subsequent
Supreme Court denial of certiorari), and likewise dismissed it in 1954. The
Court of Claims upheld the commissions * decision on appeal from the Lakota
during the same year.®Undeterred by this failure of “due process,” the Lakota
entered a second appeal, and in 1958:

[TIhe Indian Claims Commission [was] ordered by the Court of Claims to
reopen the case on the grounds that the Sioux had previously been repre-
sented by inadequate counsel and as a consequence an inadequate record
[had] been presented.®

In 1961, the U.S. Department of Justice attempted to have the Black Hills
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case simply set aside, entering a writ of mandamus seeking such “extraordi-
nary relief” for the government; the Court of Claims rejected this tactic during
the same year. The Claims Commission was thereby forced to actually
consider the case. After along hiatus, the commission announced that, having
“studied the matter,” it was reducing the scope of the issue to three elements:

* Whatland rights wereacquired by the U.Sl visavis the Black Hills
in 1877.

* What consideration had been given by the U.S. in exchange for
these lands.

¢ If no consideration had been given, had any payment been made
by the U.S.3

Proceeding form this basis, the commission entered a preliminary opinion
in 1974 that congress had been exercising its “power of eminent domain” in
1877, and that it had therefore been “justified” in taking the Hills from the
Lakota, although it was obligated to pay them “just compensation” for their
loss, as provided under the fifth amendment to the U.S. Constitution.® The
opinion denied any right of the Lakota to recover the land taken from them
and they therefore objected to it quite strongly. The federal government also
took strong exception to the direction things were taking, based upon its
reluctance to pay any large sum of money as compensation for territory it had
always enjoyed free of charge. Hence, in 1975 the Justice Department ap-
pealed to the Court of Claims, securing a res judicata prohibition against the
Claims Commission “reaching the merits” of the proposed Lakota compen-
sation package.*What this meant, in simplest terms, was that the commission
was to be denied the prerogative of determining and awarding to the Lakota
“the valueof the land inquestionat the time of taking.” This stipulation resulted
in the commission arriving at an award of $17.5 million for the entire Black
Hills, against which the government sought to “offset” $3,484 in rations
issued to the Lakota in 1877.%

End Game Moves

The Lakota attempted to appeal this to the Supreme Court, but the high
court of the U.S. again refused to consider the matter.* Meanwhile, arguing
that acceptance of compensation would constitute a lean cession, and invok-
ing 1868 treaty clause requiring 75% adult Lakota consent to legitimate any
such cession, the Lakotas themselves conducted a referendum to determine
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whether the people were willing to relinquish title to Paha Sapa. The answer
wasaresounding “no.” This unexpected turn of events presented the govern-
ment with yet another dilemma in its continuing quest to legitimize its theft
of Lakota territory; in order to make the best of an increasingly bad situation,
congress passed a bill (in 1978) enabling the Court of Claims to “review” the
nature and extent of Lakota compensation.” This the court did, “revising” the
proposed award in 1979 to include 5% simple interest annually since 1877, a
total of $122.5 million.*

The Justice Department again attempted to constrict the amount of compen-
sation the government would be obliged to pay the Lakota by filing an appeal
with the Supreme Court. The effort was unsuccessful insofar as in 1980 the
high court upheld the Claims Court’s award of interest.” The Lakota, how-
ever, remained entirely unsatisfied. Pointing to a 1979 poll of the reservations
showing that the people were no more willing to accept $122.5 million than
they had been $17.5 million in exchange for the Hills, and arguing that return
of the land itself had always been the object of their suits, they went back to
court on July 18, 1980, the Oglalas entered a claim naming the U.S. the state of
North Dakota and a number of counties, towns and individuals in the U.S.
District Court, seeking recovery of the land per se as well as $11 billion in
damages. The case was dismissed by the court on September 12, supposedly
because “the issue at hand [had] already been resolved.”«

In 1981, the U.S. Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the district court’s
dismissal and, In 1982, the Supreme Court once again declined to hear the
resultant Lakota appeal. These decisions opened the way in 1985 for the
Court of Claims to finalize its award of monetary compensation, as the
“exclusive available remedy” for the Black Hills land claim.?In sum, further
Lakota recourse to U.S. courts had been extinguished by those courts. The
game had alwaysbeenrigged, and the legal strategy had (predictably) proven
quite unsuccessful in terms of either achieving Lakota objectives or even
holding the U.S. accountable to its own professed system of legality.

On the other hand, the legal route did mark solid achievements in other
areas: pursuing it demonstrably kept alive a strong sense of hope, unity and
fighting spirit among the Lakota which might otherwise have diminished
over time. Further, the more than 60 years of litigation had forced a range of
admissions from the federal government concerning the real nature of the
Black Hills expropriations; the Supreme Court, for example, had termed the
whole affair a “ripe and rank case of dishonorable dealings” and “a national
disgrace” in its 1975 opinion. Such admissions went much further toward
fostering broad public understanding of Lakota issues than a “one-sided”
Indian recounting of the facts ever could have. Cumulatively, then, the Lakota
legal strategy set the stage for both an ongoing struggle by Indians and for
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public acceptance of a meaningful solution to the Black Hills claim before the
end of the century.

The Extralegal Battle

It is likely that the limited concession obtained by the Lakota from U.S.
courts during the 1970s related to the emergence of strong support for the
American Indian Movement (AIM) on Pine Ridge and Rosebud Reservations
during the early part of the decade. At the outset, AIM’s involvement on Pine
Ridge concerned the provision of assistance to local traditional Oglalas
attempting to block the illegal transfer of approximately one -eighth of the
reservation (the so-called Sheep Mountain Gunnery Range) to the U.S. Park
Service by the corrupt tribal administration of Richard Wilson.# AIM pro-
vided a marked stiffening of the Lakota resolve to pursue land rights by
demonstrating a willingness to go toe-to-toe with federal forces on such
matters, an attitude largely absent in Indian Country since 1890.

The virulence of the federal response to AIM’s “criminal arrogance” in this
regard led directly to the dramatic siege of Wounded Kneein 1973, a spectacle
whichriveted international attention on the Black Hills land issue for the first
time. In turn, this scrutiny resulted in analysis and on increasingly compre-
hensive understanding of the vast economic interests underlying federal
policy in the Black Hills region (see Map II), a process which steadily raised
the level of criticism of the government and garnered further support to the
Lakota position. Desperate to reassert its customary juridical control over
questions of Indian land rights, the government engaged in what amounted
to a counterinsurgency war against AIM and its traditional Pine Ridge
supporters from 1973-76.4

By the latter year, however, it was a bit too late to effectively contain AIM’s
application of external pressure to the U.S. judicial system. In 1974, the Lakota
eldershad convened a treaty conference at the Standing Rock Reservation and
charged Oglala Lakota AIM leader Russell Means with taking the 1868 Fort
Laramie Treaty “to the family of nations.”*Means therefore formed “AIM’s
diplomaticarm,” the International Indian Treaty Council (II'TC), and setabout
achieving a presence within the United Nations, not only for the Lakota, but
for all the indigenous nations of the Western Hemisphere. IITC accomplished
this in 1977 —largely on the basis of the work of its first director, a Cherokee
named Jimmie Durham — when delegations from 98 American Indians were
allowed to make presentations before a subcommission of the U.N. Commis-
sion on Human Rights at the Palace of Nations in Geneva, Switzerland.

By 1979, the U.N. had reacted to what it had heard by establishing the
Working Group on Indigenous Populations under the Commission on
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AIM members establishing Yellow Thunder Camp in the Black Hills,
some 13 miles west of Rapid City, S.D., April 1981. (Photo: Oyate Wicaho)

Human Rights, an entity dedicated to the formulation of international law
concerning the rights and status of indigenous nations vis a vis nation-states
which had subsumed them. The regularized series of hearings which were
made integral to the working group procedure provided an international
forum within which American Indians and other indigenous peoples could
formally articulate the basis of their national rights, and the effects of govern-
mental abridgement of these rights.

The upshot of this for the Lakota was, of course, that the U.S. could no longer
conduct its Indian affairs in more-or less complete secrecy, as a purely
“internal matter.” Exposed to the light of concentrated international atten-
tion, the federal government was repeatedly embarrassed by the realities of
its own Indian policies and court decisions. As a consequence, federal courts
became somewhat more accommodating in the Black Hills case than they
might otherwise have been. Still, when the Lakotas rejected monetary settle-
ment of their land claim in 1979-80, AIM was instrumental in forging the
popular slogan “The Black Hills Are Not For Sale.” This was again coupled to
direct extralegal action when Russell Means initiated an occupation in 1981 of
an 880 acre site near Rapid City in the Black Hills (see MapI). This was couched
interms of being “the first step in the physical re-occupation of Paha Sapa.” The
AlMactionagain caused broad public attention to be focused upon the Lakota
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Map II: U.S. coporate interests in the Greater Sioux Nation.
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land claim, and precipitated the potential of another major armed clash with
federal forces; the latter possibility was averted at the last moment by afederal
district court judge who - reflecting the government’s concern not to become
engaged in another “Wounded Knee-type confrontation” — issued an order
enjoining the FBI and U.S. Marshal’s Service from undertaking an assault
upon the occupants of what was by then called Yellow Thunder Camp.+

Under these conditions, the government was actually placed in the position
of having to sue the Indians in order to get them to leave what it claimed was
federal property under control of the U.S. Forest Service.# AIM counter-sued
on the basis that federal land-use policies in the Black Hills violated not only
the 1868 treaty, but also Lakota spiritual freedom under the First Amendment
to the U.S. Constitution and the American Indian Religious Freedom Act.# In
1986, the government was stunned when U.S. District Judge Robert O’Brien
ruled in favor of AIM, finding that the T.akota had every right to the Yellow
Thunder site, and that the U.S. had cleai.y discriminated against them by
suggesting otherwise. The Yellow Thunder ruling is a potential landmark,
bearing broad potential for application in other Indian land claims in the U.S.,
albeit still on appeal, and may be severely undercut or even negated by the
Supreme Court’s recent “GO-road Decision” (see Morris article in this vol-
ume).

Like the Lakota legal strategy, AIM’s course of largely extralegal activity
has proven insufficient initself to resolve the Black Hills land claim. Nonethe-
less, it can be seen to have had a positive bearing on the evolution of litigation
in the matter, and it has accomplished a great deal in terms of bringing public
attention to and understanding of the real issues involved. In this sense, the
legal and extralegal battles fought by the Lakotas for Paha Sapa may be
viewed as having been - perhaps inadvertently — mutually reinforcing. And,
together, these two efforts may have finally created the context in which this
can occur.

The Bradley Bill

By the mid-1980s, things had reached such a pass in terms of the U.S. image
vis a vis the Lakota that a liberal New Jersey senator, Bill Bradley, finally
introduced legislation to congressby which he hoped to finally retire the Black
Hills land claim in a manner the Lakotas might accept. The bill, S. 1453, would
“re-convey” title to some 750,000 acres of the Black Hills currently held by the
federal government, including subsurface (mineral) rights, to the Lakota.
Further, it provides that certain spiritual sites in the Black Hills area would be
re-titled to the Lakota and, along with some the 50,000 re-conveyed acres, be
designated as a “Sioux Park”; the balance of the land given back to the Lakota
would be designated as a “Sioux Forest.”
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Additionally, considerable water rights within the South Dakota portion of
the 1868 treaty territory would be reassigned to the Lakota, and a full “Sioux
National Council” (drawn from all the Lakota reservations) with increased
jurisdiction within the whole 8.5 million acres of the 1868 “Great Sioux
Reservation.” Timbering and grazing permits, mineral leasing, etc., in the
Black Hills would be transferred to Lakota control two years after passage of
the bill (thus establishing a viable Lakota economic base for the first time in
more thana century), and the $122.5 million (plus interest accrued since 1980)
awarded by the Court of Claims would be disbursed as compensation for the
Lakotas’ historic loss of use of their land rather than as payment for the land
itself. Finally, the draft bill posits that it would resolve the Black Hills claim
only, and have no wider effect on “subsisting treaties.” In other words, with
a satisfactory settlement of the Hills issue in hand, the Lakotas would remain
free to pursue resolution of their claims to the 1868 Unceded Indian Territory
and their 1851 treaty territory.*

Although the Bradley Bill is obviously less than perfect — compensation
remains very low, considering that the Homestake Mine alone has extracted
more than $18 billion in gold from the Black Hills since 1877, and the U.S. and
its citizens are left with considerable land and rights in the area to which they
were never legally entitled - it represents a major potential breakthrough not
only with regard to the Black Hills land claim, but to U.S./Indian relations far
more generally. Although the full Lakota agenda is not met by the bill, it
probably comes close enough that the bulk of the people would accept it. And
that, more than anything, is a testament to their own perseverance in struggle,
and in the face of astronomical odds.

Conclusion

In the end, the question becomes whether the Bradley Bill can be passed in
its more-or-less present form. If so, the Lakota’s long fight for their land, and
for their integrity as a nation of people, will have been significantly advanced.
More, a legislative precedent will have been set which could allow other
peoples indigenous to what is now known as the United States to begin to
truly reconstitute themselves, while the U.S. itself begins to reverse some of
the worst aspects of tis ugly history of colonization and genocide against
American Indians. In the alternative, if the bill is gutted or rejected outright,
and thus fails to resolve what by any measure is the best known of all Indian
land claims in the U.S., it will be a clear sign that the U.S. remains committed
to its traditional policy of expropriating Indian assets by whatever means are
necessary and available to it, and to destroy indigenous societies as an
incidental cost of “doing business.” In that event, the Lakota will have no real
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option but to continue their desperate struggle for survival, an indication that
the future may prove grimmer that the past.
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The White Earth Land Struggle

by Winona LaDuke

The White Earth Indian Reservation in northern Minnesota is homeland to
the Anishinabe people (usually called “Chippewa” by non-Indians in the
U.S., “Ojibway” in Canada) of the Mississippi, Pillager and Pembina Bands.
While an 1867 treaty with the United States reserved these lands for the
exclusive use and occupancy of Mississippi Band members — and, under
separate agreements, portions of the Pembina and Pillager Bands also came
to live there — the Mississippi Band is today outnumbered more than two-to-
one by non-Indians living within the reservation borders. More, illegal non-
Indian land takings and general economic exploitation have forced approxi-
mately 80% of the Anishinabe off their reservation at White Earth, into urban
ghettos throughout the U S.

One hundred and fifty years ago, the recognized landbase of the Missi ssippi
Band of the Anishinabe Nation was about 20 million acres. Today, the Band
controls less than 60,000 acres. Consequently, a people with rightful owner-
ship of vast natural resources are forced to live in poverty within their own
homeland. Many others, for whom there is no longer room on what’s left of
the reservation, have been made into outright refugees. Thisis the story, not
only of how all this came to be, but what the Anishinabe people are presently
doing about it.

The Economic Basis of Anishinabe Treaties

Beginning at Fort MacIntosh in 1785, and ending in 1923 at Georgian Bay, the
U.S. and Canadian governments (or the Crown of England, during the early
period) entered into more than 40 treaties with the Anishinabe. These treaties
were an interpretation of Anishinabe legal rights in relationship to the U.S,,
England and Canada. They were also the basis for some of the largest land
transactions in world history.

In terms of the U.S. concept of property rights, the federal government has
never claimed to hold or control Anishinabe land by “right of conquest.”
Rather, it claims to have legally acquired these and other American Indian
lands by agreement — usually manifested in the form of treaties — with the
original occupants/owners. This is the mechanism — represented in 371
treaty instruments and some 720 related land seizures between 1784 and 1894
— through which the U.S. allegedly “bought” more than 95% of its present
continental territorality for approximately $800 million. Land has always
been the source of wealth in the United States, and, it follows, of power. This
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is why the issue of land claims continues to be the central point of contention
between the U.S. and various American Indian nations, and why the federal
government now claims notonly to ownall butabout3% of its aggregate land-
mass outright, but to exercise “trustresponsibility” and “plenary power” over
all residual Indian land holdings as well.

The treaties between the U.S. and the Anishinabe were negotiated, like the
others, for economic reasons. In general, this means access by the U.S. to the
western Great Lakes Region, with its tremendous resources of iron ore,
copper and timber. These resources became a primary component in the
“development” of American industrial capitalism, a matter which recipro-
cally engendered the “underdevelopment” of traditional Anishinabe eco-
nomic self-sufficiency and standard-of-living.

There was a 2,500 pound rock of naturally-occurring pure copper called the
Ontonogan Boulder which rested on the south shore of Lake Superior, on
what is now known as the Kewanee Peninsula. By 1800, representatives of
both the Queen of England and of the U.S. had seen it and within a few years
both had, without success, attempted to remove it. By the mid-1820s, the
federal government had decided to do a comprehensive inventory of the
“mineral assets” of the Lake Superior area, and a study of Indian title to the
lands therein. Within a very short period, four treaties were signed between
the U.S. and the Anishinabe Nation, each providing for access to and mining
in Anishinabe territory. These treaties covered both the Kewanee Peninsula
and the Mesabe (“Sleeping Giant”) iron ore belt in northern Minnesota. By
mid-century more than 100 copper companies had been incorporated in the
Minnesota, Wisconsin and Michigan Territories; as early as 1849, 100% of all
U.S. copper production — the world’s leader — came from the Kewanee
Peninsula, “ceded” by the Anishinabe in the treaty of 1842.

Treaty negotiations and land cessions, as always, meant different things to
the parties involved. The Anishinabe have always had a clear understanding
of their relationship to the land, based upon a spiritually perceived responsi-
bility to serve as caretakers for the Creator. In the Anishinabe view, “owner-
ship,” within the Euroamerican meaning of the term, is an absolute impossi-
bility: ownership of land cannot be vested in people because the land itself is
alive and people are simply a sub-part of this living organism. Therefore, the
Anishinabe have always asserted that they agreed only to share their lands
with (as opposed to selling their lands to) other humans, never relinquishing
their own hunting, fishing, and other economic, spiritual or political rights
within the whole of their territories.

For Euroamericans, of course, things were very different. Following their
own Christian precept of “man’s obligation” to exercise “dominion over
nature,” they set out to extend formal title over every acre they could acquire.
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Treaty chiefs of the Pillager Band circa 1865 (Photo: Smithsonian Institution)

Further, in keeping with their basic economic motivations, they prepared
treaty documents which supposedly conveyed such title at the cheapest
possible rate; the final payments to the Anishinabe for U.S. use, ownership —
or however one defines it—of Anishinabe land averaged only 8¢ peracre. This
should be contrasted, not only with the wealth in copper streaming from the
Kewanee Peninsula, but with the fact that, beginning in 1890 and continuing
for nearly 50 years, fully 75% of all U.S. iron ore production accrued from the
Mesabe ore deposits. Almost every major, contemporary U.S. (or, to be more
accurate, U.S.-based transnational) mining corporation sprang directly from
the riches obtained from Anishinabe lands during the century running from
1850 to 1950.

By the point of the 1854 treaty between the U.S. and the Anishinabe, the
government had begun to literally circumscribe Anishinabe territorality,
creating the first reservations for these American Indians at Grand Portage
and Fond du Lac while decreeing they had “forfeited their rights” within
other areas of their homeland. Eventually, once its control of Anishinabe
territory had become fully consolidated, the federal government admitted
what had long-since become obvious to the world community, that it had
failed (spectacularly) to live up to its treaty commitments and responsibilities
visavis the various American Indian nations from which it had accumulated
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itsown claimed territorality. Given the U.S. penchant for comporting itself as
a veritable paragon of humane legalism and as being the antithesis of a
colonial power, it was duly announced that an official apparatus would be
established through which Indians could receive “justice” for the wrongs
done them by past “mistakes” in federal policies.

The Indian Claims Commission

What was thus established in 1946 was called the “Indian Claims Commis-
sion,” aspecial federally chartered entity designed to absorb American Indian
law suits concerningland claims which had already been presented to the U.S.
Courtof Claims,and to acceptany furthersuchsuits. The Claims Commission
was actually charged with going out and finding as many potential Indian
land claims as possible, and in some waysto assist the Indian plaintiffs atissue
inbringing their case “to court.” The only forumto whichan Indianland claim
could be brought was to the Commission, and the Commission was empow-
ered to resolve any situation in which the Indian claim was found to be
justified only throughan “appropriate” award of cash “compensation” to the
Indians.

In other words, even when Indians could show in the clearest possible terms
that their land had been illegally taken by the federal government, they could
not recover the stolen land itself. Instead, they were to accept a monetary
“settlement” for “damages.” And the amount of the settlement awarded was
to be set by the Claims Commission, that is, the legal representatives of the
very federal government which stood guilty of having acted as a thief in the
first place. As American Indian legal scholar Vine Deloria, Jr., hasputit, “The
procedure neatly reversed the principles embodied in several centuries of
English Common Law, the very principles upon which U.S.law is supposedly
based,” and:

What we have here is a situation in which, let’s say, I steal your car;
let’s make itabrand new $60,000 Mercedes Benz. I'm apprehended
a few blocks down the street by a traffic cop, and taken tojail. Your
carisimpounded by the police. The next day, I'marraigned and the
judge asks whether or not I'm guilty of stealing your car. l agree that
I'am, and so the judge says I have to pay you for the damages I've
caused you. Okay, so far, so good. But now the judge tells me that
I’ myself am to determine how much I am to pay you as compensa-
tion, and the moment I make my payment the title to your car
“passes” to me. I will then own it legally, and it will therefore be
released to me rather than to you. At this point, all that's left is for
me to say that the whole thing ought to be “settled” for about $5, and
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pay up. Now, atthe end of this littlecourt proceeding, I'm no longer
a criminal. Instead, I'm an upstanding citizen holding legal title to
a brand new Mercedes. And you, the victim of my theft? Well,
you've got my $5 bill, and the whole issue is supposed to be
“resolved.” If you don’t mind my saying so — and I think you'll
agree — this is a very strange concept of law we're dealing with
here. But this is exactly the sort of “logic” which guides Indian Law
in the United States, so maybe you can see why Indians are a little
upset and unhappy with the judicial process in this country.

Hence, the outcome of each Claims Commission case “won” by Indians
resulted notin their recovery of property demonstrably stolen from them, but
in the federal government’s securing of both “quiet title” to the land it had
illegally taken and a rationalization by which it could posture and pretend to
have conducted itself nobly. Asconcerns the “Chippewas of Minnesota” —

as the Anishinabe of that area were described in treaties with the U.S. — this

principle pertained to five cases filed with the U.S. Court of Claims in 1927, as
well as another 50 suits referred to the Claims Commission by 1946. The net
result was an agreement by the government to pay an additional 44¢ per acre
for Minnesota Anishinabe land it had illegally taken; this was supposedly the
“fair market value” of these lands at the time they were stolen, rather thanat the
time the compensation awards were made. From the total award, the
government then deducted “off-sets,” such as the costs of the treaty negotia-
tions upon which it (not the Anishinabe Nation) based its claim to land title.
In the end, the Anishinabe of Minnesotareceived a total of just over $2 million
for “clear U.S. title” to the great bulk of their homeland, with a hefty chunk of
even these monies going to pay the “fees” of the attorneys (often federally-
appointed) who had “represented Chippewa interests” before the Claims
Commission.

The Theft of White Earth

When the White Earth Reservation was first established, it afforded a
landbase and ecological mix sufficient to support the lifeways of the Missis-
sippis, Pembinasand Pillagers who came to live onit. They brought with them
a pre-established and well-functioning socio-political and economic system.
Hunting, wild rice and maple sugar camps, as well as other seasonal or
temporary settlements alternated with more stable (agricultural) village life,
astructure enhanced by the trade generated through trapping and a moderate
influx of cash and commodity annuities paid by the U.S. as reciprocation for
land cessions. In these early reservation days, the people of White Earth pros-
pered and retained much of the comfortable standard of living enjoyed during
the pre-reservation period.
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Elder Fred Weaver (Windi-
goowub), a leader in the Anishi-
nabe struggle to reclaim the White
Earth Reservation circa 1987.
(Photo: Winona LaDuke)

Within 20 years, however, the federal government began a campaign to
eradicate the reservation and “assimilate” the residents of White Earth into
the “broader American society.” At a national level, the legislation through
which this policy was pursued was called the General Allotment Act (see the
Morris and Jaimes essays in this volume); in specific relation to White Earth,
it was implemented through what was called the Nelson Act. In simplest
terms, the purpose of these laws was to bring about dissolution of the
communally-held Indian landbase by imposing individually titled parcels of
approximately 160 acres each (80 acres at White Earth, under the terms of the
Nelson Act) upon each “federally recognized” Native American. Notonly did
such a system of individuated property ownership have catastrophic impli-
cations in terms of undercutting indigenous concepts of collective (national-
social) identity and the relationship of humans to the land and environment,
it provided a rationalizing mechanism through which non-Indians might
acquire “legal title” to vast tracts of treaty-reserved Indian territory.

The method employed in this regard was as simple as it was illegal under
treaty provisions: at such time as each recognized Indian had received his or
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her allotted parcel, all remaining reservation land wasdeclared “surplus” and
either directly impounded by the government or parceled out as “home-
steads” to individual non-Indians. Further, once the non-Indians had become
entrenched upon former reservation lands, it became a relatively easy matter
for them to con or coerce transfer title of individual Indian allotments to
themselves. By 1920, some 80% of the White Earth Reservation was lost
through this process. As Fred Weaver (Windigoowub), an elder living in Pine
Point village on White Earth, recently put it:

We used to have a lot of them lands here around Pine Point. We had
eight eighties (80 acre allotments). Them land speculators came and
tricked us out of them lands. My mother had an eighty on Many
Point Lake. Now, they tricked her out of that for $50. Now, that’s a
Boy Scout camp. And my father-in-law, Jim Jugg, he hand land too.
And now the county says it owns them lands. All of ‘em. We lived
poor a long time, and we should’ve had all of them lands...

Under provision of both the General Allotmentand Nelson Acts, individual
Indian allotments were supposedly to have been safeguarded by the federal
government through the self-proclaimed trust responsibility it exercised (and
exercises) of Indian assets and affairs. Indian allotments were formally
designated as federal trust lands and consequently, by law, were inalienable
for purposes of private sale. Yet, a whole series of state and federal statutes
were passed during the early 20th century which contradicted this principle,
establishing an utterly racist basis by which precisely such alienation could
occur. One such law, for example, taking note of the fact that “mixed blood
Indians” were deemed “legally competent” by the U.S. congress —as opposed
to “full bloods,” who were legally defined as being “incompetent” — decreed
that sales of allotments by the former would be allowed; as a result, the names
of more than 700 people who had previously been carried on the White Earth
rolls as full bloods suddenly (and mysteriously) appeared on a “revised” roll
asbeing mixed bloods. Simultaneously, a bevy of land sharks materialized on
White Earth, offering the 700 a range of short-term, high interest mortgage
notes with which to engage in “improvements” on their properties. The bulk
of these mortgage instruments were “sealed” with the thumbprint of the
Indian concerned (thus pointing firmly to the conclusion that the Indians were
illiterate, a matter leading to the probability that they were completely
unaware of the terms of the contracts into which they had been persuaded to
enter); when the Indians were unable to make the specified mortgage pay-
ments, their notes were foreclosed and their allotments “legally” expropri-
ated.
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Another statutory ploy which was utilized was for the state of Minnesota to
be allowed to extend its taxation prerogatives over Indian allotments — as
federal trust parcels, these should have been entirely exempt from such
taxation — and for the state to foreclose on the basis of non-payment of such
taxes by poverty-stricken Anishinabe. The state expropriated acreage was
then auctioned off to the same speculative interests which were extending the
shoddy mortgages. All told, about 250,000 acres of 20% of White Earth
remaining in Anishinabe hands after allotment was stripped away through
such patently illegitimate expedients as these.

This booming trade in Anishinabe land led quickly to the emergence of a
number of “border towns” along the reservation boundary, non-Indian
communities which (by their own proud admission) owed their very exis-
tence to what they judged could be gotten “from the skin of the redskin.” In
1906, a feature story in the Minneapolis Tribune was titled “Fleecing the
Indians,” and observed that the development of northern Minnesota was
predicated in a “bitter competitive war to get every inch of Indian land, if
possible.” By the mid-teens, the Anishinabe living at White Earth had been
thoroughly pauperized as a result of the process, a factor which undoubtedly
laid the foundation for the epidemics of tuberculosis and trachoma which
broke outon the reservation during that decade. Maggie Hanks, an elder who
lived all her life in or near White Earth village, summed the matter up
succinctly, shortly before her death in 1985:

Yah, a lot of land was stolen by them people that knew how to do
business...That’s true! I still got my mind real good, [and [ know] we
wouldn’tbe sodog-gone pooras weare [if we stilthad ourland]. But
we're about the poorest people who ever lived, since we lost it...

As the 1920s rolled around, the U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) agent
assigned to the White Earth Agency began referring to the reservation itself
as “a thing of the past,” and created a program of actively encouraging the
Anishinabe to out-migrate to more southerly, urban areas. By 1930, almost
half of the Indians enrolled at White Earth had been displaced from the
reservation, a matter which correlates well with a government finding,
reached in 1934, that only one-in-twelve White Earth residents still retained
their allotment. In 1938, these figures had changed to one-in-twenty and, by
the present era, it is estimated that 94% of the total reservation area remaining
after allotment is in non-Indian hands.

Abortion of the 2415 Process

In 1966, as a result of mounting criticism of its default in protecting Indian
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Who Owns White Earth Reservation?

County Lands:
17.6%

State Lands: 7.1%

Federal Lands: 7.9%

Non-Indian Private Ownership Tribal Lands: 6.8%
60.6%

© 1988, Winona LaDuke

rights, the Congress of the United States suddenly “realized” that the bulk of
all nominally Indian lands was actually in the hands of non-Indians. In a
further “revelation,” congress also found that upwards of half of the contem-
porary reservation population in the U.S. is composed of non-Indians who
“appear to” control the reservation economies, leaving Indians destitute.
Shortly thereafter, congress “discovered” that, although Indians remained
(hypothetically) the most richly endowed single group in North America in
termsof per capitaland and resource holdings, the inactuality experienced far
and away the lowest per capita income of any identifiable population group,
the shortest average lifespan (44.5 years among men, 46 among women), a
near-total incidence of malnutrition, the highest rates of death from plague
disease and exposure, as well as the greatest rates of infant mortality and teen-
age suicide. The standard-of-living exhibited by these “richest of all Ameri-




cans” were found to be “virtually Third World in nature,” and the correlation
between this situation and the loss of Indian control over Indian land was too
obvious to be plausibly denied.

Under a certain degree of public scrutiny, congress responded by passing
CFR25, Section 2415 of which mandated a federal investigation into the nature
of land transactions on 40 reservations during the preceding approximately
60 year period. It took until 1978 for this “2415 Investigation” process to reach
White Earth, and until 1981 for federal investigators to really begin to
interview elders on the reservation, many of whom had been among the
original allottees and who therefore held first-hand recollections of how
individual land parcels had been stolen. Meanwhile, other researchers were
exploring county records, attempting to follow the routes by which various
allotment deeds had been transferred over the years. Thislatter group quickly
found that their task was greatly complicated by the fact that the BIA had
suspended much of its record-keeping with regard to property transfers, and
the probating of Indian estates, for nearly 70 years; the Bureau was forced to
“explain” that this was because it felt the state of Minnesota held civil
jurisdiction over such federal trust property, a position holding no basis at all
in federal law.

In 1982, with less than 30% of its examination complete, the 2415 investigat-
ing team published a preliminary list of several hundred land parcels on
White Earth which it felt to be currently deeded under “questionable title”
(thatis, to have been transferred under conditions of fraud or other illegality).
The title to such parcels was consequently “clouded,” and thus could not be
legally sold or otherwise transferred again until appropriate litigation oc-
curred on a case-by-case basis. This, in turn, meant that such property could
not be used as collateral to secure mortgages or other sorts of loans until such
time as title was officially “cleared” or “quieted” in federal court, a procedure
which could take years. In essence, each parcel which appeared on the
investigators’ list might rightly be described as having been rendered useless
to its present “owners.”

Non-Indian response was swift. Within a few months, the 2415 Investiga-
tion at White Earth was suspended “indefinitely” at the specific request of
Congressman Arlan Strangeland, representing the district in which the reser-
vation falls. Responding to pressures imposed by a variety of propertied
lobby groups, Strangeland then authored a bill, submitted to the U.S. House
of Representatives in early 1983, calling for congress to permanently abort the
investigative and judicial processes by unilaterally extinguishing Indian title
on White Earth vis 4 vis any land parcel now deeded to a non-Indian.
According to the congressman, the Indians could be “adequately compen-
sated” in cash for “any property which might have at some historical point
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been wrongfully taken from them.” This, in his view, would hold true
whether or not said Indians desired such compensation; no mention was
made of the fact that non-Indians might as easily be compensated for any loss
they might incur in the process of a governmental restoration of wrongfully
taken Anishinabe lands.

Strangeland couched his proposed legislation in terms of being a way to “act
in fairness” to those non-Indians who had “purchased property in good faith
within the reservation boundaries” and to “avoid conflict” between Indians
and non-Indians within his northern Minnesota congressional district. The
“fundamental issue,” according to the congressman, was whether “citizens”
(meaning non-Indians) might be “evicted from their homes” (as the Anishi-
nabe had been) in a “misbegotten” congressional effort to render “after-the-
fact justice” to American Indians. By utilizing such “humanitarian” rhetoric
and playing upon the fundamentally anti-Indian sentiments of the congres-
sional status quo, Strangeland had attracted considerable support to his
“remedy” by 1984. The 2415 process, which initially seemed to offer some
basis for solution of the problems of Anishinabe people at White Earth,
appears to have been totally abandoned as a result.

The Birth of Anishinabe Akeeng

As all this was going on, a new reservation-based Indian group — Anishi-
nabe Akeeng (People’s Land Organization) — was created on White Earth,
through which to pursue land recovery, with or without federal cooperation.
There was, of course, always an indigenous movement to block, or at least
resist the expropriation of reserved territory, and to recover that which had
beenillegally taken. This was brought out quite clearly in an 1874 observation
of Mississippi Band leader, Wabunoquod:

Land cessions always mean the loss of political power. Cash pay-
ments for land mean little if a tribe has no political power and,
consequently, no control over the money paid for the land. Land
cessions lead to poverty. Poverty always leads to further removal
from the land. Any reservation of the land has to include
the...resources of the land...When I heard that our pine had been
sold without consulting us, I cried and prayed that it might not be
wrested from us without our consent...

The record reveals that during the allotment period, at the turn of the
century, the Anishinabe leadership collectively opposed imposition of federal
land disbursement policies, and persistently attempted to haul those who
speculated on the results of the Nelson Act into court. That justice in such
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matters was not forthcoming from the federal judiciary in 1910 in no way
reflects upon the fact that the Anishinabe all along attempted to secure it.

In 1982, as the 2415 investigation was reaching its standstill, Anishinabe
Akeeng set out to establish an autonomous Indian position on the questions
of land title and recovery. Using the investigation’s tentative list of clouded
titles as a point of departure, the group began conducting its own interviews
with White Earth elders in order to round out a detailed picture of what had
happened to the landbase from a distinctly Anishinabe point of view, putting
together a preliminary oral history of the land expropriations for utilization
in a community education project. This was supplemented with video tapes
of various attorneys discussing the people’s rights under existing law, and
mimeographed analyses of currently proposed legislation designed to extin-
guish Indian land titles once-and-for-all. In mecting after meeting, the people
of White Earthreiterated to the members of Anishinabe Akeeng that theirland
was not for sale, and had never been; in essence, their near-unanimous
position was that the thieves should be compelled to return what had been
stolen.

In response, the federal government accelerated its extension of cash offers
to induce the tribal council to “settle” the land issue on the reservation. Arlan
Strangeland himself proposed the payment of $3 million as compensation for
the approximately 800,000 acres most immediately contested. Strangeland
then attempted to convince the council that his would be the only “serious
offer,” although he immediately upped the ante to $5 million when 400 White
Earth enrollees showed up at a council meeting to demand that the tribal
government reject his initial offer outright. The $5 million package was also
rejected, almost as rapidly as it was submitted. By 1985, the federal govern-
ment was suggesting that $20 million would constitute “an appropriate
compensation” for the land at White Earth, but were getting no further in
gaining Anishinabe acceptance of the idea than they had at the onset.

The reason for this was, in no small part, the fact that as each federal offer was
tendered, Anishinabe Akeeng quickly analyzed it and then launched a public
education campaign — composed of meetings, public fora, etc.— on a reserva-
tion-wide basis to acquaint the people with the specifics of what was being
proposed. Aware of the details of what was to be done to them, most
Anishinabe people were willing to articulate and act upon their resistance to
it. From this basis, the organization also assisted in sending a series of
delegations to Washington, D.C., in a sustained effort to educate members of
the U.S. Congress on the history of the White Earthland claim, the Anishinabe
relationship to the land, and thus the basis for what was apparently seen by
many congresspeople as the Indians’ “obstinate” resistance to “reasonable
solutions.”
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“Settlement” and Resistance

Despite such clear opposition from the grassroots Anishinabe of the reser-
vation, the “White Earth Settlement Act” was signed into law in March of
1986. The arrogance of this federal action stunned the community, which
subsequently announced that resistance would not only continue, but

increase. The reasons for this were/are framed as follows:

1)

2)

3)

Clearing title to lands already illegally taken within the
White Earth Reservation was/is seen as a preliminary step
toward complete dissolution (“termination”) of the reserva-
tion. This, in turn, was/is seen as an extremely dangerous
contemporary precedent which might well be used by the
government against other reservations and other peoples.

The basic unconstitutionality by which the White Earth land
expropriations had occurred, if we were to now sanction
them by conveying our agreement that “what’s done is
done,” would setan extremely dangerous precedent, not just
for Indians, but for all people in the U.S. This concerns the
legal procedures supposedly guaranteeing people’s rights
with regard to inheritance, probate, etc. The way the White
Earth land expropriations have been handled should be of
serious concern to non-Indian ranchers and family farmers,
albeita small handful of them stand to gain (however tempo-
rarily) from the Settlement Act. Indians are by no means the
only ones the government and major corporate interests
stand to dispossess and disenfranchise in the ongoing proc-
ess of nation-state consolidation.

Evenif the Anishinabeas a whole were willing to forego their
principles and their land rights (which they aren’t), the so-
called compensation package attending the Settlement Act
would still be a slap in the face. As has been noted, the
uncompensated taking of Anishinabe land has all along
resulted in the reduction of the people to dire poverty and an
ensuing raft of negative social and physical consequences.
Conversely, itis documentably true that illegal possession of
Anishinabe land during the 20th century has been utilized as
the basis for enrichment of the local (and state, regional and
national) non-Indian economy. Literally, their wealth and




comfort have been translated into our poverty and pain. For
the government to now suggest that we might be adequately
compensated for this by an award of the “cash value” of our
land “at the time of taking” - circa 1910 — with no reference
to what we havelost and experienced in the interim, is worse
than a travesty. It plainly implies that non-Indians are en-
titled to their “place” (as colonizers) while we must be
content with “ours” (as the colonized).

Integral to the Anishinabe decision to continue to resist was the idea that this
struggle should be waged largely within the U.S. legal system, seeking to
establish elements of law which would serve not only to satisfactorily resolve
our own immediate problems, but which might serve to protect other Indians
and even non-Indians fromsimilar situations in the future. By June of 1986, we
had assembled a nationallegal team-including Wisconsin attorney Kurt Blue
Dog and the New York-based Center for Constitutional Rights —to pursue the
overturning of the White Earth Land Settlement Act, and to bring about the
return of our land. The first step in this direction was taken in October of 1986,
with the filing of Manypenny v. U.S., a lawsuit with the U.S. Eighth Circuit
Court and designed to challenge the expropriation of reservation lands
through the foreclosures brought about through illegal imposition of state
and county taxes.

This was followed, in March of 1987, by the filing of another suit, Littlewolf
v.U.S.,arguing thatlegislation such as the Settlement Act are unconstitutional
insofar as they violate 5th Amendment guarantees to “just compensation,”
“due process,” and “equal protection under the law.” In January, 1988, we
filed yet another suit, Fineday v. U.S. (also with the Eighth Circuit Court)
predicated on essentially the same grounds as Manypenny. Through such
litigation, we haveintended to demonstrate to the federal government that we
would not simply accept what it chooses to do to us lying down.

We are, however, faced with a U.S. court system which has generally shown
itself to be less honorable than even the congress. The Eighth Circuit Court has
historically rendered a number of adverse decisions concerning Indian land
claims and the rights of individual Indian allottees (or their heirs) to their land
parcels. While none of our cases have yet been decided, in February of 1988
Federal District Judge David Doty entered a preliminary ruling in Manypenny
to the effect that he considered most of our legal issues “invalid,” given that
ourland had been taken “solongago.” In substance, Doty’s opinion holds that
the federal and state governments cannot now be sued insofar as a “statute of
limitations of six years was in effect at the time of the original taking in 1910,”
and that this statute would have been binding on all parties at that time,

69




N

whether or not they had been aware of it, and whether or not the U.S. Burcau
of Indian Affairs can now be shown to have defaulted on its admitted
responsibility to have made Indians aware of it. To be clear: Doty did not
suggest that ourlands had not beenillegally taken fromus; he simply asserted
that it doesn’t matter.

A supreme irony may, however, be associated with Doty’s reasoning and
indeed the whole present governmental posture. Just as the Settlement Act
and the judge’s absurd argument would seem to be clearing the way for a
resumption of non-Indian “business as usual” on and around White Earth,
“For Sale” signs have begun to sprout on non-Indian-held properties all over
thereservation. Literally thousands of acres of farmlands as well as numerous
resorts and summer homes have been put on the market, most of it at what can
be considered a fair price. The past decade of open Anishinabe land recovery
activity has taken its toll in terms of the non-Indians” willingness to remain
“invested” in the area, a factor which stands to severely undercut the thrust
and utility of both federal and state land tenure policies. Hence, even if the
strategy of litigation entered into by Anishinabe Akeeng fails to bear fruit in
terms of actual courtroom decisions, the very fact that it has been attempted
— that resistance has continued regardless of adversity — may lead to its
ultimate success.

A Basis for Solution

Anishinabe Akeeng has always maintained that, so long as the people did
not give up the struggle for land recovery, they would eventually win. The
organization has held that, in the end, it would prove cheaper and “more
practical” for the government to “buy out” local non-Indians (as opposed to
“compensating” Indians), thereby quieting title in favor of the Anishinabe.
This, in combination with the approximately 200,000 reservation acres pres-
ently controlled directly by government (federal, state and county) which
could also be deeded back to the people of White Earth, would constitute the
basis for a truly meaningful land “restoration.” Recovery of their treaty-
guaranteed landbase would, in turn, enable the Mississippi, Pillager and
Pembina Bands to (re)construct viable socio-economic systems. This, to be
sure, adds up to the only real basis for solution to the historically accrued
problems now afflicting the Anishinabe.

So, while Anishinabe Akeeng and the people of White Earth continue to
explore avenues of litigation by which to pursueland claims, the organization
has also developed a long-term land recovery program based in other tactical
expedients. The question of the final success of these particular plans of course
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\.\ains to be seen. What is clear, however, is that the success or failure of the
White Earth land struggle is pivotal to the issue of ongoing Indian land
occupancy throughout the Great Lakes region, and perhaps the U.S. more
generally. Thus, if the present plans fail, new ones will be formulated and the
struggle will continue, asithas continued through the past dozen generations.
For the Anishinabe, the question is one of sheer survival. The key here is that
in struggle there are always both hope and potential. And in such things,
survival may be found. '

For further information contact:

Anishinabe Akeeng
via P.O. Box 356
White Earth, MN 56591
or
1530 E. Franklin Ave.
Minneapolis, MN 55404
U.S.A.
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Nuclearization of the Western Shoshone Nation

by Bernard Nietschman and William LaBon

All nuclear weapon states explode their bombs on unconsenting nations. No
nuclear state tests bombs on its own lands and peoples. Americans don’t set
off nuclear weapons in Santa Barbara or Washington; they bomb the Western
Shoshone Nation. Russians bomb Kazakhstan, Han Chinese bomb Uygur
territory, French bomb Tuamotu Island peoples. Great Britain has bombed
both Australian Aboriginal nations and the Western Shoshone. All nuclear
states are composed of many nations but each is controlled by a single nation
that has the bomb. Britain’s bomb is English, not Irish; the Soviet bomb is
Russian, not Ukrainian; the French bomb is Parisian, not Corsican; the
Chinese bomb is Han, not Tibetan; and the U.S. bomb is White American, not
Lakotan.

From England with Love

If the English were to test their nuclear bombs on or under Ulster (Northern
Ireland), open warfare and worldwide condemnation would result. Instead,
the English bomb distant nations to see how their nuclear weapons would
work if they were used to bomb near-by nations. From 1952 to 1963 the English
exploded nine above-ground bombs on at least 11 Aboriginal nations in
Australia. Permission was not sought from Aboriginal peoples, nor were they
warned. Radioactive contamination was widespread and entry into large
contaminated areas is prohibited today. In 1980 an Adelaide newspaper
interviewed a Yankunytjatjara survivor of a 1953 English above-ground
nuclear test. The witness told of hearing the explosion and then seeing the
black mist sweep across their land. The people dug holes in the sand dunes for
their children; then the old people covered the children with their bodies. Two
days afterwards, “everyone was vomiting and had diarrhea and people were
laid out everywhere. Next day people had very sore eyes, red with tears and
I could not open my eyes. Some were partly blind and I lost the sight in my
right eye...Five days after the black cloud came, the old people started dy-
ing.”

During the late 1950s and early 1960s Great Britain used Christmas Island as
atestsite (today a partof independentKiribati) and “borrowed” U.S.-annexed

This essay was originally published in, and is reprinted with the kind permission
of Cultural Survival Quarterly.
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\/newetak Island (Marshall Islands) for other tests. The 1963 Limited Test Ban

Treaty prohibited further atmospheric and underwater nuclear explosions.
Great Britainand the U.S. concluded thatunderground testing onthe annexed
coral islands was too dangerous; they subsequently moved their nuclear
weapons facilities from Pacific nations to the Western Shoshone Nation.
(Curiously, as Great Britain and the U.S. were shifting from annexed coral
island nations to an annexed desert nation, the 1962 Algerian Revolution
forced the French from their annexed desert nation to an annexed coral island
nation — Tuamotu in the Pacific.)

The Most Bombed Nation in the World

The U.S. dropped two nuclear bombs on Japan in 1945, Since 1963, the U.S.
has exploded 651 nuclear weapons and “devices” on Newe Sogobia, the
Western Shoshone Nation; Great Britain has set off 19 in the same region.
Newe Sogobia could also be bombed by the USS.R. if Washington and
Moscow agree to set off nuclear explosions in each other’s test site in order to
calibrate test ban detection equipment. Additionally, Washington plans
hundreds more nuclear explosions as part of its Strategic Defense Initiative
(“Star Wars”).

Because they destroy, the 670 nuclear explosions in Newe Sogobia have been
classified by the Western Shoshone National Council as bombs rather than
“tests.” The purpose of abombis to destroy; if the “tests” were not destructive,
they would be performed in the “Americans’ “ territory. A part of the nation
of Newe Sogobia has been destroyed by the nuclear bombs from two nuclear
powers. No treaty, accord, agreement, vote or sale exists that gives the U.S.
permission to explode nuclear bombs or devices on or under the Western
Shoshone Nation. Thebombs constitute an attack against the Shoshone nation
because they destroy part of it. The U.S. nuclear test site is located in another
nation that does not consent to U.S. occupation and the explosion of U.S.
nuclear weapons. The U.S. cannot show ownership of the test sitc; the Western
Shoshones can.

In 1863 representatives of the U.S. and the Western Shoshones signed the
Treaty of Ruby Valley. The U.S. proposed the treaty in order to end Shoshone
armed defense of Sogobia, acquire gold from the territory and establish
protected communication and transportation routes to California. President
Lincoln needed gold from California and Sogobia to finance the North’s forces
in the Civil War, but Shoshone resistance blocked this strategic east-west
corridor. The treaty ended hostilities; averted further massacres of unarmed
Shoshones; and gave the U.S. use rights for stagecoach, railway and telegraph
routes, military posts, and lands for mining, agriculture and ranching. The
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treaty recognized Shoshone territorial sovereignty; no ownershiprights were
transferred. The U.S. Senate ratified the treaty in 1866 and President Grant
confirmed it in 1869. The treaty is still in effect.

The nation of Newe Sogobia has an area of some 43,000 square miles (about
the size of Honduras) bounded by western Nevada, southern Idaho, eastern
Utahand the Mojave Desert in southeastern California. To invade and occupy
this large nation the U.S. hasemployed arange of land-grabbing strategies not
covered or permitted by the treaty. The U.S. has usurped almost 90 percent of
Shoshone lands and resources and placed them under the control of the
Department of the Interior (Burcau of Land Management, ForestService, Park
Service, Fish and Wildlife, etc.), Department of Energy (Atomic Energy
Commission), Department of Defense, Department of Transportation and
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\Aany other agencies used as part of the occupation. But Western Shoshone

people assert their nation cannot be taken, sold or bought by people of another
nation regardless of how much Indian land is needed for “national defense”
or for conservation, recreation and profit for non-Shoshones.

Western Shoshone claims to their territory have promoted a Supreme Court
case? over ownership — a setback to development of the MX “racetrack”
missile system. Shoshone have title to the proposed Great Basin site and have
been demonstrating against nuclear testing within Newe Sogobia. The U.S.
has offered $26 million (about $1.50 per acre) to “extinguish” Western
Shoshone title to territory covered by the treaty. Rather than sell their nation
for $26 million, the Shoshones should receive approxima tely $670 million in
back rent for land used for several U.S. military bases and installations in
Newe Sogobia. This rough estimate is based on the arca of the military bases
and the amount of money the U.S. gives to Spain, Turkey and the Philippines
in exchange for military bases in those countries.

Nuclear Trespassing

In 1986 the Western Shoshone National Council began issuing one-and two-
day permits to be on Shoshone land to demonstrators at the Nevada test site.
The strategy was to use arrests for trespassing as a means of demonstrating
that the U.S. cannot accuse someone of trespassing on land it does not own.
The government of the Western Shoshone wants to show thatitis the U.S. who
is trespassing. The following information accompanied the permit.

The United States, Britain and France have all chosen to forcibly invade
sovereign native nations for the purpose of testing nuclear weapons. Obvi-
ously, they do not want to contaminateand destroy theirown lands, and expose
their own peopleto the health hazards of such tests. The United States hastested
nuclear weapons here in Nevada on the lands of the Western Shoshone Nation,
in Alaska on the lands of the Natives and in the South Pacific on islands
belonging to Polynesians. The Western Shoshone Nation is calling upon
citizens of the United States, as well as the world community of nations, to
demand that the United States terminate its invasion of our lands for the evil
purpose of testing nuclear bombs and other weapons of war. We must have
your political help because we are militarily unable to resist the United States.
(Western Shoshone National Council, “Western Shoshone Land Rightsand the
Nevada Nuclear Test Site”).

Whether the Western Shoshone and their increasing numbers of allies are
ultimately able to triumph in their struggle is a critical issue and of the utmost
importance, notonly in terms of indigenousrights, but with regard to the very
survival of the planet.
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End Notes
1  Akwesasne Notes, Fall 1984, p. 18.

2 United States of America v. Mary and Carrie Dann, 470 U.S. 39, 1985.

For more information write:

Western Shoshone National Council
P. O. Box 68
Duckwater, NV 893143
U.S.A.
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The “Go Road Decision”

A Frontal Assault Upon American Indian Religious Freedom

by Glenn T. Morris

On April 19, 1988 the United States Supreme Court denied relief to tradi-
tional Yurok, Karok and Tolawa Indians who had claimed their traditional
sites would be destroyed by the construction of a logging access road on
federal lands; the court said that the charge could not be upheld under the US.
Constitution. In the case, Lyng v. Northwest Indian Cemetery Protective
Association, the Supreme Court overruled two lower court opinions which
upheld the Indian claims. The lower court decisions found that the road,
which was constructed in the Chimney Rock section of the Six Rivers National
Forest in northern California, would have significant adverse effect on the
Indians” ceremonial practices. The decisions held that such infringements
violated the Free Exercise of Religion Clause of the First Amendment to the
Constitution.

Inreversing the lower court opinions, Justice Sandra Day O’ Connor, writing
for the majority, held thatevenif the Indians’ culture was irreversibly harmed
and their ability to practice their religion was destroyed by construction of the
road, “the Constitution simply does not provide a principle that could justify
upholding [the Indians’] claim.” “Government simply could not operate,”
O’Connor concluded, “if it were required to satisfy every citizen’s religious
needs and desires.”

For several years, indigenous leaders have criticized the weakness of the
American Indian Religious Freedom Act (AIRFA) because it did not provide
sufficient protection for traditional practices on federal lands such as those
involved in the Lyng case. In its opinion, the high court bolstered such
criticism by writing that AIRFA “hasno teethinit,” and that the statute creates
no cause of action for indigenous peoples who believe the U.S. government
has infringed upon their spiritual rights. Lyng, dubbed the “Go Road Deci-
sion” by its opponents, is only the latest in a series of recent federal court
opinions in which the traditional practices of indigenous peoples have lost in
a “balancing test” with the interests of the dominant society. In one such case,
Wilson v. Block, the courts upheld the interests of federal leases to a ski resort
over the claim of traditional Diné (Navajo) and Hopi people to use the same
mountain for their traditional purposes.

In a vigorous dissent from Lyng, Justice William Brennan, Jr. - speaking in
behalf of Justices Thurgood Marshall and Harry Blackmum, as well as himself
— wrote that the majority position had stripped American Indian peoples “of
any constitutional protection against perhaps the most serious threat to their
age-old religious practices, and indeed their entire way of life.” The majority
position, Brennan continued, produced a “cruelly surreal result...that govern-

77



ment action that will virtually destroy a religion is nevertheless deemed not
to ‘burden’ that religion.”

Such ramifications of the Go Road Decision may be particularly harsh for the
traditional people of the Big Mountain area of the Diné and Hopi Nations.
Under provisions of Public Law 93-531, the Diné are being forced to relocate
from their sacred lands. In a move to forestall this relocation, attorneys re-
presenting the Big Mountain Diné have filed a lawsuit claiming that their
forced removal from their land would represent a violation of their rights
to free exercise of religion under the First Amendment of the Constitution
because of fundamental spiritual links between the Diné and the territory
at issue. The Big Mountain attorneys are holding that the courts should
preclude the federal government from undertaking any affirmative steps
which would result in the denial of indigenous spiritual freedom, particu-
larly within federal “trust lands” (such as national parks or forests, and
Indian reservations).

Although such site-specific claims have been made (sometimes success-
fully) in the past, this is the first time that forced relocation of an indigenous
people has been the basis for an alleged infringement of their religious
freedom. Given the magnitude of energy interests involved, and the fact that
the outright destruction of the Big Mountain Diné as such is at issue, the stakes
of the suit are particularly high.

According to Lee Brooke Phillips, lead attorney for the Big Mountain legal
defense effort, the Diné are optimistic that they will be able to persuade the
courts that their case is different from other Indian religious freedom cases
which have been denied over the past few years. The acid test for such hopes
may not in the end lie so much in the extent to which the Big Mountain
argument can be distinguished from others as in the extent to which the
federal judiciary may be able to overcomeits intrinsicintolerance toward non-
judeo-christian religions. In the sense that this is true, the Go Road Decision
and the mentality it expresses looms as a major barrier to American Indians
securing even rudimentary justice under the laws of the United States.

End Notes
1 56 U.S. Law Week 4292.
2 42 US.C.A. §1996 (1978).
For further information, write:
No G-O Fund
P.O. Box 240
Eureka, CA 95502
U.S.A.
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The Continuing Struggle of Leonard Peltier

by Jim Vander Wall

how many have come before?
and I wonder how many more
must be lost to the Indian wars...

- Jim Page
A Song for Leonard Peltier

Leonard Peltier is a prisoner of war, one of the many victims of a covert war
waged by the United States government against the American Indian Move-
ment (AIM) and itssupporters. This operation, conducted by America’s secret
political police - the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) — during the mid-
1970s, left scores of activists dead, hundreds injured, and many of the
survivors imprisoned. Peltier, an AIM activist, is now serving two consecu-
tive life sentences in Leavenworth federal prison, allegedly for the murder of
two FBI agents. The two were killed in a June 26, 1975 firefight on the Pine
Ridge Oglala Sioux Reservation in the state of South Dakota. Both the charges
on which he has been incarcerated and the evidence on which his conviction
was obtained are complete fabrications of the FBL

Peltier, an Anishinabe-Lakota, was born in 1944 in North Dakota and grew
up on the Turtle Mountain Reservation there. In 1958, during a period when
the U.S. was attempting to “terminate” reservations and relocate Indians to
urban ghettos, he joined his relatives in the Pacific Northwest, living in Seattle
(Washington) and Portland (Oregon). Peltier first became involved with
AlM-style politics when he participated in the 1970 occupation of Ft. Lawton,
an abandoned military base which was legally Indian land. It was at Ft.
Lawton that Peltier first became acquainted with AIM organizers.

After the occupation ended, Peltier became increasingly involved in AIM
activities. In 1972, he was a Milwaukee (Wisconsin) organizer for the Trail of
Broken Treaties, a march from reservations across the country to the U.S.
government’s Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) Building in Washington, D.C.in-
tended to focus public attention on the oppression of Indian people. When the
caravan reached Washington on November 3, Peltier was one of those chosen
to direct security. While Trail leaders were attempting to negotiate with BIA
officials on a twenty-point program of reforms, supporters waiting in the
lobby of the BIA Building were attacked by club-wielding police. The police
were overpowered and thrown out. What started as an attempt to evict the
Indians turned into an occupation as the doors were barricaded to prevent the
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Leonard Peltier in his cell at
the"super-maximum" security
federal prison at Marion, I11,,
1983. In 1985, he was moved to
the standard maximum secu-
rity facility at Leavenworth,
Kan. (Photo: Michel DuBois)
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police fromre-entering and BIA employees left via the windows. Indians held
the building until November 9, when the government agreed to an amnesty
for the occupiers and to respond to the twenty points. The occupiers returned
to their homes taking with them, in some cases, BIA records documenting its
program of systematic expropriation of Indian lands and resources.

It wasapparently following The Trail of Broken Treaties that Leonard Peltier
was targeted for “neutralization” by the FBI. On November 22, 1972 Pelticr
was attacked ina Milwaukee diner by two off-duty policemen. He was beaten
severely and then charged with attempted murder of one of the policemen.
Peltier spent five months in jail before he could make bail, and went under-
ground soon after he was released. He was eventually tried and acquitted on
the charges. During the trial one of the policemen’s former girl friends
testified that around the time of the incident he had shown her a picture of
Peltier and boasted of “catching a big one for the FBL.”

A Reign of Terror on Pine Ridge

In1972, as the Trail of Broken Treaties marched on Washington, Richard
“Dick” Wilson was elected as Pine Ridge’s Tribal President, becoming head
of a colonial regime created by the U.S. to administer the reservation for the
benefit of non-Indian ranchers and corporations. Pine Ridge was the scene of
a growing activism on the part of traditional Oglalas (i.e.: those who attempt
to follow the spiritual and cultural ways of their ancestors) to regain control
of the lands and resources guaranteed them by the 1868 Fort Laramie Treaty. It
was Dick Wilson’s primary objective to suppress this movement. To this
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purpose he created a private army, called the GOONs (Guardians of the
Oglala Nation), equipped and funded by the U.S. government. As the GOONs
began a campaign of terrorism directed against traditionals and activists
returning home from the Trail of Broken Treaties, the FBI - responsible for the
investigation of serious crimes on Indian reservations — consistently ignored
complaints of civil rights violations, harassment of activists and assaults. The
FBI’s inaction, in light of the increasingly serious nature of the charges, gave
rise to the suspicion that the GOON’s were acting with the collusion, if not the
direction, of federal authorities. Complaints filed with the Bureau of Indian
Affairs (BIA) police bore even less fruit. This was hardly surprising, since
there was considerable overlap in personnel between the GOONs and the BIA
police who, in any case, acted under Wilson’s direction.

In February 1973, traditional Oglalas asked the American Indian Movement
for assistance in dealing with GOON violence. On the 28th of the month,
following a meeting near Pine Ridge village, a caravan of several hundred
traditionals, AIM members and supporters drove to Wounded Knee and
occupied the tiny village as a symbolic gesture of protest. They awoke the next
morning to find themselves surrounded by scores of heavily armed FBI
agents, U.S. marshals, GOONs and vigilantes. The occupiers issued a state-
ment demanding hearings on treaties and an investigation of the BIA and
gave the government the choice of negotiating their demands or removing
them by force. The besiegers soon reinforced their positions with additional
personnel and weaponry. Thus began the 71-day siege of Wounded Knee
which focused world attention on the Pine Ridge Reservation.

U.S. military “advisors” were directly, and illegally, involved in the siege,
almost from its inception and military weaponry poured onto the reservation.
Tank-like vehicles called armored personnel carriers, Bell “Huey” helicop-
ters, .50 calibre heavy machine guns, M-79 grenade launchers and M-16
assault rifles were brought to bear on the occupiers. The hundreds of thou-
sands of rounds of ammunition fired into the hamlet claimed the lives of two
warriors — Frank Clearwater and Buddy Lamont — and wounded dozens
more. A number of supporters who were backpacking supplies into the
village at night through the federal siege lines simply disappeared. It is
generally believed that they were murdered by GOON patrols and were
buried somewhere on the reservation. The siege ended in May of 1973 with an
agreement by the U.S. government to negotiate on treaty issues.?

The siege led to the arrest of 562 people of whom 185 were indicted for the
most part on charges which were completely groundless and eventually
dismissed. Only 15 people were ever convicted on charges stemming from
Wounded Knee, most on minor offenses such as interfering with a federal
officer or on “collateral” charges resulting from the trials themselves, such as
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contempt. The judicial proceedings in the cases which went to trial were
tainted with government misconduct. The “Wounded Knee Leadership
Trial” of Russell Means and Dennis Banks is a classic example of such use of
the courts to pursue political ends. Charges in this case were dismissed by
Judge Fred Nichol after the government was found to have knowingly
presented false evidence, infiltrated the defense team with an FBI informant
and lied to the judge about both of these issues. In dismissing the case, an
angry Judge Nichol wrote:

Iam forced to conclude that the prosecution acted inbad faith at various times
throughout the trial and was seeking convictions at the expense of
justice...The fact that incidents of misconduct formed a pattern throughout
the course of the trial leads me to the belief that this case was not prosecuted
in good faith or in the spirit of justice. The waters of justice have been
polluted, and dismissal, I believe, is the appropriate cure for the pollution..?

Sucha patternof misconduct would emerge in the trials of many AIM activists
over the next four years, but, unfortunately, few federal judges had the
integrity of Judge Nichol.

While the Wounded Knee cases dragged onin the courts, violence escalated
on Pine Ridge. In the two years following the beginning of the occupation,
more than forty AIM members and supporters died at the hands of the
GOONSs and hundreds were victims of assaults and harassment. Dick Wilson
was returned to office in 1974 inan election described by the U.S. Commission
of Civil Rights as being “permeated with fraud.”* Government inaction on
Wilson'’s abuses was taken by Wilson as license to physically destroy AIM. In
the first five months of 1975, the Commission on Civil Rights recorded
eighteen homicides on Pine Ridge and the situation had become so tense that
few dared to leave their homes without carrying guns. The rate of political
murders on the reservation for the period 1972-1976 was 170 per 100,000,
almost exactly the rate for Chile in the three years following the U.S.-
supported coup of Augusto Pinochet.

Throughout this entire period the FBI failed to obtain a single conviction for
the murder of an AIM activist and complaints of assault and harassment went
uninvestigated. Confronted with this singular absence of success in carrying
out their legally mandated mission, the FBI asserted that “lack of manpower”*
prevented them from investigating complaints. Yet a brief look at FBI force
levels during the same period shows that, between mid-1972 and mid-1973,
the personnel assigned to the Rapid City resident agency —whose attention at
that time focused almost exclusively on Pine Ridge - increased from 3 to 11.
In 1973 a 10-man Special Weapons and Tactics (SWAT) team was assigned to
the village of Pine Ridge, giving the reservation the highest ratio of agents to
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citizens of any area of the U.S. Clearly, it was not lack of manpower which
impaired investigation of crimes against AIM members and supporters, but
a conscious policy of selective prosecution. While the FBI compiled massive
files on AIM members and jailed them for even minor offenses, the most
serious crimes committed by the GOONs - murders, rapes, and felony
assaults — were not so much as investigated. In effect, open season was
declared on AIM and its supporters.

During 1973 and 1974, Peltier and the Northwest AIM group to which he
belonged had become increasing involved in providing security support for
AIM encampment on the land of the Jumping Bull family near the Pine Ridge
village of Oglala. They came at the request of local organizers and traditional
elders to protect the community from GOON attacks which had been particu-
larly intense in the Oglala area, regarded asa bastion of traditionalism. During
the late spring GOON activity decreased around Oglala due to the AIM
presence. The camp became a center of spiritual activities, attracting local
youth who were preparing for the sun dance.

During the same period, however, there were increasingly numerous indi-
cations of FBI interest in the AIM camp. During the first week of June, an FBI
memo noted “there are pockets of Indian population which consist almost
exclusively of American Indian Movement...members and their supporters
on the Reservation.”¢* The memo went on to state, falsely, that fortified
enclaves had been built which would require armored vehicles to successfully
assault. No such fortifications actually existed, but such disinformation had
the effect of “psyching-up” agents for an armed confrontation with AIM.

The Oglala Firefight

On June 25,1975, FBI Special Agents (SAs) Ronald Williams and Jack Coler
entered the Jumping Bull Compound, ostensibly searching for a young
Oglala, Jimmy Eagle, on charges of “kidnapping, aggravated assault and
aggravated robbery.” The charges stemmed from abrawlinvolving Eagle and
some other teenagers who had been drinking together. During thealtercation,
Eagle and his friends had taken a pair of cowboy boots from one of the other
boys who later filed acomplaint. The only warrant issued for Eagle, dated two
weeks later, was for robbery. So with dozens of murders of AIM members and
supporters uninvestigated due to “lack of manpower,” two FBI agents were
assigned to look for a teenager, suspected, at most, of the theft of a pair of used
cowboy boots. Later the same day, three youths from the AIM camp were
detained and questioned by the FBI on suspicion of being Jimmy Eagle.
Interestingly, they were questioned not about Eagle but about who was at the
camp.
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By the next morning, June 26, 1975 it was clear that something ominous was
in the offing. Oglalaresidents noted thatlarge numbers of paramilitary troops
- GOON s, BIA police, state troopers, U.S. marshals and FBI SWAT tecams —
were massing in the arca. Around 11:30 a.m., SAs Coler and Williams drove
back onto the Jumping Bull compound and headed toward the AIM camp.
According to witnesses, the agents stopped their cars and began firing toward
the houses in the compound. Hearing the gunfire, members of the camp
believed themselves to be under attack from GOONSs or vigilantes. They
rushed toward the sound of the firing and, observing two white men in
civilian clothes shooting at the houses, began to return fire. Shortly thereafter,
federal reinforcements began to pour onto the Jumpirig Bull property. Radio
transmissions from SA Williams indicate that the agents expected immediate
reinforcements. Unfortunately for them, one of the teenagers from the camp
had managed to position himself to cover the approach to the Compound, and
shotout the tires of the first two cars to arrive, driven by SA J. Gary Adams and
Fred Two Bulls, a BIA policeman and known GOON. Confronted with this
unexpected turn of events, Adams and Two Bulls beat a hasty retreat,
abandoning Coler and Williams to their fate.

By early afternoon, police forces involved in the firefight had increased to
nearly 200. They faced a group of what, by FBI estimates, was about 30
Indians: the eight or so adults and teenagers from the AIM camp augmented
by local supporters who had gravitated to the Jumping Bull Compound that
morning uponsignsof animpending federal assault. By 6 p.m. the FBI, further
reinforced by a SWAT team flown in from Quantico, Virginia, decided they
had sufficient personnel to assault the Compound. The assault team deter-
mined that Agents Colerand Williams were dead, killed relatively early in the
firefight, and that the defenders had disappeared. Also killed in the firefight
was AIM member Joe Stuntz Killsright, who, according to official reports,
died from a bullet, fired at long range by an FBI sniper, which struck him in
the forehead. Conflicting reports of the nature of Killsright's wounds have
given rise to the suspicion that he may have been wounded during the
firefight and then executed by the FBI.

The Invasion of Pine Ridge

Although the deaths of Agents Coler and Williams were probably an
unintended consequence, the provocation of the firefight achieved its in-
tended objective: the justification of a massive paramilitary assault on AIM.
By the following day, there were more than 180 FBI agents on Pine Ridge.
Along with U.S. marshals, BIA police, and GOONSs they carried out raids for
the next three months, both on Pine Ridge and the adjacent Rosebud Reserva-
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tion, which were clearly designed to terrorize AIM members and supporters.
Assault teams were equipped with the full panoply of counterinsurgency
weaponry — M-16 assault rifles, M-79 grenade launchers, Bell UH-1B “Hucy”
helicopters, armored personnel carriers, fixed-wing aircraft and tracking
dogs. With the excuse of searching for participants in the firefight, they broke
into homes, conducted warrantless searches and illegal seizures, destroyed
private property, harassed and threatened residents and arrested people on
illegal “John Doe” warrants. A report of the U.S. Commission of Civil Rights
noted, “..numerous reports and complaints of threats, harassment, and
search procedures conducted without due process of law...” The chairman of
the Civil Rights Commission, Arthur J. Flemming, characterized the opera-
tion as “an over-reaction which takes on aspects of a vendetta...a full-scale
military type invasion.” He went on to say:

[The presence of such a massive force] has created a deep resentment on the
part of many reservation residents who feel that such a procedure would not
be tolerated in any non-Indian community in the United States. They point
out that little has been done to solve numerous murders on the reservation,
but when two white men arekilled, “troops” are brought in from all over the
country at a cost of hundreds of millions of dollars.?

To assure public acquiescence to such massive violations of constitutional
rights, the FBI conducted an extensive disinformation campaign. Banner
headlines across the U.S. proclaimed the FBI’s story of how the helpless
agents, carrying out their lawfully appointed duties, had been “ambushed” at
“Wounded Knee” by AIM “guerillas” from sophisticated “bunkers.” News-
papers which had shown no interest whatsoever in the systematic murder of
dozens of AIM members on Pine Ridge, now printed detailed descriptions of
how the agents were executed while pleading for their lives, their bodies
riddled with machinegun bullets. Retractions of some of these claims a few
days later by FBI Director Clarence Kelley were run on the back pages. The
technique was so effective that even the “liberal media” denounced the
victims, rather than the perpetrators, of this large-scale terrorist operation.

The Arrests, the Cedar Rapids Trial,
and the Extradition of Leonard Peltier

From an original list of some thirty known or suspected participants in the
firefight, the FBI targeted four for prosecution as the slayers of SAs Coler and
Williams. One of these, Jimmy Eagle, was apparently included simply to
justify the presence of the agents on the Jumping Bull property. There was no
demonstrable connection between Eagle and the agents’ deaths and eventu-
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Combat-clad FBI personnel boarding a Bell UH-1B "Huey" helicopter, identical to
those used in Vietnam, Pine Ridge, July 1975. (Photo: Kevin Berry McKiernan)

ally the charges against him were simply dropped. Not surprisingly, the other
three indictments — on two counts of first-degree murder and “aiding and
abetting” — were against what the FBI had decided was the leadership of the
Northwest AIM Group: Bob Robideau, Darelle “Dino” Butler and Leonard
Peltier. Dino Butler was arrested in a September 5 pre-dawn air assault on
“Crow Dog’s Paradise,” the home of Brule spiritual leader Leonard Crowdog.
More than 100 heavily-armed paramilitary troops descended on the medicine
man’s home in Huey helicopters to investigate a fistfight between teenagers,
probably instigated by the FBI. Bob Robideau was arrested in Wichita, Kansas
on September 10 when his car caught fire and exploded on the Kansas
Turnpike. Peltier, in the meantime, had fled to Canada. He was arrested on
February 6, 1976 by the Royal Canadian Mounted Police at the camp of tra-
ditional Cree chicf Robert Smallboy near Hinton, Alberta.

Butler and Robidcau were tried in Cedar Rapids, lowa on June 1976 before
Judge Edward McManus. McManus was certainly no friend of AIM, having
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ed the nickname “Speedie Eddie” for convicting and sentencing three
IM members on Wounded Knee charges in one week. Nevertheless, he
allowed the defendants to argue that they had acted in self-defense in the
shootout. Defense witnesses established that the atmosphere of terror which
existed on the reservation contributed directly to the firefight, a situation for
which the FBI was, at least in part, responsible. Presented with a picture of
wholesale violence on Pine Ridge and FBI duplicity, the jury acquitted the
defendants concluding:

...that an atmosphere of fear and violence exists on the reservation, and that
the defendants arguably could have been shooting in self-defense. While it
was shown that the defendants were firing guns in thedirection of the agents,
it was held that this was not excessive in the heat of passion.®

Faced with this bitter defeat, the FBI and federal prosecutors now vowed to
convict the remaining AIM defendant, Leonard Peltier, by any means, legal or
otherwise. Showing as little regard for the sovereignty of Canada as for that
of indigenous nations, the U.S. violated the extradition treaty between the two
countries by fraudulently extraditing Peltier. At the extradition proceedings
the U.S. presented affidavits signed by a woman named Myrtle Poor Bear
which stated that she had seen Peltier murder Agents Coler and Williams. It
was later revealed that FBI agents had coerced Poor Bear into signing these
false documents which they had prepared. Based upon this fraud, Canada
ordered Peltier to be extradited and he was returned to the U.S. on December
16, 1976.

While the extradition was in progress in Canada, the FBI was making a
careful analysis of what went wrong int he Cedar Rapids trial, the results of
which were outlined in amemorandum of July 20,1976.It noted that: 1) “...the
defense was allowed freedom of questioning witnesses”; 2) the courtallowed
testimony concerning the FBI's illegal counterintelligence operations against
other dissidents; 3) the government was forced to turn over agents’ reports
concerning the incidentand the defense was allowed to cross-examine agents
on discrepancies between their testimony and written reports; 4) the defense
was allowed present evidence that the “...FBI had created a climate of fear on
the reservation which precipitate the murders;” 5) the defense was uncon-
trolled in its dealings with the media; 6) the jury was not sequestered; 7) the
jury was “confused” by “irrelevant” information presented by the defense,
i.e.: testimony concerning massive FBI misconduct on Pine Ridge.’

Their analysis completed, the FBI then went shopping for a judge who was
likely to be more cooperative with the prosecution than Judge McManus.
They found one in Judge Paul Benson, a Nixon appointee. Peltier’s trial began
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on March 21,1977 in Fargo, North Dakota. It can hardly be a coincidence that
Benson ruled: 1) the self-defense argument would not be allowed and the
defense’s ability to question witnesses would be restricted; 2) no testimony
concerning the FBI’s other illegal operations would be permitted; 3) defense
attorneys would not be allowed to question agents on discrepancies between
their written reports and their testimony; 4) evidence concerning the atmos-
phere of terror on Pine Ridge and the FBI’s role in creating it was irrelevant;
5) there would be a media blackout on the trial; 6) The jury would be
sequestered; 7) when the defense attempted to call Myrtle Poor Bear as a
witness to describe how she had been coerced by the FBI into signing false
affidavits implicating Peltier, Judge Benson would notallow it. He ruled, “...to
allow her testimony to go to the jury would be confusing the issues, may
mislead the jury, and could be highly prejudicial...” These rulings sealed
Leonard Peltier’s legal fate before the trial even began. Prevented from
presenting a reasonable defense, his conviction was inevitable and successful
appeal rendered unlikely.

In the end, the government’s case rested on a weak chain of circumstantial
evidence:

* Coroner’s reports on the autopsies of the slain agents were
presented which indicated that both had been killed by bullets
fired at close range from a small-caliber, high-velocity weapon.

* Eyewitnessestestified that Peltier was seen carrying a.223 caliber
(6.56 mm) Colt AR-15 rifle on the day of the firefight. The AR-15
is a small-caliber, high-velocity weapon. Prosecutors insisted
that only one AR-15 was used in the firefight. However, the
eyewitness testimony was suspect. For example, one of the
witnesses, FBI Agent Fred Coward, testified that he identified
Peltier (whom he had never seen before) through a 2x7 power
rifle scope at a distance of more than 800 meters. Such an identifi-
cation was shown to be impossible under the prevailing weather
conditions due to atmospheric distortion. Other eyewitnesses
later testified that they had been threatened and coerced by the
FBI.

* An AR-15rifle was recovered from Bob Robideau’s exploded car
in Wichita which was linked by the prosecution, in an extremely

questionable manner, to the firefight.

¢ A spent .223 caliber cartridge was allegedly recovered from the
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trunk of SA Coler’s automobile. Its pedigree, however, was
somewhat suspect, since conflicting FBI documents and testi-
mony indicated that it was found by two different agents on two
different days.

* All that now remained to be done was for the cartridge to be
associated with the Wichita AR-15. This link was provided by FBI
Firearms and Toolmarks expert Evan Hodge. Hodge testified
that based on extractor markings, the .223 caliber cartridge had
been loaded into and extracted from the Wichita AR-15. He said
thata more definitive firing-pin test had been performed but that
it was “inconclusive.” Since the AR-15 cannot eject cartridges
more than about 5 meters, it was inferred that the cartridge had
been fired near the agents’ cars, i.e., near where the agents’
bodies had been found.

The government then argued that the agents had been killed with a weapon
thathad the characteristics of an AR-15 fired at close range; that such a weapon
linked to Peltier, had been fired close to the location of the agents’ bodies; and
since that weapon was the only AR-15 used in the firefight Leonard Peltier
must have used it to slay SAs Coler and Williams. There was little the defense
could do to counter thisargument, since Judge Benson would notallow agents
to be cross-examined concerning discrepancies between their testimony and
their prior written communications. Based solely on this flimsy chain of
circumstantial evidence, the all-white jury found Peltier guilty of two counts
of first-degree murder on April 18,1977.

Peltier was sentenced by Judge Benson to serve two consecutive life terms.
Despite the fact that he had no prior felony convictions, he was sent to the
infamous “super-maximum security” prison at Marion, Illinois. This prison,
ostensibly the final stop for the most dangerous criminals in the federal penal
system, had been increasingly used to intern political prisoners under the
most severe conditions. An appeal of Peltier’s conviction based on docu-
mented FBI misconduct, such as the Myrtle Poor Bear fraud, was rejected by
the U.S. Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals. One of the members of the three-
judge panel, Judge Donald Ross, commented in reference to the Poor Bear
affidavits:

But can’t you see...that what happened happened in such a way that it gives
somecredenceto theclaimofthe...Indian peoplethat the United States is will-
ingtoresorttoany tacticin order tobring somebody back tothe United States
from Canada. And if they are willing to do that, they must be willing to
fabricate other evidence as well...**
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The court, however, opted to ignore evidence of FBI crimes and, citing the
particular importance of the ballistics evidence, upheld Peltier's conviction.
Shortly thereafter, its Chief Judge, William Webster, left the court to assume
a new position as Director of the FBI. An appeal was filed with the U.S.
Supreme Court which refused to hear the case without comment on February
11, 1979.

In 1981, as a result of a Freedom of Information Act suit, 12,000 pages of FBI
documents pertaining to Leonard Peltier were released to his appeal team.
Another 6,000 pages were withheld on the grounds of “national security.” The
documents directly contradicted, on several points, testimony given by FBI
agents and other prosecution witnesses during the Peltier trial. The most
serious contradiction was a Bureau teletype dated October 2, 1975, indicating
that Evan Hodge had performed a firing-pin test on the Wichita AR-15
immediately after hereceived it and compared it to the cartridges found at the
scene. Contrary to his trial testimony that the test was inconclusive, thismemo
stated that the AR-15 contained “a different firing-pin “ from the one used in the
firefight.*In other words, the memo called into question the validity of what
the prosecutor deemed —and the courts agreed —was the mostimportant piece
of evidence in the case. Based upon precedents that the withholding of
exculpatory evidence by the prosecution was grounds for a retrial, the appeal
team filed a motion for a new trial with Judge Paul Bensonin April, 1982. Since
the FBI memos also revealed what were arguably improper pretrial meetings
between the prosecution, the FBI and Judge Benson, he was asked to remove
himself from the case. Given his previous record in the Peltier case, few were
surprised when Benson rejected both of these motions on December 30,1982

Upon dismissal of the motions, an appeal was again filed with the U.S.
Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals. In April 1984, the appeals court reversed
Judge Benson’s decision. Citing the apparent contradiction implied by the
October 2 teletype, and the critical nature of the .223 casing to the
government’s case, the court ordered Judge Benson to hold an evidentiary
hearing on the ballistics evidence.The hearing was held in Bismarck, North
Dakota at the end of October, 1984. A very nervous Evan Hodge explained
that the conflict between his testimony and the October 2, 1975 teletype arose
from a misinterpretation. The teletype, he asserted, referred to comparison of
the AR-15 to other cartridges found at the scene of the firefight, not to the .223
cartridge from SA Coler’s trunk. When questioned as to why he had not tested
that cartridge against the Wichita AR-15 immediately, Hodge claimed he was
not aware of the urgent need to do so. This proved to be, as the Eighth Circuit
Court was later to put it, “...inconsistent with...several teletypes from FBI
officials, agents requesting [Hodge] to compare submitted AR-15 rifle with
.223 casing found at the scene, and [Hodge’s] response to these teletypes...””2
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Hodge also committed perjury by testifying that only he and his assistant had
handled the ballistics evidence, statements which proved to be false. Based
upon a handwriting analysis of laboratory notes, Hodge was forced to admit
that he “mis-spoke” when he made this assertion, and that the handwriting of
another person appeared on the critical lab notes.

Hodge’s testimony created a host of problems for the government’s weak
circumstantial case against Peltier. His claim that he failed to compare the
Wichita AR-15 to the critical casing until late December or early January is
literally incredible. Worse yet, if Hodge is to be believed, the FBI had
numerous .223 caliber cartridges from the firefight scene fired by an AR-15
which has never been identified. Either Hodge lied in his testimony that the .223
caliber cartridge had been matched to the Wichita AR-15 or the prosecutor lied
when he asserted that only one AR-15 had been used in the firefight. Further-
more, the fact that Hodge was willing to commit perjury to conceal the fact
that persons other than himself and his assistant had possession of the critical
evidence, cast a shadow of doubt on the chain of custody of the .223 cartridge,
and raised the possibility that the cartridge could have been inadvertently or
deliberately switched in the lab. Faced with contradictions of this magnitude,
the court deliberated for almost a year before holding oral arguments on
October 15, 1985.

In a tacit admission that their circumstantial case based on the ballistics
evidence was falling apart, the federal prosecutors now put forth the argu-
ment that Peltier had been guilty of aiding and abetting in the deaths of the
agents, not as the principal. This relieved the government of having to place
Peltier near the agents with the AR-15. “We can’t prove who shot those
agents,”*prosecutor Lynn Crooks admitted. When asked if Peltier had been
aiding and abetting Butler and Robideau (who had been determined byajury
to have acted in self-defense), he replied:

Aiding and abetting whoever did the final shooting. Perhaps aiding and
abetting himself. And hopefully the jury would believe that in effect he did
it all. But aiding and abetting, nevertheless.

The appeals court, after deliberating for nearly a year, handed down their
decision in the case on September 11, 1986. They rejected the government’s
argument that Peltier had been convicted of aiding and abetting, noting he
had clearly been tried as the principal. They also noted that the prosecution’s
assertion that a single AR-15 had been used in the firefight was suspect, citing
evidence of several such weapons. Despite the contradictions exhibited by the
prosecution’s arguments, the Court upheld Peltier’s conviction. They de-
clared that the newly discovered evidence created only a possibility, not a
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Peltier defense attorney William Kunstler (center) denounces FBI duplicity involv-
ing his client following oral arguments before the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals
in St. Louis, Mo., October 1985. (Photo: Cate Gilles)

probability that - had it been known at the time of the trial - the jury’s verdict
would have been different. Hence, according to a 1985 precedent established
by the supreme court, the verdict would stand. In defense of this dubious
decision, the court argued:

There are only two alternatives..to the government’s contention that the .223
casing was ejected into the trunk of Coler’s car when the Wichita AR-15 was
fired at the agents. One alternative is that the .223 casing was planted in the
trunk of Coler’s car either before its discovery by theinvestigating agents or
by the agents who reported its discovery. The other alternative is that a non-
matching casing was originally found in the trunk and sent to the FBI
laboratory, only to be replaced by a matching casing when the importance of
a match to the Wichita AR-15 became evident...We recognize that there is
evidence in this record of improper conduct on the part of some FBI agents, but we
are reluctant to impute even further improprieties to them [emphasis added].**

It is clear, however, that it is not a matter of “improper conduct by some FBI
agents,” but of an illegal program of political repression coordinated at high
levels within the Bureau. The probability of such a pattern of abuse resulting
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from the random actions of overenthusiastic individual agents is vanishingly
small.

The decision of the appeals court is the logical outcome of judicial collusion
with the FBI's plan - enunciated in their July 20,1976 report—to prevent Peltier
from establishing the political context of the firefight. Looked at in the narrow
context prescribed by Judge Benson’s rulings, it is possible to conclude that
the new evidence would not have changed the jury’s verdict. Viewed in the
context of FBI counter-insurgency operations on Pine Ridge, it is not only
probable, but - as the Cedar Rapids trial demonstrated — certain that the
outcome of the trial would have been different. The Eighth Circuit Court
rejected motions by the defense team for an en banc rehearing of the case.
Leonard Peltier’s “legal remedies” were exhausted on October 5, 1987 when
the U.S. Supreme Court again refused to hear the case without comment.
Barring parole or presidential commutation of sentence, Peltier faces two con-
secutive life sentences in prison without legal recourse.

Conclusion

Today, the case of Leonard Peltier servesas a symbol - inbotha positive and
a negative sense - to indigenous people everywhere who are struggling
against illegal expropriation of their lands and destruction of their cultures,
Peltier’s uncompromising resistance fueled the growth of an international
movement which had focused attention not only on his case, but on broader
issues of indigenous land rights and political imprisonment in the United
States. Literally millions of individuals worldwide have written letters and
signed petitions demanding a new trial for Leonard Peltier.They have been
joined by fifty members of the U.S. House of Representatives, fifty-one mem-
bers of the Canadian Parliament (including the Solicitor General at the time of
Peltier’s extradition), the Archbishop of Canterbury, Nobel Peace Prize win-
ner Bishop Desmond Tutu, and many other political and religious leaders. In
1986, Peltier was awarded the International Human Rights Prize by the
Human Rights Commission of Spain.

In the negative sense, the U.S. government has made Leonard Peltier an
example of how far it is willing to go to destroy a movement which is
committed to defending the rights of indigenous peoples. The case provides
a clear message that the ostensible protections under U.S. law of civil and
human rights are fictional where matters of “state security” are concerned.
The systematic program of political repression of dissidents demonstrated in
the Peltier case belied the U.S. government’s publicly articulated advocacy of
human rights. Until Leonard Peltier is freed, it is a fundamental disservice to
political prisoners in other countries for the U.S. to advocate their cause. Their
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struggles are cheapened and potentially discredited by their cynical use as
instruments of cold-war propaganda.

Leonard Peltier continues his work as an activist from his prison cell. He has
used the publicity surrounding his case to focus attention on widerissues such
as the denial of religious rights to indigenous prisoners, denial of critical
medical treatment to prisoners and other violations of international human
rights conventions. Meanwhile, his supporters are calling for a Congressional
investigation into the FBI's criminal activity and misconduct which led to his
imprisonment. Inlight of recent revelations concerning similar FBl attacks on
the Committee in Solidarity with the People of El Salvador (CISPES) and other
such groups working in the U.S. for human rights, public sentiment may be
more favorable to such a proposal. Leonard Peltier may yet be proven
innocent and returned to freedom. Until that time, hisname remainsarallying
cry for the struggle of all indigenous people and a condemnation of the U.S.
government’s blatant disregard for human rights within its own borders.
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Treaty and Constitution in Canada

A View From Treaty Six
by Sharon H. Venne

The people’s governments of the indigenous nations' in North America were
very complex prior to the arrival of non-indigenous peoples. Such govern-
ment isbased uponspiritual links to the land. Indigenous peoples believe they
were placed on the North American continent to protect, honor and share
Mother Earth.?

Wherever I travelled in the Aboriginal World, there has been a common
attachment to the land. This is not the land that can be speculated, bought,
sold or mortgaged, claimed by one state, surrendered or counter-claimed by
another. These are things that men do only on the land claimed by a king who
rules by the grace of God, and through whose grace and favor men must
make their fortunes on this earth...The land from which our culture springs
is likethe water and air, oneand indivisible. The land is our Mother Earth. The
animals who grow on that land areour spiritual brothers. Wearea part of that
Creation that Mother Earth brought forth. More complicated, more sophis-
ticated than the other creatures, but no nearer to the Creator who infused us
with life. 3

The indigenous peoples, bound by their relationship to the land, developed
a complex system of laws and government. The raising of children, caring for
the sick, hunting, fishing, trapping, gathering and intergovernmental rela-
tions were all integrated with their links to the land. These laws existed since
time immemorial. When the British colonization process reached the indige-
nous peoplesin the area designated Treaty Sixin 1876, the indigenous peoples
were aware of the British Crown wanting to share the lands.* Prior to and after
the treaty, the indigenous peoples retained their religion, laws and customs
and maintained their special relationship to Mother Earth.*In this paper, we
will go back into history from the indigenous peoples’ perspective, to trace the
European policy of attempting to destroy the meaning of the treaty and extin-
guish the rights of Canada’s first nations. In doing so, we will reveal many of
the critical issues presently confronting Native North America.

History

The arrival of Europeans onto the North American continent during the 16th
century brought with it the importation of alien forms of government and
legality. The invaders, however, were not powerful enough to attempt to
generally alter the governmental or legal systems of indigenous peoples until
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the early 1800s. From 1664 through 1776, over forty-four “peace and friend-
ship” treaties were signed between theaboriginal peoples of theeast coastand
the colonial powers of England and the United States. Early legal relations
functioned in accordance with international law and were based on mutual-
ity, with both sides having generally equivalent rights and status. During the
late mid-1700s American Indian nations held the balance of military power in
Europe’s imperial struggle for control of North America and, as a result, the
British government was forced to take formally pledge its permanent respect
forindigenous peoples’ national and territorial rights. King George Ill’s Royal
Proclamation of 1763 ¢confirmed the basic international legal principles under-
pinning the then existing relationship between Europeans and North
America’s indigenous peoples. This law described indigenous nations not as
subjects, but as fully sovereign entities connected to England only by treaty; to
ensure peace, it was stipulated that all future political relations including
arrangements for the sharing of land were to be accomplished by formal
treaties. The Royal Proclamation of 1763 also openly recognized the obligation
of the Crown to obtain the negotiated consent of indigenous peoples before
undertaking to effect alterations to their status and rights.

The principles of international law applicable to European/first nations
relations in British North America were further defined by Lord Mansfield in
the case Campbell v. Hall in 1774 Here, it was acknowledged that a European
sovereign could only acquire jurisdiction over territory:

* Dby discovery and occupation, if the land was unoccupied;
¢ by conquest; or
* by agreement with the local sovereign people.

Although the European powers had initially attempted to treat North
America as vacant and therefore inherently within the scope of European
sovereignty, the 1774 case acknowledged that North American lands had
always been occupied by indigenous peoples and were thus not terra nullius.®
Further, in most cases the indigenous peoples were neither at war with the
invaders nor had they been conquered by force of arms. Consequently, the
only means by which Europeans could acquire any sort of valid jurisdiction
in North America was through treaty with American Indian nations.® It fol-
lows that by the late 1860s, when there was mounting pressure upon British
settlers to further expand westward into indigenous peoples’ territory, the
British government extended its treaty-making processinto what it called the
Northwest: “As a result of all these pressures for land, a vast land surrender
scheme was devised which was to see the signing of 483 treaties, adhesions
and land surrenders between 1781 and 1902
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These treaties were gradually undermined through the British judicial
process of “interpretation.” Early pre-confederation treaties did not specifi-
cally state that the Indian nations were self-governing because it was assumed
by both parties that indigenous self-government not only existed, but would
continue. Indians were not considered (by either themselves or the Crown) to
be in any way subject to British jurisdiction, and it was not until 1823 that the
local colonial government of upper Canada raised the question of whether a
proposed policy could legally “[make] individuals of the Indian tribes ame-
nable to our laws.” In response, British officials reported that “there appears
to exist no treaty that can give color to the idea that an Indianis not considered
amenable to the Law for offenses against another Indian within Her Majesty’s
dominions.”” Despite the fact that this was in direct contradiction to King
George’s Royal Proclamation barely 60 years before, parliament was held
thereafter by colonial authorities to be supreme in all dealing withindigenous
peoples.

Underlying the shift in policy was the adoption of the notion of “trustee-
ship,” defined during the 16th century by Spanish theologian Bartholomé de
las Casas, and developed in Canada as a legitimation of Euroamerican
colonialism. Under this doctrine, Canada defined itself as the figurative
“adult” (usually called “civilized”) nation in a relationship with a host of
indigenous “child” (usually called “savage”) nations; the “adult” in this case
simply assigned itself a “fiduciary responsibility” to oversee the affairs of its
“children” - including exercise of “trust” control over their property — until
such time as they could be determined (by the “adult” government itself) to
havereached “maturity” and “competence.” Hence,after supposedly “sacred
and inviolable” treaties were signed with Indian nations, for whatever
momentary tactical advantage these might yield Britain vis 2 vis her many
enemies, they were disregarded if in conflict with colonial imperatives. British
policy after the 1830s had three objectives: 1) the introduction of christianity
to “civilize” the “savages,” 2) laws to segregate Indians away from white civ-
ilization, and 3) the establishment of special Crown offices and laws to
“protect” Indians.

Trusteeship supported the claims of Europeans for unilaterally-created
rights to new territories. European sovereignty was thereby asserted, and
rapidly found “legitimacy” in the courts of the land. This was, contrary to the
virtual whole of the documentary record from 1600 onward, clearly expressed
by ajudgein the case of R. v. Syliboy who found that “...the Indians were never
regarded as an independent power. A civilized nation first discovering a
country of uncivilized people or savages held such country as its own...[and]
the savages’ rights of sovereignty were never recognized.”** The Canadian
courts next adopted the self-serving legal fiction of European ownership of
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Treaty feast at Ft. Rae, N.W.T. circa 1930 (Photo: Hudson's Bay Company)

indigenous lands based on the notion of terra nullius, already admittedly
disproven through the 1763 Royal Proclamation, to deny full expression of
indigenous national and territorial rights. In 1883, the British Privy Council in
the St. Catherine’s Milling Case “ supported a provincial government position
that the Crown had absolute ownership of Indian lands, and in Attorney
General of Ontario v. The Bear Island Foundation,®the courts defined Indian land
interests as a “usufruct” terminable at the pleasure of the sovereign. Previ-
ously, the Canadian Supreme Court**had concluded that federal legislation
overrode Indian treaty rights because parliament had never implemented
such treaties by legislation. Thus, Indian treaties which had been entered into
on thebasis of international law by both parties were derogated by the colonial
courts to domestic agreements of a non-legal nature, subject to unilateral
recall or modification by Canadian statute.

All this sophistry notwithstanding, however, the British government had by
treaty conveyed de facto recognition of the sovereign status and rights of
Indian nations inside what had become Canada. Within the traditional Indian
legal system, what is notincluded in the treaty is retained as an exclusive right
given by the Great Spirit.” This is not altogether different from the principles
of English common law, which hold that any power or right not specifically
ceded is retained by the occupier of the land (in this case, the indigenous
peoples of Canada). Under the treaty process, indigenous nations did not give
up their right of self-government, the right to maintain their laws and their
sovereignty.* In these critical areas, indigenous peoples retained their rights
despite the current views and contrary court findings of the non-indigenous
settler government.
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The political status of indigenous peoples within the Canadian state remains
unsettled, regardless of the pronouncements of the Ottawa government.
From the arrival of settlers, the establishment of colonies and the emergence
of neocolonial local government, Indians were separate nations connected
with the British Crown through international treaties, and thus were defini-
tionally excluded from defining their specific “internal” relations with the
Crown. The Crown’s policy of protection and assimilation was to be carried
out by the gradual imposition of British law on the Indian nations. According
to a 1983 Canadian Parliamentary Report on Indian Self Government, “The
Indian peoples played no part in negotiating (Canadian) Confederation, or in
drafting the British North America Act of 1867 which under section 91(24),
assigned legislative authority withrespect to ‘Indians and Lands Reserved for
Indians’ to the federal government.”? Self-evidently, the question of Indian
status in Canada will not be resolved until indigenous people do play a full
and determinative role in deciding the matter.

The Indian Acts®*

Over the past 100 years, the Canadian government has taken control over
the legal identification of indigenous nations by defining Indian “bands” as
mere “administrative entities,” authorized only to act as local municipal
authorities under ministerial license. Band councils, regulated by the Indian
Act, must seek federal approval to administer their own affairs in at least (80)
separate and federally mandated procedures. Under the current Indian Act,
the Canadian government has unilaterally taken control of the decision-
making processesinIndiancommunities, i.e.: elections, referendums,and by-
law powers. The Canadian government’s position regarding membership in
Indian bands has been directed towards the destruction of Indian com-
munities by depopulation (for the U.S. parallel, see the Jaimes essay in this
volume). Under this policy, Indians are deemed incapable of managing their
own definition of tribal affiliation, and indigenous peoples’ control over their
ownidentification was usurped by a comprehensive Canadian code defining
“status” and “band” Indians. This overall situation prevails despite the fact
that through their treaties, indigenous nations encapsulated within the pres-
ent Canadian state reserved and retained their customary forms of govern-
ment, including the right to define the mechanisms for expressing their
legitimate consent to all policies which directly effect them. As concerns the
Ottawa government’s denial of the right of indigenous peoples to control their
own membership (or, perhaps more properly worded, “citizenship in their
nations”), it was determined by the United Nations’ Human Rights Commit-
tee to be a racist policy.
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The intended destruction of Indian identity has deep roots in Canadian
colonialist tradition. From the early 1880’s, the parliament enacted laws
specifically designed to destroy indigenous religion and culture to promote
assimilation. The potlatch, sundance, and many other ceremonies were crimi-
nalized, and hundreds of Indian participants in these activities were impris-
oned prior to 1951. Along this same line, the 1886 Indian Act specified thatall
indigenous children between the ages of 6 and 16 were to be “educated.”
While it is true that there were provisions in many treaties regarding educa-
tion, it is equally clear that the indigenous signatories never envisioned this
to mean a situation in which their children would be forcibly removed from
their homes and placed in distant mission schools where they were denied
their language, religion, culture and customs and indoctrinated to become
“good” imitations of Euroamericans. The children thus abducted were not
taught to survive outside of the school system, yet at the age of sixteen they
were returned to their communities ignorant of themselves and their people.»
Not only was this policy severely damaging to the individual children and
families involved, it is difficult to perceive this as anything other than an ex-
tremely cynical governmental plan to utilize Indian peoples’ children as
instruments with which to undermine and permanently destabilize indige-
nous societies.

Indigenous landholdings, negotiated in treaties as sacred and inviolable
homelands totally under Indian jurisdiction and control, also became by
legislation devices for assimilation. Title to these lands was usurped by the
Crown, and Indian land and assets are now controlled under a “fiduciary”
relationship where the Minister of Indian Affairs can and does determine
whatis in the “bestinterest” of the community. Indigenous nations view their
reserves as unsurrendered traditional territory which it has been their intent
to keep untainted by the non-indigenous peoples. These lands were kept by
the native peoples as a place to live, bury their dead and to carry on their
sacred ceremonies; to retain their identities as peoples, they must maintain
their landbase so that they may continue their relationship with Mother Earth.
In a very real sense, the alternative is that these peoples, as such, will go out
of existence altogether (a matter customarily referred to as “extinction” and,
when induced by state policy, “genocide”). It is therefore an entirely false
premise asserted by Ottawa that what Indians “need” is for their reserves to
be liquidated so as to end their “isolation” from “the mainstream.”

From 1882 to the present, massive surrenders of native landholdings were
engineered by the government under provision of its Indian Act. Most reserve
land surrenders came about as a result of fraud, misrepresentation and
unfulfilled agreements. The Canadian courts have upheld the notion that a
simple majority of band members attending a land surrender meeting are
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Indigenous self-governance in Canada: the Six Nations Grand River Reserve
Council, Ontario, 1925, (Photo: Public Archives of Canada)

competent to liquidate a reserve. 2 The Indian Act even went so far as to make
it a criminal offense for any one to pursue indigenous land rights and other
claims; Section 141 of the Actstated, “Every person who...raises money for the
prosecution of a claim...shall be guilty of an offense and liable...to im-
prisonment for a term not exceeding two months.” Existing “specific claims”
settlement mechanisms have been unilaterally defined by the government so
as to limit treaty redress and to minimize Crown liability. There can be little
reasonable doubt that the thrust of Canadian policy for more than a century
has been geared not only to expropriating the “assets” of indigenous peoples,
but to obliterate their societies as a means to that end.

Acceleration of Assimilation

By 1951, the Canadian government decided to take a new direction in
relation to native peoples.

The government was no longer to promote the adoption of the “whiteman’s

mode of life,” but instead the Government..announced that “the
Indian...should retain and develop many of his native characteristics,
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and...ultimately assume the full rights, and responsibilities of democratic
citizenship,...the basic difference between the aborginal peoples’ cultural
lives and their lives as citizens of Canada. The Government could afford to
encourage the cultural distinctiveness of aboriginal peoples, for in the spirit
of the time, this was consistent with the government’s approach to other
minority groups. The Indian Nations would thus acquire a status identical to
that enjoyed by other minority immigrant ethnic groups in Canada.

This policy, developed and announced in 1951, has not changed. Canada, for
the last thirty-eight years, has tried to domesticate the treaties and terminate
the indigenous rights flowing from treaty.

In 1960, the conservative government under John Diefenbaker extended the
vote to indigenous peoples who, in 1954, had been designated as citizens of
Canada by unilateral decree. Indian consent was not obtained with regard to
either the imposition of Canadian citizenship upon them, or the subsequent
conferring of their “right as Canadian citizens” to vote in that nation-state’s
elections. Both efforts at homogenizing Indians within the aggregate Cana-
dian polity were undertaken by Ottawa despite (and undoubtedly to partially
negate) the remaining special legal and political status of Indians and Indian
lands as defined in the Indian Act. The result has been a further marked di-
minishment of Indians’ constitutional position under Canadian law, recently
formulated by the Supreme Court of Canada as follows:

Indians are citizens and in affairs of life not governed by treaties or the Indian
Act; they are subject to all the responsibilities, including the paying of taxes,
as other Canadians.

In 1969, the Canadian government disclosed its true agenda concerning
indigenous peoples. Within the integration proposals made in the now
infamous Federal White Paper, all native reserves would be eliminated, treaties
terminated, federal recognition of any special status for Indians would be
withdrawn, and constitutional references to “Indians and Indian Lands”
made a deadletter. Although large-scale indigenous rejection forced the
government of the day to formally defer its full agenda pending “further
consultation,” analysis of existing policy initiatives reveals that the integra-
tionist motive remains unchanged. Ottawa has simply moved a bit slower
thanitinitially planned. Today, the “special status” of Indiansin Canada is not
based in any real way upon treaty associations or the corresponding concept
of nations within a nation or state. Rather, it is predicated entirely in the
federally-created notion of trusteeship. And now the concept of the existing
federal/Indian fiduciary relationship, as recently enunciated by the Cana-
dian supreme court in the Guerin case,* is openly and officially founded upon
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the notion of a superior people (Euroamericans) giving benefits to inferior
colored people (Indians).

Constitutional Renewal

Constitutional renewal became a vital issue for Canadian politicians in the
early 1970s, an era of emerging Quebecois nationalism and federal-provincial
tensions. Additionally, many Canadian lawyers (and law-makers) found it
repugnant that the parliament of the United Kingdom retained sole authority
to amend the Canadian constitution. By 1978, Canada’s plans for constitu-
tional renewal were advanced, but indigenous peoples had been excluded
from all discussions. Constitutional amendments proposed in 1980 included
reference to “aboriginal peoples,” but only in negative terms, proposing that
the Charter of Rights would not deny the existence of “undeclared” in-
digenous rights. It had become evident that the Canadian government was
prepared to move ahead on its “constitutional patriation” project without
dealing with indigenous rights in any substantive manner at all. Then, in
response to considerable native outcry, Prime Minister P. E. Trudeau stated
that “aboriginal issues” would be dealt with as a second phase of constitu-
tional renewal.

In an attempt to protect their treaties from further encroachment by the
provinces and the federal government, the chiefs of the indigenous nations in
western Canada decided to take their case to the British courts; the decision
to do this was taken insofar as the treaties had been signed with the British
Crown rather than with the Canadian government per se. In the case of R. v.
Secretary of State for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs: ex parte Indian Associa-
tion of Alberta and Others (1981)*the chiefs asserted that the Crown’s treaty
obligations to them were owed by the queen in right of her governance in the
United Kingdom. The argument evolved around the Royal Proclamation of
1763 and a Crown-approved Canadian constitutional convention requiring
that indigenous rights be dealt with prior to settler-state independence. They
argued that this convention had not been followed in the patriation of the
Canadian Constitution.” In the end, the court of appeal in Great Britain
evaded the issues raised by ruling that the Crown’s obligations under its
Indian treaties must have passed to Canada, though it could notdetermine the
method or date of the alleged transfer.

At this point, an Indian rights lobby in the United Kingdom launched a
major campaign, having numerous amendments tabled with which they
hoped to modify the bill of Canadian constitutional particulars. These allies
of indigenous people, organized under the rubric of the “Parliamentary
Friends of the First Nations,” held that the Canada Independence Act denied
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native peoples certain basic human rights, including the right of self-determi-
nation, and that parliament had an obligation to assure these in spite of
customary conventions on non-interference in internal affairs in intra-com-
monwealth relations. The “Friends” argued vociferously that proposed post-
independence conferences were structured for failure, and that existing
methods of indigenous participation was not meaningful or genuine. This led
to the writing of the “Canada Act” by the parliament of the United Kingdom.
Before the Act could be passed, however, Canada preempted it, enacting an
amendment to its proposed bill which called for constitutional conferences,
including indigenous “representation,” to be held in Canada. Hence, when
the Canada Act did pass, it had been considerably altered and diluted;
following Ottawa’s formula, the British parliament left native peoples to be in-
cluded in the constitutional process as mere invitees, while Canada’s provin-
cial premiers were allowed unprecedented power to define and limit indige-
nous rights.»

Constitutional Renewal Dies

During the spring of 1982, the British parliament passed the Canada Actinto
law. This resulted in two significant changes:

* Canada was released from 116 years of British colonial control
over the Canadian parliament. Canadian governance now re-
sided entirely in the federal parliament in Ottawa and the ten
provincial legislatures.

* Thelong-standing treaty/trust relationship between indigenous
peoples in Canada and the British Crown were totally severed,
officially and forever. All responsibilities and obligations of
trusteeship assumed by the British Crown toward upper British
North America’s (Canada’s) indigenous peoples (by the treaties,
the Royal Proclamation Act of 1763 and other instruments) were
abrogated and rendered null and void. By virtueof thissingleact,
the British Crown formally withdrew from the exercise of its
political responsibilities and other obligations to the indigenous
peoples of Canada.

The British action left Canada with two separate and distinct political
groups ( three, if the Quebecois are acknowledged; even scores, if each
indigenous nation is counted in its own right) which share neither common
origins nor common aspirations. The irony of the situation is that while the
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British parliament felt itself empowered to recognize and sanction establish-
ment of a new and fully independent nation-state in North America, it
professed to be “helpless” to resolve issues concerning the rights and politi-
cal status of the indigenous nations which it knew to hold legitimate title to
much of the new nation-state’s landbase. The fate of these indigenous nations
was left undecided: they could either give up and be absorbed into the society
of Canada, or continue to struggle to exist as indigenous nations outside the
Canadian federation (but to somehow coexist with the state of Canada). The
choice was rather obvious. The elders and chiefs of the Treaty Six nations in
western Canada - to name a prominent example — held a three-day meeting
at Camp He Ho Ha® in January, 1983, reviewed the situation and, in their
wisdom, declined to join the state of Canada. They selected the second al-
ternative because, in their view, to choose the first option would have been to
guarantee the certain destruction of their peoples, as such.

For a decade these chiefs, guided by the elders, tried to reach an accommo-
dation with Canada. They sought to participate in the renewal of the
constitution on the same footing as the federal government, contending that
if indigenous peoples were to be expected to come under the mantle of the
Canadian state, it must be as real partners, sharing equitably in determining
the political and other powers of that state. Neither the British nor the
Canadian governments were ultimately willing to deal with such aspirations
seriously. Instead, the idea of formal indigenous participation in Canadian
affairs - as legitimate sovereign nations with their own, autonomous govern-
mental forms — was repeatedly rejected out-of-hand by the Ottawa. Had the
peoplesof Treaty Six and other indigenous nations beenallowed to participate
on any sort of equal footing with the state of Canada, the issue (and their
future) could have been settled right then and there.

There is really no basis for confusion on this matter. Indigenous peoples’
government(s) could have been recognized as having jurisdiction over their
own territories within the overall state of Canada, thus forming a distinctly
indigenous level of government functioning with the agreement of, or even
under auspices of that state. This sort of arrangement could have brought
about realization of the Indians’ treaty relationships with the state of Canada,
a circumstance readily implying the consent of indigenous peoples to the
means by which their lives are governed. Canada could have truly lived up
to the spiritand intent of its various obligations to native peoples, making of
itself a model for democratic emulation the world over.

However, the federal government and the provinces chose to ignore the fact
that the lands of Canada belong to its indigenous peoples. Although the
treaties ensure the right of non-indigenous peoples to continue to use theland,
in cooperation with Indian nations, Canada and the provinces deny that the
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treaties retain legal force and claim the whole of the land as being exclusively
the property of the Canadian state. The failure of the government to achieve
the promises afforded by constitutional renewal has created a deeply and
perhaps permanently divided country. So long as the federal government of
Canada continues to claim hegemony over all territory within its borders, the
conflict will continue. Under such conditions, the very survival of indigenous
peoples compels them to pursue full and independent sovereignty over their
territories.

Where Do We Indigenous Peoples Go From Here?

The political vacuum into which native peoples were thrust as a result of the
failure of Canada’s constitutional process is similar to the position of those
other indigenous peoples around the world following the independence of
the various former colonies in which they are now trapped. For instance,
when Portugal withdrew from East Timor in the 1970s after a long period of
colonization, they left the Timorese in an ill-defined political situation and
under physical Indonesian control. The Indonesian government “resolved”
this confusionby simply confiscating East Timor and asserting its sovereignty
over the Timorese. When the Timorese people did not willingly accept In-
donesian authority, the Indonesian government used troops in the most
ruthless possible fashion in order to enforce its claims, effecting its own form
of colonial rule over the Timorese. Although officially “decolonized,” the
Timorese have been wantonly slaughtered by their new conquerors and
forced to respond by acting on two fronts — military insurgency and diplo-
matic contacts at the United Nations - to win independence from Indonesia.

Similarly, the Papuan people of West Irian experienced a similar takeover of
their homelands by Indonesia when the Dutch colonial occupation ceased in
the 1960s. Indonesia claimed Papuan territory as its own and sent troops to
enforce its claim. Through military insurgency, passive resistance and limited
diplomatic efforts, the Papuans continue their struggle against Indonesian
expansionism in an effort to secure either independence or free political
association with Papua New Guinea. Or, to take another example, when the
Dutch left West Irian, they created a circumstance not unlike the situation in
British Honduras when the new state of Belize was formed. Britain’s depar-
ture from the latter caused a vacuum in which the Kekchi people were taken
over by the newly independent Belizian government. While all of these
indigenous nations had little sympathy for their former colonizers (i.e.:
Portugal, the Netherlands and Britain), they have even less sympathy or
loyalty to their new colonizers (i.e.: Indonesia and Belize), each of which has
used its own liberation as an expedient for denying liberty to others. Efforts
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to peacefully negotiate any form of independent or even autonomous political
status by indigenous peoples have without exception been rebuffed by the
neocolonial states. A result has been the contemporary proliferation of
protracted violent conflicts and/or passive resistance by indigenous peoples
against numerous states worldwide.

While many organs of the United Nations (the U.N.; a so-called “interna-
tional” organization composed entirely of nation-states rather than nations,
and from which nations are by definition excluded from full participation)
have endorsed the actions of the new states vis a vis indigenous peoples, other
U.N.entities like the Working Group on Indigenous Populations have viewed
these recolonizations and the struggles they precipitate with a wary eye.
Despite much state hypocrisy, indigenous nations have begun to use the U.N.
as a medium in which they continue to pursue their rightful place within the
international community. From Canada, the chiefs of the Treaty Six nations
have actively participated in an international lobby since the first Indigenous
Peoples’ Land Conference held in Geneva, Switzerland in 1979. The consis-
tent position taken by the chiefs has been that the treaties entered into with
indigenous peoples represent legal, international agreements which must be
respected and protected as such. This consistent message has been delivered
at every session of the working group and at several Human Rights Commis-
sion meetings.* The chiefs have requested that there be a separate body of the
U.N. setup tooversee the respect by states for the rights of indigenous peoples
and the provisions of their treaties.

It has proven impossible to achieve anything resembling a just and fair
settlement of such issues in Canada. Thus, the chiefs have delivered a call to
the international community to help settle the relationship between sovereign
indigenous nations and the Canadian state. There has been an attempt by the
U.N. working group and a human rights subcommission to appoint a special
rappartour to review the treaties and related indigenous land claims. In-
structively, full approval by the Human Rights Commission for this appoint-
ment has been blocked by Canada, the U.S., and other states with indigenous
peoples imbedded in their presently claimed territoralities. For obvious
reasons, such states do not want the U.N. investigating the treatment of
indigenous peoples by the neocolonists.

Another aspect of the international efforts undertaken by theTreaty Six
chiefs involves establishing contacts with other indigenous peoples in the
neocolonial world. In this regard the chiefs co-hosted the First Nations
Commonwealth Conference held in Vancouver, British Columbia in October,
1987. There, they met with the Maori of New Zealand, the “Aboriginals” of
Australia, and others to discuss their common difficulties in being colonized
by the British legal system. The Maori have a treaty but the Kooris and other
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Aboriginals of Australia are now in the process of discussing their political
relationship with Australia as that country attempts to develop a constitu-
tional process. The result of the conference was a continuation and enhance-
ment of an effort to create a comprehensive information exchange between
indigenous peoples to aid in the development of strategies to deal with
common issues.

The First Nations Commonwealth Conference was held just prior to the
Commonwealth Heads of Government Meeting. As former colonies of the
British Crown, they meet to discuss joint problems. Usually the meetings are
preoccupied with the South African situation. The indigenous conference
wanted to introduce into the commonwealth meeting agenda matters of
unfinished businessinrelation toindigenous peoplesin neocolonial countries
represented by the heads of state in attendance. There was a call for the
commonwealth secretariat to undertake a study of native peoples within the
commonwealth and to report its findings at the next commonwealth meeting
(to be held in 1989), but of course the commonwealth heads of government did
not act upon this submission by indigenous peoples. There are plans under-
way to hold another indigenous strategy conference prior to the next com-
monwealth meeting,.

In 1986, the Treaty Six chiefs immediately came to the support of the Cold
Lake First Nations when the federal government and the Province of Alberta
tried to terminate the fishing rights of these peoples within their traditional
fishing areas. The Cold Lake First Nations chief and council took the position
that their right to fish for food was treaty right, and told Canada it should
“build bigger jails” to hold them, as they would fight for their treaty. Ottawa
and Alberta capitulated, allowing the fishing to proceed as it has done since
time immemorial. Over the past four years the Treaty Six chiefs have
organized themselves into a loose confederation. Under Treaty Six there are
forty-eight separate nations.** Each month the chiefs, elders and citizens of the
communities meet to discuss the treaty and to plan joint actions. The meetings
are held in the communities, in their own language, and have no formal
structure other than to renew their relationship to the land by having their
sacred ceremonies prior to the start of each meeting. The chiefs are not fighting
a battle with guns and bullets but with paper and words — the government of
Canada’s paper and indigenous peoples’ oral tradition. The more interna-
tional support the chiefs of Treaty Six and other native leaders can attract to
their struggle, the more difficult it will be for Canada to terminate the treaties
of indigenous peoples in that country. To the contrary, given enough interna-
tional exposure of its policies, it seems probable that Ottawa will be forced to
increasingly conform to its real treaty obligations. In this way, the treaties will
last as long as the sun shines and the waters flow.®
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End Notes

In this paper [ use the term “indigenous peoples” as my people existed and come
from this North America continent. Weare not Indians as asserted by Christopher
Columbus when he fell upon the shores of our great land many years ago. In
Canada the federal government has many definitions for indigenous peoples, in-
cluding treaty Indians, status Indians, non-status Indians, etc. These categories
are not relevant to indigenous peoples as being an indigenous person comes from
within and not by outward titles and categories.

In October 1983, the elders of Treaty Six came together for five days to discuss the
treaty and the formation of this treaty. During the course of the five days the
elders’ knowledge concerning our land and our rights became a discussion of our
spiritual connection to Mother Earth. Treaty Six Hearing (October 1983), Saddle
Lake First Nation. (Unpub-lished but presented to the Working Group on Indige-
nous Populations in Geneva, Switzerland in August 1985. Tapes of the original
hearing are available, but in Cree only.)

Manual, George, and Michael Posluns, The Fourth World: An Indian Reality,
(pamphlet), 1974, p 6.

Ibid., footnote 2, Treaty Six Hearings (1983), and Morris, Alexander, The Treaties of
Canada with the Indians of Manitoba and the Northwest Territories, Willing and
Williamson, Toronto, 1880; p. 169 which refers to a letter dated 13th April 1871,
stating that the chiefs were requesting information concerning the intention of the
Crown in relation to their lands. “I told them...no application for their lands or
hunting grounds, and when anything wasrequired of them, most likely Commis-
sioners would be sent beforehand to treat with them, and that until then they
should remain quiet and live at peace with all men.”

Indigenous Peoples: A Global Quest for Justice, A report for the Independent Commission
on International Humanitarian Issues, Zed Books, Ltd., London, 1987; the book
contains a chapter on Mother Earth. All indigenous peoples around the world
have this special relationship to Mother Earth. Dispossession of indigenous
peoples from their lands is one of the major problems facing the world today.

For a detailed analysis of the Royal Proclamation and its implications refer to
Slattery, Brian, The Land Rights of Indigenous Canadian Peoples as affected by the
Crown'’s Acquisition of Their Territories, 1979, D. Phil. Thesis (Oxford University),
University of Saskatchewan, Native Law Centre, 1979.

Campbell v. Hall, (1774) Cowp. 204, 98 ER 1045 (K.B.)

Seethe Western Sahara Case, International Court of Justice Report, 1975, which laid
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to rest the notion of terra nullius as it relates to indigenous peoples throughout the
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See Alfredsson, Gudmundur, “Indigenous Populations, Treaties with,” 1985,
Encyclopaedia of Public International Law, Max Planck Institute for Comparative
Public Law and International Law, North Holland, 1985, pp. 311-315.

Rene Fumoleau, OMI, As Longas This Land Shall Last: A History of Treaty 8 and Treaty
11, 1870-1939, McClelland and Stewart, Toronto, 1973, p.18.

Sanderson v. Heap, (1909), 11 W.L.R. 238 at p. 240
Ibid., p. 240.
R. v. Syliboy, (1929) 1 D.L.R. 307 (Nova Scotia County Court).

St. Catherine’s Milling and Lumber Company v. The Queen, (1889) 14 App. Cas. 46
(JCPC, aff'g.) (1887) 13 SCR 577 (SCC).

Attorney General of Ontario v. Bear Island Foundation, et al, (1982) 13 ACWS (2d) 522,
no. 1136.

R. v. Sikyea, (1965) 50 D.L.R. 2d 80 (Supreme Court of Canada).
Ibid, footnote 2. Treaty Six Hearings (1983).

R.v. Secretary of State for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs, ex parte Indian Associa-
tion of Alberta and others, (1982), 2 A E.R. 118 (Court of Appeal). Lord Denning’s
pronouncements on the continuance of Indian Law.

Special Committee on Indian Self-Government, House of Commons, Ottawa, 1983, p-
39.This report isknown as the Penner Report, named after Chairman Keith Penner.

For more information on the Indian Acts and their history, see Canada, Depart-
ment of Indian Affairs and Northern Development, The Historical Development of
the Indian Act, (Ottawa, 1978), and Venne, Sharon H., The Indian Acts 1867 to 1974,
Native Law Center, 1978.

Venne, Sharon H.,”The Process of Assimilation: A Study of Federal Indian Policy
between 1876 and 1896,” Thesis: University of Victoria, History Department,
1976.

Cardinal v. R., (1981) 1 S.C.R. 508. The Supreme Court of Canada stated that “the
..surrender shall beassented to by a majority of the male members of theband...at
a meeting...thereof summoned for that purpose” was interpreted as requiring a
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majority of the eligible male members of the band to be present at a meeting called
for the purpose of voting on the surrender of lands, and that a majority of those
present vote in favour of surrendering the lands. Thus, if only six out of eighty
showed up and four voted for the surrender, the surrender would be valid!

Pobihushchy, S.I., “A perspectiveonthe Indian Nations of Canada,” July 16,1984,
(an unpublished paper with the Department of Political Science, University of
New Brunswick, Fredericton, New Brunswick) pages 19 and 20.

Nowegijick v. The Queen, (1983) 2 C.N.L.R. 89, (5CC).

Queen v. Guerin, (1983) 1 C.N.L.R. 20, (SCQ).

See footnote 18.

“Commonwealth conventions in relation to Treaties,” by James Fawcett for Chiefs
of Alberta, 1981. (Unpublished)

Constitution Act, 1982, section 37(2).

Camp He Ho Ha s situated approximately 60 miles from Edmonton, Alberta. The
minutes of the meeting are on cassette tape.

Copiesof the Treaty Six chiefs submissions areavailable from the Treaty Six chiefs
office in Canada.

Treaty Six covers an area approximately ten times the size of the Netherlands.
There are 131,066 square miles of land in Treaty Six..

Appendix

Canadian Policy from 1830 to 1987

How did the policy of “special status” develop? Some relevant dates follow:

1830  Britishlegal opinion that Indians are subject to the colonial criminal law since

their treaties do not exempt them from the law.

1858  Colonial (provincial) Indian laws intrude on Indian independence.

1868 Federal Indian Act further diminishes autonomy.

1876 Treaty Six signed with the British Crown.
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1884

1931

1952

1954

1960

1965

1969

1971

1978

1982

Indian Advancement Act, detribalization and local municipal government
imposed.

Statute of Westminster makes Canada an Independent Dominion in the
British Commonwealth.

Indian Act amended to make provincial laws apply to Indians.

Until 1954, Indian were not citizens of Canada. In that year Canada adopted
its own ‘membership code’ or ‘citizenship law,’ and defined persons born in
Canada as citizens.

Federal vote given to Indians.
Provincial vote given to Indians.

Federal White Paper on Termination: Federal /Indian relationship to be broken
up and Indians and their lands subject to provincial jurisdiction.

Core funding policy implemented in addition to Indian Act institutions and
structures; results in further fragmentation of First Nations along provincial
lines.

Chretien Post-White Paper strategy - termination objective to be done band
by band. Tripartite funding arrangements promoted. Devolution via tribal
councils and bands.

Constitution Patriation Issue - Indian rights ignored.

Federal Constitutional Concessions: Penner Report

Sec.35 Existing aboriginal and treaty rights affirmed.

Sec.25 Non-derogation clause: definition of existing rights o be in terms of
land claims settlements.

Sec.37 Constitutional process to define aboriginal and treaty rights.

Constitutional rights to self-government? According to the Department of
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Justice:

a) Sections 25 and 35 are not defined - “empty box” theory.

b) Therefore, can be defined by legislation.

) If termination is the outcome of legislation, then that becomes the con-
stitutional meaning of sections 25 and 35.

d) Ottawa’s policy to shift bands, one by one, by means of specific legisla-
tion to municipal status under eventual provincial legislation and juris-
diction,



1984

1985

1986

1987

National Tribal Council Funding Policy approved.

Cree Naskapi government - province has title, band corporation has fee sim-
ple title, band powers delegated and some subject to provincial control.

Alberta Premier at FMC states “self-government...only at a later state...only
when we fully understand what self-government actually means.” Alberta
agrees that treaty Indians remain a federal responsibility and on a separate
bilateral process to address treaty issues.

(June) C-31 passed by Parliament.

(October) Neilson Task Force - “Buffalo Jump” document, recommenda-
tions:

- budget control and cutbacks

- transfers to bands and provinces

- reserves, urban ghettos

- similar to 1969 White Paper

- strategy, as outlined by Chretien in 1971

(November) Two-Track Policy

- routes to municipal government via specific legislation and comprehensive
claims agreements

- constitutional amendment to provide ‘clarity and certainty” to termination
policy

- once constitution amended, courts cannot overturn

(April) DINA Minister Crombie policy statement on development of
community level band government and band-by-band legislation.

(June) Alternative Funding Arrangement (AFA) approved.

Sechelt Local government

(a) Sechelt Lands: underlying provincial title and band corporation has fee
simple title

(b) Sechelt Band government is incorporated under federal law, delegated
powers.

(c) Sechelt District government, public in form.

(March) Federal amendments proposed to create an aboriginal peoples right
of self-government in the constitution. The definition and meaning of this
right would be through tripartite agreements, including the provinces. Once
an agreement was negotiated, it would be enacted into law by federal and
provincial law. Under proposed amendments, Indian self-government is not
an existing right. The provinces would have a veto on Indian self-govern-
ment. Indians rejected the amendments.
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Indigenous Rights and Uranium Mining
in Northern Saskatchewan

by Jim Harding

The expansion of the uranium industry in Saskatchewan gives policy
research and direct action on uranium mining not only a regional but a global
significance.'Northern Saskatchewan is now the major front-end location of
the nuclear system. With our sister province of Manitoba being considered as
a nuclear reactor spent fuel storage site, continued cruise testing on the
Alberta border and the arming of armed cruise missiles in North Dakota, the
Canadian prairie is quickly becoming industrialized and militarized with
nuclear technology. Most of the major nuclear powers (U.S., France, West
Germany, Japan) and several countries involved in nuclear power and/or
interested in obtaining nuclear weapons are now involved with uranium
mining in Saskatchewan.? With the announced amalgamation of the provin-
cial and federal crown corporations, the Saskatchewan Mining Development
Corporation (SMDC) and Eldorado Nuclear, into a single company ~ which
is to be privatized - one company will soon have control of the world’s largest
source of uranium reserves and one of the largest refining systems.

The reserves of uranium deposits in northern Saskatchewan total nearly 700
million pounds, ranging from .25% to 11.5% uranium oxide.* Saskatchewan
reserves are over 90% of those in western Canada, including the Northwest
Territories. This makes up the largest amount of Canada’s production, which
is not over 30% of the world market. To the profit or energy hungry these
reserves have one meaning. To those who care about the future of the earth,
and know the potential of renewable resources and conservation, they repre-
sent millions of tons of radioactive tailings which will ultimately disperse into
the water, air and food chains. They represent the continual accumulation of
nuclear wastes and weapons grade material which comes from the use to
which this mined uranium will be put. And, of course, they represent an
affront on those who now live in the north or will come to live in the north.

The Exclusion of Indigenous Rights

The Cluff Lake Board of Inquiry (CLBI), held in 1977, is usually held up as
the legitimacy for the massive expansion of uranium mining in northern

The author would like to acknowledge the SSHRC, Human Context of Science and
Technology, for assistance doing some of the research used or listed in references
in this paper.
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Saskatchewan. (The Key Lake Board of Inquiry (KLBI), held in 1980, never
purported to question whether uranium mining should, but only how, it
should, proceed). It’s therefore important to look at its approach to uranium
mining and aboriginal rights; and, after ten years, how the conditions sur-
rounding uranium mining stand up to its reasoning and recommendations.

In the CLBI’s 300 page report there is only a half-page reference to indige-
nous (commonly referred to as “Aboriginal”) rights:

Our terms of reference are not sufficiently broad to permit a thor-
ough investigation of that issue and indeed, to have made theissue
a part of the present Inquiry would have been a mistake, for, the
very nature of the issues dictates that if there is going to be an
investigation at all, it should be the subject of a separate inves-
tigation.*

This exclusion does not stand up to critical examination. With a similar scope
both the MacKenzie Valley (“Berger”) and Alaska Highway Pipeline inquires
investigated aboriginal rights. The former recommended a 10-year morato-
rium and the latter a 4-year postponement of the pipeline so that indigenous
land claims could be addressed.

The Churchill River Inquiry in Saskatchewan also addressed indigenous
rights:

Writing in the Saskatchewan Law Review Bartlett said: The Board
is clearly empowered to review and recommend conditions regu-
lating the social and economic impact of the project. Such a review
necessarily entails a study of the rights in law of the Indian and
native people of Northern Saskatchewan, who represent a signifi-
cant element in the social and economic structure of the region....the
CLBI was remiss, and in error, in construing its terms of reference
so as to deny consideration of what Mr. Justice Berger termed “the
urgent claims of northern native people.” ®

Indigenous people are actually more than a “significant element...in the
region.” At the time of the CLBI, indigenous people made up 19,000 of 25,000
northerners. About 10,000 of these people were Metis and non-status Indians
and the rest status Indians. If the three mining and northern administrative
centers of Uranium City, Creighton and La Ronge are excluded, indigenous
people are over 90% of northerners.

Attendance and participation in the CLBI clearly showed that uranium
mining was a vital matter to indigenous people. Overall 165 people, or more
than half (57%) of all those who attended the 23 Local hearings throughout the
province, were from the north. Half of all who spoke were from the north. Of
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\; further uranium mining on the Indians of Northern Saskatchewan]

no further uranium development is acceptable to Indians [my emphasis]
until:

(a) land selection by Bands with unfulfilled Treaty land entitle-
ment is completed;

(b) the Treaty Rights of Hunting, Fishing, Trapping and Gather-
ing are guaranteed against violation;

(c) the Treaty Rights for health, economic development and
resources management are assured; and

(d) we have the time and resources to carefully examine the
many serious questions related to the uranium industry.”

This stand-firm position by northern chiefs has slipped from political
memory. This, in part, may be because the dominant urban and southern
leadership of the FSI at the time wished to cash in on uranium mining through
such things as trucking and security guard sub-contracts. This strategy has
proven more neo-colonial than on promoting self-determination. The Asso-
ciation of Metis and Non-Status Indians of Saskatchewan (AMNSIS) claimed
their indigenous rights directly to the CLBL

Our people are the aboriginal inhabitants of the Prairie Provinces,
and asan aboriginal people we have an aboriginal claim to theland,
a claim which is guaranteed in British law in the British Proclama-
tion of 1763, a claim that is reiterated in Canadian law in the British
North American Act, a claim that is further reiterated in the laws of
Manitoba, Saskatchewan and Albertain the Canada Lands Transfer
Actof1932. Theselaws have completely been ignored by successive
federal and provincial governments. We have been driven from our
land in contravention not only of our laws asan independent nation
state but in contravention of the laws of Great Britain, Canada and
Saskatchewan. In short, our land has been stolen. This is an incon-
testable fact.®

After outlining the severe social and economic problems of indigenous
people who have been denied their aboriginal rights, the AMNSIS spokesman
concluded that “it is only just that it be our people who determine whether or
not this development be allowed to proceed.”® There was little doubt about
how AMNSIS viewed the proposed uranium mine:

The proposed uranium development at Cluff Lake represents only
one of hundreds of corporate and government decisions to commit
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robbery, theft, and even genocide against our people. If their
comments seem harsh, youknow, Ithink we could substantiatealot
of what we are saying today.”

The cross-examination of AMNSIS’ spokesperson by the company’s lawyer
showed no understanding and complete hostility for the aboriginal rights of
indigenous people. He sidetracked the issue into a challenge to this and other
AMNSIS witnesses to prove they were legitimate northerners. When their
native and northern roots were shown, he then commented, “Well, I consider
myself a northerner too, butIdidn’t come from quite that far north,” at which
point Judge Bayda who presided over the CLBI commented, “It was Marcelin,
wasn't it?”2The position of AMNSIS was reiterated by its president after the
CLBI (Bayda) report was released.

AMNSIS is not surprised by the results of the Bayda Inquiry - the
decision to develop uranium in the Cluff Lake area was made long
before the inquiry started...the more important issue that must be
settled before Native people can be freed from government depend-
ency and control.

Furthermore, AMNSIS could not support the Northern Development Board
(NDB) proposed by the CLBI unless it:

..had the authority and resources to deal with the...protection of
native rights. If...Department of Northern Saskatchewan officials
hold true to their past track record, the Northern Development
Board will be a useless and powerless board established simply to
appease the provincial government and southern non-Natives. It
would simply give the appearance that Natives have a say in the
development of Northern Saskatchewan, when in reality they do
not.”

Metis and non-status Indians were clearly more vulnerable regarding just
land entitlement than band Indians. For the uranium mining industry to
expand before the Metis and non-status Indians had the opportunity to
establish their legal claim to land further jeopardized their long struggle for
self-determination. The unwillingness of the government and the CLBI to
deal directly with aboriginal rights, even though these will be directly affected
by uranium mining, indicates how they had once again been bargaining over
land claims in bad faith.

There is a point at which this bargaining in bad faith comes very close to
acting outside thelaw. Afederal cabinet memorandum shows thegovernment
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of Canada considered the right of Metis and non-status Indians to make land
claims to be legitimate.*The document acknowledges the need of Metis and
non-status Indians for “self-determination.” It states that “...the non-status
Indians and Metis may have legal claims against the federal government and
some provinces and this might be tested in the courts at any time.” Later the
document explicitly accepts “...the prima facie evidence that there exists a
class of indigenous people outside the Indian Act that may have justifiable
claims to ‘aboriginal title’...” The document states “as a government
‘objective’...to settle outstanding valid claims, based on aboriginal title, by
negotiation, taking full account of indigenous requirements in terms of land
and ecology to sustain a traditional lifestyle....” In one place it recommends
“that the government agree to provide funding, on a mutually acceptable
basis, to non-status Indian and Metis organizations at once to research legal
claims....” And that “there is an urgent need for action, especially in relation
to the funding of research into legal claims.”

The cabinet document was in part politically motivated, suggesting, as it
did, the government “...take a low-key approach in public to avoid a native
backlash like that against the 1969 policy paper,” and that government should
“continue to work through, and foster the native associations and their
moderate leadership.” In particular, it stressed the need to give the “...indige-
nous socio-economic problems in Western Cities (and Western Northlands)
and in various rural areas...urgent attention to forestall social unrest.” But it
did indicate that the claims of Metis and non-status Indians, as well as band
Indians, to aboriginal rights were legitimate.

The commitment to aboriginal rights is so common that even northern
organizations that are somewhat integrated into the political and administra-
tive structure of the dominant society affirm them. Inits submission to the first
phase of the CLBI, the Northern Municipal Council (NMC) also stressed the
priority of aboriginal land rights. In addition to declaring their aboriginal land
rights as non-treaty northern indigenous people, the NMC also indicated its
solidarity with the land rights of the treatied Indians of northern Sas-
katchewan.

Since aboriginal rights were ruled out by the CLBI, indigenous people were
faced with a “take it or nothing” dilemma regarding uranium mining. All
interest groups including the CLBI pushed their own interpretation of how
“northerners” actually ended up viewing uranium mining. A 3-year research
project involving sampling, coding and analysis of inquiry participants’
attitudes and viewpoints surely provides a more objective picture.»None of
the indigenous participants (in the sample) expressed either unconditional or
conditional support for the uranium mine. Half of them expressed support for
a moratorium, which shows widespread grassroots endorsement for the
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NORTHERN SURVIVAL GATHERING
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Anti-uranium mobilization poster distributed by Group for Survival, a Sas-
katoon-based indigenous rights organization.

official position taken by all indigenous organizations. About 25% were
outright opposed to the uranium mine and another 25% were neutral. An
interesting and ironic finding was that 83% of the northern proponents of
uranium mining were from Uranium City, which has since become depopu-
lated due to the shut down of the nearby uranium mines.
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The Legacy of Colonialism

There are many critiques of the way the CLBI evaded aboriginal rights. The
United Church of Canada took issue with the CLBI's narrow notion of
northerners controlling their lives.

A northern development Board to administer projectslargely of the
fait d’accompli type does nothing to answer the longing of the peo-
ple. It merely institutionalizes the oppression evident in the plan-
ning process located far from the people. While it does provide for
an opportunity for more justice in the area of the distribution of the
royalties, it does not address the question of basic control of the
productive development that leads to these royalties, control of te
technology and the land to which these operations of mining are
taking place.

The United Churchalso argued that basic control would mean regaining “the
lost community control given up in the last century.” Otherwise under the
presentsituation, a NDB would fail to begin to redress the historical injustice.
The Canadian Constitution now recognizes and affirms aboriginal rights.
However, in the night of the knives and horse-trading that led to the final
Charter of Rights, aboriginal rights were clearly one of the federal-provincial
political footballs. The use of the phrase “rights that now exist by way of land
claim’s agreements” is clearly more determinant than the add-on “or may be
so acquired.” The onus is still on native people and their allies to win their in-
digenous rights.

Furthermore, all of this is in the realm of formal rights and formal justice.
Achieving substantive justice is always more complex and difficult. The
coincidence of the 1973 federal policy on native claims and the OPEC-
triggered energy crisis and the consequent pressure for more resource exploi-
tation vividly makes the contrast. In spite of formal commitments to settle
land claims, aboriginal rights have consistently been traded off by govern-
ments working more for the interests of the resource industry than indigenous
people. The case of the Lubicon Band in Alberta, which received international
attention during the build-up to Calgary’s Winter Olympics, is typical.
Governments have consistently tried to sidestep aboriginal rights to get
mineral wealth. A communique to the Minister of the Interior in 1897 about
the advantage of pressing ahead onTreaty Eight with the Indians stated:

They will be more easily dealt with now than they would be when

their country is overrun with prospectors and valuable mines to be
discovered. They would then place a higher value on their rights
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Aerial view of the open pit uranium mine at Cluff Lake in 1985 (Photo: Lillebror)

than they would before these discoveries are made and if they are
like some of the Indians of Saskatchewan, they may object to
prospectors going into that country until their rights are settled.®

Commenting on an amendment to the Indian Act which provided for
surface leases for mining on reserve land the 1920 Annual Report of the
Department of Indian Affairs noted:

...owing to local conditions, misapprehension or hostility, it is not
always possible to receive a surrender for mining rights. This
obstacle has been effectively overcome by the amendment.”

Indian reserves were even located in such a way that mineral rights were
unknowingly being “extinguished.” In 1925 The Saskatchewan premier
wrote:

If mineralized sections are kept out of Indian Reserves, as far as
possible, there is a chance for their development in the future. The
placing of them within the borders of the Reserves would hamper
development very materially.®

This colonial strategy has persisted to the present. The Peter Ballantyne and
Lac La Ronge Bands reported to the 1976 Churchill River Inquiry (Aski-puko)
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that mining companies had taken “2 billion in wealth from the area with no
significant benefit for the North or northern natives.”* Allan Blakeney, who
was Premier from 1971-1982 when the push was on for uranium mining,
maintained the same colonial stance when he stated that permits to explore for
uraniumon Crown lands mean these lands were “occupied” and notavailable
for any agreements on land entitlement.® The treaties, federal-provincial
agreements, and several judgements on aboriginal rights all would contradict
this edict that uranium exploration constitutes occupation.

It is understandable why the call for a moratorium on uranium mining was
so widespread in view of the blatant infringement of aboriginal rights from
uranium mining. Rather than open up this colonial nest of worms, the
deliberations were narrowed to the matter of “incidental economic benefits.”
The CLBI spent most of its chapter on “The North” discussing ways to share
the short-term benefits from uranium mining with northerners.

The exclusion of indigenous people from even the short-term benefits of
mining hasalonghistory in the north. Thougha hydro dam wasbuilt at Island
Falls in 1930 to supply power to mines at Flin Flon, the adjacent native town
of Sandy Bay never received electricity until 1958. Indigenous people working
for Churchill Power were segregated into separate toilets and lunch rooms
and the lowest paying labour and maintenance jobs, with no certification. The
housing, goods and services in the newly constructed Island Fall company
town contrasted sharply with conditions in Sandy Bay, where native workers
returned. When the dam was automated in 1967 the economic base of Sandy
Bay disappeared.

Information provided to the Churchill River Board of Inquiry indicates that
in the early 1970s only 2% of the jobs in seven mines in northern Saskatchewan
and Manitoba were filled with indigenous people. Figures from Eldorado
Nuclear in 1979 indicated only 7% of the jobs at Uranium City were filled with
natives. Various governments have initiated programs to supposedly try to
alleviate the massive unemployment in the north. The 1978 Northlands
Agreement between the federal and provincial government was:

..to encourage the development of the natural resources of the area
in harmony with resource conservation, for the benefits of northern
resident and resident of the province; and to provide the opportu-
nity for northern residents, who wish todo so, to continue their own
way of life within an improved social and physical environment.?*

In mid-February 1978 the now defunct Institute for Northern Saskatchewan
at the University for Saskatchewan sponsored a conference to “examine the
experience of corporations, employees and northern communities with a
commuting labour force.” Representatives came from Amok, Uranerz, Gulf,
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Esso, Eldorado and the SMDC. Spokespeople from indigenous and labour
groups were noticeably missing from the agenda. A full afternoon discussed
the non-unionized Gulf-owned mine at Collins Bay, which had established
the commuter system. (This session was chaired by a past member of the
supposedly neutral CLBI). The other uranium companies were clearly inter-
ested inlearning about the advantages to them of a non-union shop, witha no
return policy and an apparently low turn-over rate. Upon questioning, the
vice president for production at Collins Bay admitted that only 10% of the 300
on staff were northerners.

At the conference, the Minister of Northern Saskatchewan outlined the
provincial government’s policy regarding the involvement of northerners in
uranium mining. It was his hope that the road construction work to the Cluff
and Key Lakemine would train northern residents for future commuting jobs
at the mine and mills. It was also hoped local businesses would get subcon-
tracts. The quota of 50% northernersin the surface lease for Phase I of the Cluff
Lake mine was noted as the proof of the success of the province’s policy. He
reiterated the government’s opposition to direct royalty sharing asadvocated
by the CLBI, instead favoring the expansion of northern local government.

A blind and deformed sucker (Catostomida spp.) taken from the area immediately
downstream from the Cluff Lake uranium mine during the early '80s. Such genetic
deformities have been increasingly observed not only among aquatic life but
among regional mammals such as moose since 1970. (Photo: Lillebror)
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The Northern Chiefs’ Study

The key policies and events in the promised “sharing” of economic benefits
with northerners were: i) the establishment of the Cluff Lake Surface Lease,
and Monitoring Committee in 1978; ii) the establishment of the Manpower
Secretariat in 1979; iii) the Key Lake Uranium Mine Surface Lease in 1981; iv)
and therevised Cluff Lake Surface Lease and the Eldorado Collins Bay Surface
Lease in 1983. There are, however, many indications of growing disenchant-
ment with the industry as shown from the report of the Prince Albert District
chiefs:

Although the original agreements all contained similar socio-eco-
nomic goals it is apparent that the most recent surface lease agree-
ments contain practically no enforceable provisions with regard to
employment, training and monitoring conditions. Written requests
were made by the authors to Amok Ltd., Key Lake Mining Corpo-
ration and Eldor Resource Ltd., for pertinent employment statistics
and yearly employment plans and assessments as outlined in the
terms of the surface lease agreements. Replies from Amok Ltd.,
indicated that the information requested should be accessed
through the appropriate provincial departments. As mentioned
earlier...written requests have been made to the province, [but]
unfortunately no response has been received. In various attempts to
acquire this information from the province, the authors were as-
sured that the information would be compiled. Although, in final
attempts to follow up these commitments we were informed that
the release of such documentation would have to be approved by
the independent mining companies. Written responses from both
the Key Lake Mining Company and Eldor Resources Ltd., indicate
that information will be forthcoming. To date no further response
{at all] has been received.?

Furthermore, the report notes that both the monitoring committees and
manpower secretariat ceased to operate under the new neo-conservative
provincial government elected in 1982. The only statistics the chiefs were able
to get from the Cluff Lake mine for 1979-84. On the basis of 1984 figures the
report concluded the project:

...has achieved positive results in reaching a recorded total of 44%
northern employment which includes on-site mining operations
and the sourthern based office in Saskatoon.*

The company’s 1983 figures show 46% northerners. This, of course, begs the
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ILL BUY ALL
THE URANIUM
YOUVE GOT...

important question about how these jobs were actually distributed to indige-
nous and non-native residents in the north, and what kinds of jobs each group
got. Company figures for 1982 indicate that only 14 of 143 jobs going to
northerners were for the higher paying and/or safer jobs in supervision,
technical or clerical work. The rest(129) were listed as “other,” which includes
most of the labouring and more dangerous mine and mill jobs. Furthermore
the company’s own figures show that between 1979 and 1982, 311 of 408 or
76% of the northerners hired were terminated. This suggests that the northern
“labour pool” for the mine is highly transient, perhaps an indication of the
occupational and environmental conditions at the mine. Furthermore, the
companies’ own figures show that the percentage of northerners hired who
were terminated was high (from 68-85%} in all the indigenous communities
(La Lache, Buffalo Narrows, Beauval, Ile ala Crosse, Patuanak, Cano Narrows
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and others) which have served as the native labour pool. These figures
certainly don’t leave the impression that the much applauded commuter
system adapted from the Rabbit Lake mine had made uranium mining more
compatible with the northern “lifestyle” than past company towns. Finally,
the company’s own figures show a declining rate of northerners from 56 to
47% over the years 1979-1982. With the abolition of the monitoring committee
in 1982, and a less stringent surface lease for Phase II of the Cluff Lake mine,
this trend has continued.

The chief’s report refers to an evaluation done by a former cabinet minister
who was also past Deputy Minister of Northern Saskatchewan It points out
that only 3% of total construction activity at the Cluff Lake mine went to
northern contractors. It noted the 1983 Surface Lease for Eldorado’s Collins
Bay mine, showed a decline in the work going to northerners. Furthermore,
it concluded that the now defunct monitoring committee had failed to act as
an effective watch-dog on the company and government. In the author’s
words “there is no doubt about the facts, the number of people benefiting
directly is very small.” The report paraphrases the evaluation by writing that”
the impact cost of uranium development on northerners may well exceed any
benefit.”2s

A parallel disillusionment to that expressed by the chiefs was found in a
follow-up interview study of participants in the uranium inquires.? This
study, conducted from6-9 years after the uranium inquiries, was able to locate
183 and contact 134 of the 315 in the sample taken of participants from these
inquiries, and to do intensive interviews (or get questionnaires) for 106 of
these people. The follow-up participants were spread fairly evenly between
proponents, opponents and those favoring a moratorium or expressing
neutrality on uranium mining.

Overall there was a 39% increase in opposition to uranium mining since the
time of the inquiries. The increasing support was only 5%. These shifts
primarily reflect decreasing support for a moratorium or neutrality. This was
most marked in the case of indigenous people affiliated with indigenous
organizations where opposition went from 0% at the time of the inquiries to
50%. This resulted from a shift from support for a moratorium at the time of
the inquiries. An analysis of themes associated with those past and present
attitudes suggests major disillusionment with the realities of uranium mining
and with the uranium inquiries.

Assessing Benefits and Burdens

There is a more accurate and helpful way to assess the economic benefits of
uranium mining to northern indigenous people and that is by looking at the
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Greg R. Land. 1982

value of uranium production, the costs of exploration and “development,”
and the wages, revenues, and taxes since the expansion began when the
Rabbit Lake mine opened in 1975.” The total value of uranium to 1984 was
over two billion dollars. The total cost of exploration and mine site “develop-
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ment” was about $650 million, more than half of it expended by the govern-
ment through its joint ventures. The wages and salaries coming from uranium
exploration during this period, most of which did not go to northerners, espe-
cially indigenous northerners, totalled $140 million. The value of wages and
salaries coming from mine, mill and other work related to uranium produc-
tion, again most of which did not go to northerners, especially indigenous
northerners, totalled $290 million. Finally, the total received from taxes and
royalties during this period was $128 million. The returns through taxes and
royalties as a percentage of the value of the sales is shown in graphs. The
percentage increases slightly after the uranium inquiries but appears to
have peaked prior to the new neo-conservative government taking power.

Exploration, construction and production costs, including wages and sala-
ries, were only 53% of the value of the uranium. If taxes and royalties are
added in, the costs were 59% of the value of the uranium. Even more revealing
about how the economic benefits (which are the mainstay of the pro-uranium
argument) are actually distributed is the number of jobs going to indigenous
northerners. The first thing to note is that in 1984, even with the new high
grade mine at Cluff and Key Lake in operation, the total direct employment
was notas high (1204 jobs) as it was in 1982, prior to this expansion, when the
Uranium City mines were still open (1384 jobs). Furthermore, after the shut-
down of the Uranium City mine (1982-1983) direct employment dropped
below that existing in the years 1975 and 1976, before the so-called uranium
boom. The emphasis and exaggeration of the incidental economic benefits by
proponents is apparent. The suppliers of technology and capital, not labour
and northerners are those who are benefiting from uranium mining.

There is no disputing that there has been an increase of the proportion of
these few production jobs going to northerners after the inquiries. But even
assuming that half of these northern jobs went to indigenous people, we are
stillonly talking of 212 jobs in 1984. This was 18% of all direct jobs, and perhaps
10% of the wages and salaries due to the job stratification. Considering the 2
billion in sales in this period and the fact that indigenous people are nearly
80% of northerners, this hardly seems like sharing the benefits or increasing
self-determination.

Even putting the public figures of the Saskatchewan Mining Association
(SMA) into their broader context does not speak well for uranium mining.
The SMA plays statistical manipulation by saying that “...23% of the employ-
ment of the active labour force in Northern Saskatchewan...” is in uranium
mining. It adds “...the majority of whom are of Indian ancestry.” It also
mentions that 30% of the annual salaries of the mines go to northerners. The
fact that the vast majority of the northern indigenous people are not in”...the
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active labour force...” is not mentioned. Nor does it mention how little of this
goes to the people of Indian ancestry who we saw have the least safe and
lowest paid jobs. It also chronicles the growing dependence of northern
trucking and other service contracts on uranium mining as though this is a
good thing. Without knowing it, it indicates that little capital is left for other
sectors by noting the capital expenditures on uranium between 1981-84
“...was the major component of non-government capital investment in Sas-
katchewan.”

With its hidden message about free trade, it concentrates on the total sales
from Saskatchewan and Canada and the importance of this to our trade
balance. It does not talk about how little of this stays north, let alone in the
province. One of the reasons there has been a corporate “boom” in the
uranium industry in northern Saskatchewan was because the fundamental
issues of aboriginal rights and land claims were not addressed in the public
inquiries. The CLBI not only concurred with the government when it refused
to declarea moratorium on uranium mining but refused to include aboriginal
rights in its own terms of reference. This meant the push to expand could be
unimpeded once it was legitimized through the public participation process.
In analyzing trends in “The World Uranium Industry” Owen wrote:

..Australian production was “frozen” pending the outcome of the
Ranger Uranium Inquiry and the negotiation with the Northern
Land Council. The native “land-rights”, proliferation, and environ-
mental issues which delayed the development of the fledgling
Australian uranium industry during the mid-1970s only affected
new Canadian development and, even then, they were resolved
more expeditiously than in Australia.”

It is clear from this that the author knows no more about the specifics or
context of the CLBI than most writers in Canada do about the Ranger Report
in Australia. As we have seen it would have been more accurate to say in the
case of Saskatchewan that these issues — particularly indigenous land rights
— weren’t even squarely faced, let alone being resolved. In likely the best
single, comprehensive analysis of the impact of uranium mining onaboriginal
peoples in Australia, Tatz of the Aboriginal Research Centre concluded:

Why should Aborigines work in the mining industry? To what end
and purpose should they work, with what benefits and to whom?
Mining is seen as the magical solution to all the Northern Territo-
ries’ problems: yet there is no logical reason why Aboriginal em-
ployment in uranium mines should or could cure the general high
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level of Aboriginal unemployment. (And when mining fails to
provide ‘deliverance,’ it is certain the next saving grace will be
tourism, as predicted by the Mines Minister for Tenant). My argu-
ment is that Aboriginal employment in mining is influenced more,
if not solely, by government need to justify an intrusive industry, a
value shared by many companies who don’t really want or need to
employ them. Such employment has little to do with motives about
improving Aborigines for their sakes: but improving them for our
sakes - yes.¥

After looking at the by-passing of aboriginal rights, the failure to create the
liberal version of fair compensation and control, the pittance of economic
benefits, and the massive existing or potential social and environmental
effects, the same can be said of northern Saskatchewan. In northern Sas-
katchewan - in spite of steadily shrinking evidence - the industry and
government persist with their false promises about jobs, training and partici-
pation. The motivation is clear. It is not — now under neo-conservatism, nor
before under social democracy — based on a commitment to self-determina-
tion in the north, letalone the south. It is exploitation and oppression throu gh
both economic coercion and manufactured political consent.*

With the struggle emerging across Canada about the hidden agenda of
continentalism in the free trade deal, more Canadians may be able to come to
understand the predicaments about development facing indigenous people
living under the bribe of uranium mining. The general lesson from this
particular analysis is that for sustainable and appropriate development to be
obtained, political alliances which are committed and capable of achieving
these must first be achieved. With the growing awareness of the risks and
failings of uranium mining, Saskatchewanis closer to this potential thanit was
a decade ago.
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The Water Plot
Hydrological Rape in Northern Canada

by the Dam the Dams Campaign and
the Institute for Natural Progress

There are strange things done in the midnight sun
By the men who moil for gold;

The Arctic Trails have their secret tales

That would make your blood run cold...

- Robert Service

In northern Canada, a water diversion scheme far larger than the James Bay
Project! has been planned and awaits only the right climate of public opinion
to be put in operation. Should Canada’s hydroelectricity and clean, fresh
waters be diverted southward to supply the growing demand of the United
States? According to those who propose such ideas, Canada would earn a
great deal of foreign exchange thereby, and would benefit considerably from
the employment created by construction of the required dams, dikes, canals,
tunnels and pumping stations. So far, so good, but what happens once these
works are built? This paper attempts to answer the question as far as possible
in terms of specific events which have already occurred, and to demonstrate
that whatlittle benefit mightactually accrue to the inhabitants of the Canadian
north will be vastly outweighed by the costs of adverse human and environ-
mental consequences.

In northwestern Canada, the indigenous Athabascan, Cree and Anishinabe
populations live primarily by the time-honored expedients of hunting, trap-
ping and fishing. Those who hold wage-jobs do so in mainly in the three
industries which support the resident non-Indian population: mining, for-
estry and tourism. Each of these economies must be considered in any as-
sessment of the predictable impacts of the hydrological rape of northern
Canada.

The traditional indigenous economy: As the developmentof the
James Bay Hydroelectric Project in Quebec and northeastern
Ontario has amply shown over the past 15 years, massive
water diversion is simply devastating to the ecosystems
upon which traditional indigenous economies depend. The
habitat of fur-bearing animals, without which there canbe no
trapping, is flooded out when free-flowing waters are
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dammed. Similarly, much of the bottom lands upon which
large mammals must graze are submerged, killing or driving
the animals away and destroying the basis for commercial
and even subsistence hunting. Perhaps ironically, aquatic
life is no less disrupted by damming than is that of land-
based animals. For instance, many of the varieties of fish
natural to northern Canada require a current in which to
thrive; they disappear steadily once their rivers and streams
have been converted into relatively motionless reservoirs.
The flooding caused by dams also tends to bring on mercury
contamination and other forms of toxic water pollution
which renders even those types of fish which are able to
adapt largely useless for subsistence. In sum, it may be
anticipated that if the grand plan for water diversion in the
Canadian north is consummated, the impact upon indige-
nous peoples there will be catastrophic; it is certain to destroy
their present economic self-sufficiency and may well lead to
their disappearance as peoples. In this sense, the effect of “the
water plot” carries implications of genocide.?

Forestry: Although northern Canada is abundantly wooded,
it takes more dollars worth of equipment to generate a
penny’s worth of profit from the pulp and paper industry
than nearly any other businessin the world. Because regional
trees grow rather slowly, each paper mill must draw on a
very broad forest area in order to ensure that the large and
immobile capital investment involved continues to receive a
perpetual supply of raw materials. In northwestern Ontario,
for example, timber limits are now almost fully allocated
throughout the bulk of the “harvesting” area (i.e.: south of
Highway 11 and southeast of Lake Nipigon); reservoirs
already cover tens of thousands of square miles of former
woodlands north and northwest of this line, and it is easy to
understand that further expansion of hydrological “im-
provements” can only be accommodated through destabili-
zation of the forestry industry. If the water plot were to
achieve full fruition, forests and forestry not only in Ontario,
but elsewhere in the north, will become effectively things of
the past. As concerns the indigenous people of the region, the
effect would be to deny them a primary source of the limited
cash economics in which they now engage. Tangibly, their
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options for survival in situ would be correspondingly re-
duced.

Mining: There is estimated to be approximately $1 billion in
nickle in the new INCO mine on Shebandowan Lake, and the
entrance to the shaft is barely 20 feet above lake level. In the
gold-producing areas of Red Lake and Pickle Lake, many
other mines are similarly situated or located on small islands.
Projected areas of flooding if the water plot is carried through
show that these and others such as the mine at Pickle Crow
will simply disappear beneath the waves, as will anumber of
communities such as Central Patricia. Planners explain that
the construction of an elaborate complex of cofferdams,
causeways and pumping facilities will be sufficient to save
many existing mine-sites. They are silent, however, concern-
ing the expense this will entail, and the amount which it will
be necessary to add to the cost of Canadian ores in order to
pay for it. In all likelihood, the result will be that mining in
much of northern Canada will be priced “out of the market,”
and thereby gutted. Further, the planners have little to say
about how anyone is to locate and begin to mine as yet
undiscovered mineral deposits buried not tens, but hundreds
of feet under water. Once again, one of the very few cash
economy options available to the indigenous people of the
area is to be foreclosed.

Tourism: This is the third and perhaps final basis for cash
economy in the northlands. Over the past 40 or more years,
a solid business in sport fishing and hunting, camping and
the like has been developed and provides a cash supplement
to the subsistence activities of many indigenous people. This
stands to be utterly ruined when fast-moving pike streams as
well as pickerel lakes are converted into a huge, virtually
stagnant inland sea in which only carp can live, and upon
which one can barely cast a line without snagging the rotting
remains of once-proud pine forests. Even where water still
flows, navigation - as is abundantly shown behind the
Bennett Dam in British Columbia and elsewhere ~ will be
severely impaired by floating timber, and landings will have
to be made on mudflats, amidst the skeletal remains of miles
upon miles of drowned trees. It goes without saying, then,



that the tourist industry in northern Ontario will be obliter-
ated if the water plot becomes a reality.

In sum, once the dams and attendant paraphernalia are put in place, the
entire area thus “developed” will quite literally be gone. It follows that there
will be nothing within the area by which a population - whether indigenous
or non-indigenous — can support itself. The region will have become what in
the United States has been described as a “national sacrifice area;” the people
who reside there will have been converted into national sacrifice peoples.

As the dimension of this incipient disaster has dawned on more and more
people throughout Canada, questions have been increasingly raised. The
response of the Ottawa government has been, not to attempt to provide cogent
answers and explanations of what it has in mind, but to become increasingly
secretive about the whole thing. Large-scale, detailed maps of the targeted
locals — on which it might be possible to plot out the likely extent of planned
flooding — have been essentially withdrawn from circulation. Even general
information and small-scale maps have become almost impossible to obtain.
The view of the government is apparently that not until the dams have been
erected, and the damage done (as it has been in the Columbia River Project,
atJames Bay, and in so many other locations around Canada), does the public
have a right to know what is to be done to them with their “own” resources.

The writers of this paper hold a different view from that which prevails in
Ottawa. We feel that the information at issue is the property of the people, and
not merely the people of North America. Genocide is, after all, a crime against
all humanity. More, webelieve that what is planned in northern Canada holds
significant consequences in terms of the planetary biosphere as a whole. We
hope that the information which we present below will assist all people,
everywhere, in making decisions concerning the formation of policy and flow
of events not only in Canada and the U.S., but elsewhere, not only during the
presentmomentand immediate future, but with an eye towards the outcomes
of our thoughts and actions today upon those who will follow us seven gener-
ations in the future.

Water Diversion Schemes in Canada

An official document of the Canadian government entitled Water Diversion
Proposals of North America summarizes eight different major scenarios within
which Canada’s water could be exported to the United States.* The most
grandiose of these, called the North American Water and Power Alliance
(NAWAPA) was devised by the Ralph M. Parsons Company of Los Angeles,
California, and covers large-scale diversion and “hydrological engineering”
across Canada, from Quebec to British Columbia. Inlarge part, the remaining
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seven schemes can be considered variations on or additions to the NAWAPA
plan. All eight proposals are concerned primarily with provision of huge
amounts of fresh water to the arid and semi-arid U.S. western plains and
southwestern desert regions, with secondary preoccupations centering on
“adjustment” of water levels in the Great Lakes system (as a means of flushing
industrial pollutants into the Atlantic Ocean), hydroelectrical power genera-
tion, and provision of additional water to the U.S. midwestern corn and
industrial belts.

The Rocky Mountain Trench, Peace River, Lesser Slave Lake, Athabasca
River, North Saskatchewan River, Qu’Appell River, Columbia River, Yukon
River, Fraser River, Nelson River, Lake Winnipeg, and the Hudson and James
Bays as well as many of the tributaries of these are all treated in the NAWAPA
plan and its variants as part of a gigantic, interlocked hydrological “feeder
system” pumping Canadian fluids down to more southerly consumers. There
is at this point far more than passing indication that, rather than treating such
ideas aslunacy or science fiction, Ottawa has begun to quietly bring the whole
thing off the drawing board and into the realm of nightmarish reality. The
matter can be best viewed on a province-by-province basis.

Quebec: On November 29, 1971, David Orlikow said, during
House of Commons debate and in reference to the James Bay
Hydroelectric Project: “Whatis involved here is probably the
largest project of its kind ever attempted on the North
American continent...Half a dozen or more rivers are to be
diverted, huge dams are to be built, an ocean port con-
structed, thousands of square miles of trees are to be cleared,
and billions of dollars are to be expended in order to produce
electrical power, a large part of which will be sold to the
United States.” As it turns out, Ottawa went heavily in debt,
borrowing some $8 billion (largely against anticipated tax
revenues) from the U.S. with which to finance this supposed
“national commercial venture,” and then spent this same
money contracting an engineering firm in Omaha, Nebraska
and acquiring U.S.-produced heavy equipment with which
to undertake the James Bay project. Now that much of the
project is complete, it is easy to see that a portion of Quebec
about the size of West Germany has been irrevocably sacri-
ficed at tax-payer expense while virtually all profits and
benefits accrue to the United States.

The Maritime Provinces: InNew Brunswick, the St. John River
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has been dammed despite protests by local residents that the
alleged benefits of this “development” were vastly over-
rated, and thatirreparable environmental damage wasbeing
done.InLabrador, the hydroelectric project at Churchill Falls
has also been completed. Thislastisina “remote” area where
its main impacts are felt only by indigenous peoples, and a
full assessment of what has happened there is as yet unavail-
able. It is known, however, that nearly 100% of the power
generated is being exported to the U.S. state of New York.

Ontario: North of Lake Superior, two diversions from the
James Bay watershed into the Great Lakes were carried out
during World War II. The headwaters of the Ogoki River
were converted into a lake and now flow into Ombabika Bay
on Lake Nipigon. The Long Lake watershed, which formerly
drained north via the Kenogami River, was diverted south
into Lake Superior through the Aquasaubon River at Terrace
Bay. The Ogoki diversion was implemented in 1940 to permit
Ontario Hydro to increase the capacity of its Niagara River
generating plants to meet wartime demand. The purpose of
the Long Lake diversion was to supply power to the U.S.-
owned Kimberly-Clark paper mill at Terrace Bay. Atthe time
of these diversions, the U.S. was not yet at war and refused
either to reduce the quantity of hydro power Ottawa had
committed to supply, or allow Canada to withdraw more
thanits prewar “share” of Niagara River water. Considerable
evidence has accumulated over the past four years that, as
U.S. need for electricity outstrips the generating capabilities
created at James Bay and Churchill Falls, a number of further
diversion projects in northwestern Ontario, along the lines of
what was done in the "40s, have been scheduled.

The Prairie Provinces: The Winnipeg Free Press reports that
Manitoba Hydro plans to regulate Lake Winnipeg water
levels as partof the Nelson River power development project
before going ahead with a planned diversion of South Indian
Lake. According to Canadian Broadcasting Corporation
(CBC) filmmaker Dick Bocking, some water will be diverted
directly to the U.S. and the Kettle Rapids Dam and South
Indian Lake hydro plant will, in combination, produce {ar
more electricity than can conceivably be used by Winnipeg.
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The excess s clearly slated for export southward. Because of
the expense associated with the Manitoba undertaking,
comparably scaled diversions - called the PRIME Project - in
Alberta and Saskatchewan have been temporarily post-
poned, although not abandoned.

British Columbia: Horror stories concerning the Bennett Dam
and of the Columbia River Treaty are well known.>Still, there
ismore afoot. A CBCtelevision programaired on the nightof
January 18, 1972 was about proposals to dam the Fraser
River. For a long while, nothing further was heard on this
matter and it was all but forgotten. Presently, however,
government studies, including drilling, are underway in
preparation (at an estimated cost of $1 billion) to place a
major dam at Moran Canyon, creating a reservoir 170 miles
long. It is claimed by federal spokespeople that the purpose
of this will be to “control flooding” along the Fraser and
Thompson Rivers, and to irrigate a large portion of the dry
lands found north of the latter. This obviously does nothing
to explain why government engineers are even now explor-
ing as many as 25 additional dam sites along the Fraser.¢

The Yukon and the Northwest Territories: Itis true that, to date,
no significant water diversion projects have been carried out
in this region. It is nonetheless noteworthy that government
feasibility studies have been conducted with regard to
damming the headwaters of the Yukon River and assem-
bling an overall diversion system which would involve the
Great Slave and Great Bear Lakes in the Northwest Territo-
ries.’

As early as 1966, General A.G.L. McNaughton warned that if plans such as
NAWAPA were actually effected, “Jurisdiction and control...although nomi-
nally international, would in reality be dominated by the [U.S., which] would
thereby acquire a formidable vested interest in the national waters of
Canada...it is obvious that if we make a bargain to divert water to the United
States, we cannot ever discontinue or we shall face force to compel compli-
ance.” The general therefore concluded that ideas such as NAWAPA were a
“monstrous concept, a diabolical thesis.”

Indeed, even without the use of its military power, the U.S. seems likely to
be in a position to impose its will upon Canada once large-scale water
diversion has begun. During the same year that General McNaughton issued
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Hydrological engineering on a grand scale. The central portion of the
plan to "productively utilize" North America's water resources begins
near the Arctic Ocean and ends in the Gulf of Mexico.

his warning, the Parsons Company in Los Angeles, author of the NAWAPA
idea, estimated that Canada would need to invest some $40billion as “its part”
in actualizing the water plot. It was noted that virtually all of this sum would

need to be borrowed from U.S. banks at a nominal interest rate of 8%, or $3.2

145



billion annually. The latter figure should be compared to the approximate $4
billion per year which Parsons estimated Canada could realize from export of
hydroelectricity. By the time the debt is serviced and operational costs of gen-
eration underwritten, Canada would be experiencing a net loss on the whole
affair, going ever deeper into debt to the U.S. while simultaneously siphoning
off its resources and destroying its landbase in behalf of precisely the same
U.S.interests. And, in many ways, the world economy of the late 1980s makes
Canada’s position vis a vis the U.S. even worse than it was 20 years ago.Ina
word, NAWAPA and similar plans stand only to place Canada in exactly the
same posture as Mexico, Brazil, Peru and other Third World “debtor nations”
whose internal resource and economic policies are dictated by the World
Bank, International Monetary Fund and other U.S. fronts. History has yet to
reveal a single instance in which such a circumstance benefitted the people —
whether indigenous or non-indigenous— of the countries thus controlled. Yet
Ottawa appears to be proceeding, full speed ahead.

The results are already obvious, and not only at James Bay. The Bennett
Dam, to name a prominent example, has induced all the dire conditions
sketched earlier in this paper. It caused the immediate drying up of the
Athabasca River delta, destroying a crucially important breeding habitat for
wildfowl as well as a key fur-trapping area for the indigenous population of
the region. As the headpond was filling, it flooded large areas of forest land
(the trees had been left standing), a matter which compounded the Indians’
loss of their traditional fishing areas with a total denial of any ability they may
have had to establish a viable commercial fishing enterprise. Snags and
floating debris prevent the entire reservoir from being used for net fishing,
and - in any event — de-oxygenation of the water, caused by decaying
vegetation, precludes the vibrant fish-life required to support commercial
fishing. By the Columbia River Treaty, Canada is compelled to maintain water-
flow fromreservoirs such as that behind Bennett Dam, essentially at the whim
of the U.S. The resulting arbitrary and unpredictable raising and lowering of
water levels often leaves mudbanks at the edges of these artificial “lakes”
(preventing a viable tourist industry) and killing newly-started aquatic
vegetation (thus once again hampering fish eating and breeding patterns).

Elsewhere, other examples abound. Ombabika Bay on Lake Nipigon, to list
another instance, has completely silted over since the Ogoki diversion was
effected, with the result that the formerly abundant pickerel found there have
allbut disappeared. At the Kootenay Dam in British Columbia, all indigenous
people of the area were forced to leave their ancestral lands due to flooding
(a consequence of the water plot neither they nor the public was notified of
until the day the equipmentarrived to begin construction). Itis estimated that
between 30,000 and 40,000 Indians will be similarly forced off their land in
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northwestern Ontario alone if the NAWAPA script for their territory is
enacted. How many thousands more may be impacted in this way across
Canada, should the whole of the water plotisrealized, is presently impossible
to say. Itis clear, however, that nothing resembling the traditional indigenous
way of life will be possible in the Canadian north in the aftermath.

Evidence that the Water Plot is Real

Government spokespeople like to say that those who refer to the water plot
are “paranoid” or “delusional.” However, federal documents, eyewitness
reports, aerial photographs and other factors all add up to present quite a
different (if hardly complete) picture. By all indications, northwestern On-
tario has become the focus of the most comprehensive hydrological engineer-
ing effort yet undertaken in Canada. Further, itis clear that what is happening
now has roots extending at least a quarter-century back into secret govern-
ment planning;:

In October 1965, the Prime Minister of Canada and the Premier of
Ontario announced that the governments of Canada and Ontario
had agreed to undertake a series of co-ordinated studies on
Ontario’s northern water resources and related economic
developments...Most of the work is being undertaken in five river
basins draining to Hudson Bay and James Bay...these are the Sev-
ern, Winisk, Attawapiskat, Albany and Moose River basins.?

It followed that:

The Co-ordinating Committee prepared a statement of objectives
for the studies to be carried out separately by agencies of the two
governments, as follows: “With respect to waters draining into
James Bay and Hudson Bay in Ontario, to assess the quantity and
quality of water resources for all purposes; to determine present
and future requirements for such waters; and to assess alternative
possibilities for utilization of such waters locally or elsewhere through
diversion [emphasis added].”

From there:

Approximately four miles of levelling was carried out south of the
Pipestone River to complete a grid extending from Pipestone River
to the northern boundary of the Ogoki River and interconnecting
structure sites along the Aguta glacial moraine. These sites were
investigated in 1967 in connection with an engineering study of a
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scheme for using Aguta moraine as a diversion barrier. A topographic
surveyby thetransit-stadia method was completed foradamssiteon
the Ogoki River at Whiteclay Lake to investigate the feasibility of
providing additional storage required to regulate increased diversion flow
tothe Great Lakes. In addition, work described below was carried out
in connection with engineering feasibility studies of power development
on the Albany River and of diverting water to the Albany River from
streams further north [emphasis added throughout}."*

Additionally:

Federal Surveys and Mapping Branch...completed the preliminary
mapping of a possible diversion route between the Attawapiskat and
Albany Rivers...A potential diversion route between Winisk Lake and the
Attawapiskat River were also mapped by the [Engineering] Division
[emphasis added].”?

Federal and provincial agencies, and private consulting engineering firms
actively involved in the Ontario development project are known to include
Canada’s Department of Mines, Energy and Resources (Inland Waters
Branch); the Geological Survey of Canada (Policy and Planning Branch);
Canada Department of Transport (Meteorology Branch); the Water Survey of
Canada (Federal Surveys and Mapping Branch); the Federal Engineering
Division; the Ontario Water Resources Commission (Division of Water Re-
sources, Hydrologic Data Branch, and Surveys and Projects Branch); the
Ontario Department of Economics (Applied Economics Branch); the Ontario
Department of Treasury (Economic Planning Branch); the Ontario Depart-
ment of Lands and Forests; the Ontario Department of Mines; the Ontario
Hydro-Electric Power Commission; Gibb, Underwood and McClellan (a U.S.
engineering firm); James F. McLaren (a U.S. engineer); ].W. Livvy (an Idaho
engineer with a branch office in Vancouver, B.C.); J.D. Mollard (a Regina
engineer); and Ripley, Klohn and Leonoff (a Winnipeg engineering firm).»*
The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers has also been directly involved, conduct-
ing at least one “ice survey” during the period 1967-69.14

These agencies, particularly the branches of the Water Resources Commis-
sionand Department of Energy, Mines and Resources, have steadily collected
data on streamflow, snow-course, rainfall, water levels, chemical analyses of
water, bathymetric contours of lakes and geological mapping. They have also
conducted considerable core inspection and hydraulic testing of bore holes
drilled along the Albany River, have levelled large areas, and have conducted
feasibility studies of alternative diversion routes to those mentioned in the
government documents quoted above, and have even gone to the lengths of
making anthropological/sociological studies of the likely effects of devel-
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opment on the indigenous peoples of the area.”* The initial field work in
Ontario appears to have begun as early as 1966 (the year of the NAWAPA
proposal), and to have accelerated steadily after 1969.1 At present, it looks as
if all the preliminary work has been accomplished, and that only the right
public climate is necessary to put a program entailing full-scale actualization
of the Ontario plan into motion.

Conclusion

Diversion of Canadian water - and concomitant destruction of the Canadian
north - is the answer to nothing, regardless of the rationalizations advanced
in its behalf. The vast irrigation projects planned for the arid and semi-arid
U.S. western states using fluidsbrought down from the sub-Arcticrepresents,
not the “development” of these dry lands, but the permanent destruction of
their ecological equilibrium. The “solution” for locales such as Arizona, Utah
and Colorado does not lie in the “re-engineering” of nature and massive
importation of water, but in keeping human populations in balance with the
habitat and restricting both agricultural and industrial development to sus-
tainable levels. Similarly, draining Great Slave Lake in order to “flush”
pollutants out of Lake Erie provides no “cure” for the contamination of the
Great Lakes. The pollution, after all, will simply be washed elsewhere while
the processes which ruined Lake Erie (and Lake Ontario, and which are even
now ruining Lakes Michigan, Superior and Huron) continue unabated. The
solution lies not in the destruction of northern ecosystems, but in bringing
industrial pollution itself under control.

In terms of hydroelectrical power generation, the wholesale destruction of
ihelast vast wilderness in North America in order to feed the air conditioners
and neon signs of the U.S. Atlantic megalopolis makes no sense at all. Self-
evidently, given present consumption dynamics, the U.S. “need” for electrical
power will continue to outstrip available sources until every potential erg of
hydroelectric power has been drained from the Canadian north (and every-
where else) leaving only a devastated countryside surrounding untenable
and uninhabitable urban blight. And then what? We will have no where to
turn. The solution to thisever-growing crisis is patentlynot to sacrifice the bio-
spherein pursuit of energy, but toadopt policies leading in the other direction,
toward bringing the compulsive desire for ever more energy under control.
And again, the relinquishment (for a fee, or under coercion) of sovereign
prerogatives by the Ottawa government to its U.S. counterpart, a matter
integral to “water development” in the north, goes in precisely the wrong
direction; whatis desperately needed to bring the vast technocratic process at
issueto heel is ~ proliferation of reasserted sovereignty among many peoples,
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many nations, not a continued concentration of the power of life-and-death
decision in fewer and fewer statist hands.

A stand must be taken and taken soon on such matters. If the water plot is
consummated, it may be too late. What must be understood is that the
Canadian north - like the Antarctic, the Amazon Basin in Brazil, and a few
other portions of the globe - is absolutely essential to ecological survival. If it
is destroyed, eventually everything will be destroyed. Weareall running out
of “alternatives,” and places to hide from the grimreality which now stalksus,
regardless of where and how we live.

The indigenous peoples of northern Canada represent the best and perhaps
only real barrier against the hydrological rape of northern Canada. Of anyone,
they have the clearest rights to theland, both aboriginally and legally, through
their many treaties with the Crown. Support for Indian treaty rights by the
population of Canada - indeed, by people from all parts of the world - is the
surestroute toblocking the water plotters. Solong as the Cree, the Anishinabe,
Athabascans and other native peoples are able to exercise their sovereign
rights over their territories, plans such as NAPAWA can never be realized.
And so long as traditional indigenous economies are able to flourish in the
Canadian north (and in Brazil, and elsewhere), we need not fear for the
destruction of the environment upon which we must all depend for our very
existence. Putanother way, thisis to say that so long as the indigenous peoples
of the north survive as such, so will we all.
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Last Stand at Lubicon Lake
An Assertion of Indigenous Sovereignty in North America

by Ward Churchill

There are times when the situation of even the smallest of peoples can
provide considerable insight into the likely fate of much broader groups, the
outcomes of their seemingly particularized circumstances becoming indica-
tive of far more general problems. Such a case is the ongoing struggle of the
Lubicon Lake Band of Cree in northern Alberta to preserve their ancestral
landbase, their way of life and their very identity as a people. The methods
which have been/are being used by a consortium of Canadian governmental
and corporate entities to deny such things to the people of Lubicon Lake, and
the reasons underpinning this governmental-corporate behavior,add up to a
prospectus for all the indigenous peoples in the Anglo dominated portion of
this hemisphere. The matter is thus a truly critical issue in Native North
America.

Background

The whole thing began in 1899, when a delegation from the Canadian
government traveled through northern Alberta to secure the signatures of
representatives from various American Indian groups in the area upon an
international document titled Treaty Eight. The purpose of this instrument, as
had been the case of each of the other Canadian-Indian treaties (a legal process
begun in 1781), was to gain “clear title” to as much Indian land as possible for
the British Crown. In exchange, under provisions of Treaty Eight, each Indian
band was to receive a formally acknowledged (“reserved”) area within its
traditional domain for its own exclusive use and occupancy, as well as hunt-
ing, fishing and trapping rights within much larger contiguous territories.
Additionally, each band was to receive a small monetary settlement for lands
lost, and each individual band member was to receive — in perpetuity — an
annual cash stipend.!

It was well understood in Ottawa at the time that the treaty commissioners
had failed to contact, or secure agreement to the terms and conditions of Treaty
Eight, from many of the small bands scattered across the vast area impacted
by the document. The Canadian government nonetheless chose to view these
bands as being equally bound by the treaty, and relied upon the Indians’
“moccasin telegraph” to eventually spread the word. Animprovised arrange-
ment was established v herein members of previously unnotified bands
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might simply show up atagencies serving the signatory groups inorder tore-
ceive annual per capita payments. Little or no thought appears to have been
devoted by the government to deciding how to keep such intermingling
sorted out for record-keeping purposes, or how Canada might go about
meeting its obligation to demarcate acceptable reserved areas for each late-
notice band as it became identified.2

As it turned out, members of the Lubicon Lake Band did not receive word
of Treaty Eight until some time around 1910. At that point, nothing much
changed for them other than that band members gradually began to make an
annual trek to Whitefish Lake, location of the agency serving another Cree
group, in order to receive their annuities. The local Indian agent, following
government guidelines, simply recorded their nameson his pay-listand went
on about his business. For their part, the Lubicons continued to live whereand
how they had, very much unconcerned with what went on in Ottawa, or even
at Whitefish Lake. The situation remained unchanged for about a quarter-
century.?

At some point in 1935, however, the residents of Lubicon Lake were
informed that, given the appearance of their names on the list of Whitefish
Lake payees, they were considered by Canada to be part of that more
southerly band. It was suggested that they were therefore living in a location
well off “their” reserved land and should accordingly relocate to a place
nearer the Whitefish Lake agency. Those at Lubicon Lake, of course, protested
this misidentification and, for the first time, requested the establishment of an
official reserve of their own.* This led, in 1939, to a visit from C.P. Schmidt,
Alberta Inspector of Indian Agents, for purposes of investigating their claim.
The visit, in turn, resulted in a report by Schmidt to Ottawa stipulating thathe
had concluded the people at Lubicon Lake were in fact a band distinct from
those at Whitefish Lake, and that they were thus entitle to establishment of
their own reserve.®

The Canadian government initially accepted Schmidt’s recommendation,
as well as his census fixing the Lubicon population as being 127 persons. This
number was multiplied by the 128 acres per person the government felt was
a sufficient landbase for Indians, and it was thereby decided that the Lubicon
Lake Reserve should be composed of some 25 square miles of territory. An
aerial survey was conducted and, in 1940, the lines of the new reserve were
preliminarily drawn on the map. All seemed to be going quite well, with only
the remaining formality being a ground survey by which to set the reserve
boundaries definitively. Canada by this point being enmeshed in World War
11, however, and qualified surveyors being correspondingly scarce, it was
decided to postpone this finalization of the reserve until hostilities had
ceased.t
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District Indian agent and Royal Canadian Mounted Police
guard dispensing treaty annuities at Whitefish Lake, 1939.
(Photo: Richard Finnie)

Things began to get sticky during the summer of 1942 when a man named
Malcolm McCrimmon was sent to Alberta to see that the province’s annuity
pay-lists were in order. McCrimmon'’s stated concern, as part of a broader
desire to “put all of Canada’s resources behind the war effort,” was to insure
that “these Indians are not getting something for nothing.” To this end, he
arbitrarily rewrote the rules pertaining to eligibility for per capita payments
so that all who had been added to the Treaty Eight pay-lists after 1912 were
eliminated out-of-hand, and then wenton to require that “an individual must
furnish acceptable proof that his male ancestors were of pure Indian blood.”
Given that only written birth records were posited as constituting such proof,
and that Indians traditionally maintained no such records, the latter clause
can be viewed as an attempt not only to limit the number of Indians recog-
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nized as such (and therefore recciving annvities), but to eliminate them
altogether. In any event, McCrimmon quickly removed the names of more
than 700 northern Alberta Indians - including 90 of the 154 then belonging to
the Lubicon Lake Band - from the pay-lists. He also recommended specifically
against establishment of the Lubicon Lake Reserve because there were no
longer “enough eligible Indians to warrant” such action. Hence, the earlier
“postponement” of the reserve’s actualization assumed an aura of perma-
nence.’

Enter the Oil Companies

On April 17, 1952, the director of the Technical Division of (Alberta’s)
Provincial Lands and Forests wrote to the federal Department of the Interior
in Ottawa that:

Due to the fact that there are considerable inquiries regarding the
minerals in the [Lubicon Lake] area, and also the fact that thereis a
request to establish a mission at this point, we are naturally anxious
to clear our records of this provisional reserve if the land is not
required by this Band of Indians.

Alberta followed up shortly thereafter by informing Ottawa that the Lubi-
con Lake site seemed “too isolated” to be effectively administered as a
permanent reserve, and that:

Itis recommended that the twenty-four sections of land set aside for
a reserve at Lubicon Lake be exchanged for {a more convenient
site]...[The Deputy Minister for Provincial Lands and Forests had
no) objections to the transfer though there is no assurance that the
mineralrights could be included [with the “more convenient” site]...If the
reserve at Lubicon is retained, the Band would have the mineral
rights...[We] recommend the exchange be made even if mineral rights
cannot be guaranteed... [emphasis added].*

The initiative embodied in this flurry of correspondence from Alberta to
Ottawa was capped off on October 22, 1953, when the province handed the
federal government a virtual ultimatum:

Itis some years now since {the Lubicon Lake site was provisionally
reserved]...[and] it would be appreciated if you would confirm that
the proposal to establish this reservation has been abandoned. If no
reply has been received within 30 days, it will be assumed that the
reservation has been struck from the records [emphasis added]
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For its part, the Department of Interior opted to allow inaction to take the
place of its acknowledged obligations to the Lubicon Lake Cree, allowing the
province of Alberta to play the heavy in what amounted to an emerging and
fully national policy of energy development in the Canadian north. The
matter was rather clearly admitted in a February 25, 1954 letter from the
Alberta Regional Supervisor for Indian Affairs to the Indian agent within
whose area of responsibility the Lubicons fell:

As you are no doubt aware, the Deputy Minister [for Provincial
Lands and Forests] has from time to time asked when our Depart-
ment [of Interior] was likely to make a decision as to whether or not
to take up [the Lubicon Lake] Reserve. There were so many inquiries
from oil companies to explore the area that it was becoming embarrassing
to state that it could not be entered. That situation existed when our Branch
[Indian Affairs] was advised that unless the Department gave a definite
answer before the end of 1953 the Provincial Authorities were disposed to
cancel the reservation and return it to Crown Lands which then could be
explored...This was discussed when I was in Ottawa last October. I was of
the opinion that our Branch had taken no action and that the block [of land
at Lubicon Lake] would automatically return to Provincial Crown
Lands...[emphasis added].

The supervisor then went on to explain that the federal government was
very well aware of the implications of this line of action, instructing his agent
to collaborate directly in effecting the expropriation of Lubicon resources:

Inapproaching the subject [of “a more accessible” reserve site] with
the Indians, I think it would be well to keep in mind that the mineral rights
[at Lubicon Lake] may be very much more valuable than anything else...If
this Block [of land at Lubicon] was given up, then it is very unlikely that
mineral rights would be made available with the surface rights of any other
reserve that might be picked up. You are fully familiar with the situation
and the Indians and their habits...[emphasis added].”

As it turns out, the minerals with which government correspondence was
primarily concerned at the time mostly consisted of oil and natural gas, rich
deposits of which had earlier been determined by Petro-Canada, Ottawa’s
own energy corporation, to underlie the entire Peace River region. Petro-
Canada had already enlisted a preliminary consortium of 10 transnational
energy giants — including Royal Dutch Shell, Shell Canada, Exxon, Gulf, and
Standard Oil of California — to become involved in “exploration and develop-
ment” of the area. Both the federal and provincial governments stood to reap
a considerable profit on the bargain, with only therights of a few small groups
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of Indians standing in the way of this “progress.” The obvious “solution,”
under such conditions, was simply to deny Indian rights within the intended
development zone, bringing about their total removal from the area.

Even at that, however, there appears to have been substantial official
resistance (especially within the Alberta government) to the idea of providing
any acreage with which to establish substitute or “replacement” reserves for
those Indians targeted for coerced relocation. As concerns the Lubicon in
particular, the focus of governmental discourse had shifted to the vernacular
of outright liquidation by early 1955, a matter readily evidenced in an
instruction issued by the federal [Interior] Departmental Superintendent of
Reserves and Trusts to his staff:

Consult the appropriate files and advise whether action was taken
by the Department to officially establish [the Lubicon Lake Band] as
aBand, forat thistimeany such action appears rather short-sighted,
and if this group was never established as an official Band, it will
serve our purposes very well at the present time... [emphasis added])."

In another memo, the Alberta Regional Supervisor for Indian Affairs clari-
fied the government’s intent in denying the Lubicons’ existence:
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The Whitefish Lake Band have no objection to [the Lubicon Lake
people] being transferred...to their Band and I am suggesting [the
local Indian agent] contact those members [of the Lubicon Lake
Band] who are at present residing at Whitefish Lake and Grouard
and ascertain if they wish to file applications for transfer. If they all
wish to transfer it would reduce the Lubicon Lake Band member-
ship to approximately thirty...22

Elsewhere, the supervisor observed that, “It is quite possible that the seven
families [who had been approached and said they’d accept enfranchisement
in another band if they could not have a reserve at Lubicon Lake itself] will
make application for enfranchisement in the near future...Should they do so
I would recommend that enfranchisement be granted...The few remaining
members of the [Lubicon Lake] Band could no doubt be absorbed into some
other band.”* In the interests of oil, then, the Lubicons finished the decade of
the 1950s with the gains they’d seemed to make in their relationship to the
Canadian government during the 1930s and early "40s largely erased, and
confronted by the specter of complete administrative elimination as an
identifiable human group (i.e.: they were, by international legal definition,
faced with genocide).*

Development Begins

Things no doubt proceeded more slowly than Ottawa and Alberta originally
intended. The abundant availability and low cost of oil through the 1960s
created a situation in which Petro-Canada’s transnational partners deemed it
cost-prohibitive to construct the infrastructure required to begin large-scale
oil production in the Canadian hinterland, and it was not until the OPEC-
induced “energy crisis” of the early ‘70s that this assessment of economic
reality was altered. In 1973, investments were finally secured with which to
finally begin the building of an all weather road from Edmonton through the
Lubicon Lake area.’s

During the interim, however, the Lubicons had had ample opportunity to
overcome their initial confusion concerning the government’s various ploys,
and had all but unanimously rejected the notion that they should be merged
with the rolls of other bands. Atabout the same time that the road construction
project was commenced to the south, the traditional governing council at
Lubicon Lake met to reaffirm the existence (and right to continuing existence)
of theband. It was also decided that, since Ottawa had done nothing positive
to solve the “question” of who in fact belonged to the band, the band would
exercise its sovereign right of determining this for itself, independent of
federal concerns and criteria. Those who had allowed themselves to be placed
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upon the rolls of other bands had largely returned and resumed their
identification as Lubicons by the end of the year.

For approximately five years a rough stasis was again maintained, as road
work dragged on and on. The Lubicons continued to live and conduct their
affairs very much as they had throughout the 20th century, despite the
persistent federal and provincial policy controversies their existence had
sparked. Then, in 1978, as road completion reached the Lubicon Lake region,
there was a sudden upsurge in seismic and other forms of oil and gas
exploration. As outsiders poured into the area, setting dynamite charges,
bulldozing access roads and marking cut-lines, the true dimension of what
was happening was finally revealed. With their entire way of life plainly in
jeopardy, the Indians could no longer ignore the government. They were
forced to attempt to mount a formal response.*As they themselves explained
it in 1983:

Until about 10 years ago the questions of land, Band membership,
mineral rights and rights generally were essentially academic. Our
area was relatively isolated and inaccessible by road. We had little
contact with outsiders, including Government officials. We were
left pretty much alone. We were allowed to live our lives, raise our
families, and pursue our traditional way of life without much
interference. [But] about 10 years ago the Provincial Government
started construction of an all-weather road into our area. The
purpose of the road is clearly to facilitate development of our area.
The road was completed about five years ago...Faced with the
prospect of an influx of outsiders into our traditional area, we tried
to file a caveat with the Provincial Government, the effect of which
would have been to formally serve notice on all outsiders of our
unextinguished, aboriginal claim to the area.”

Alberta refused to file the caveat, and the Lubicons attempted to force the
matter in federal court:

The Provincial Government asked the court to postpone hearing the
caseuntil asimilar casebeing tried in the Northwest Territories was
decided. The case in the Territories went against the Indians;
however, the decision read that the court there would have found
for the Indians, had the law been written as it was in Alberta and
Saskatchewan...The Province then went back to court and asked for
another postponement, during which they rewrote the relevant
Provincial legislation, making the changes retroactive to before the
time we tried to file our caveat...In light of the rewritten, retroactive
Provincial legislation, the [federal] judge dismissed our case as no
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longer having any basis in law...It is noteworthy that the Federal
Government choseto exerciseitstrust responsibility [to theIndians]
during the caveat case by filing a brief in behalf of the Provincial
Government...lemphasis added].”

The Lubicons then petitioned Ottawa, under conventional Canadian trust
provisions, to provide them with the financial support to seek injunctive relief
through the courts, and to appoint a special land claims commissioner to
attempt to resolve land title issues in the Peace River region. These ideas were
rejected by the government in 1980. Instead, during the summer of 1981, “the
Provincial Government declared our community to be a Provincial hamlet,
surveyed it, divided it up into little 2-acre plots, and tried to force our people
to either lease these plots, or accept them as ‘gifts’ from the Province. People
who supported the Provincial Government’s Hamlet and Land Tenure Pro-
gram were promised services and security. People who opposed the program
faced all kinds of consequences...”?

Fearing that acceptance of the Provincial Hamlet and Land Tenure
Program would jeopardize our land rights, we asked the Province
to delay implementation of their program until its effect on our land
rights could be determined. They refused, stating that they had
checked thelegalimplications of the program and had been assured
that there was “no relationship between land claims and land
tenure”...When we continued to question the effectimplementation
of their program would have on our land rights, they resorted to a
less legalistic form of deception. One old woman, who can neither
read nor write, signed a program application form after being told
that she was signing for free firewood. Another was told that she
was signing for an Alberta Housing trailer. A third was told she was
signing a census form.?

The real relationship between Alberta’s Hamlet and Land Tenure Program
on the one hand, and land rights/land claims on the other, was amply
revealed the following year: “When it became absolutely and unavoidably
clear that we would not get anywhere with the Provincial Government, we
appealed to the Federal Minister [for Indian Affairs]. He responded by
sending the Province a telex requesting a six-month delay in the imple-
mentation of the Provincial land tenure program, during which time, he said,
he hoped to resolve the question of our land rights...The Provincial Minister
of Municipal Affairs responded to the Federal Minister’s telex with a letter,
questioning the very existence of our Band, and stating that our community
could not be part of a land claim anyway, since it was now a Provincial Hamlet, and
was no longer classed as unoccupied Crown land...[emphasis added].”*
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Legal Stalemate

The federal minister concerned, E. Davie “Jim” Fulton, appears to have been
something of a maverick in governmental circles, and was unconvinced by
Alberta’s argument. Further, he actually sat down and talked with the
Lubicon leadership, reaching the conclusion that the band’s position was not
unreasonable and could accommodated in some fashion by both Ottawa and
the province. He therefore convened a meeting between representatives of his
own federal Indian ministry and the provincial government of Alberta during
January of 1982, intending to negotiate a resolution to the Lubicon land issue
“agreeable to all parties concerned” (typically, the Indians themselves were
entirely excluded when it came to such high-level deliberations over their
rights and fate). Negotiations broke down almost immediately, however,
when:

During the meeting between Federal and Provincial officials, the
Province rejected out-of-hand most if not all of the points discussed
between Federal officials and officials of the Band. Provincial offi-
cials refused to consider the question of land entitlement until they
were satisfied as to the “merits” of that entitlement. They refused to
agree to a timetable for determining the merits of that entitlement.
They refused to consider the land which had been originally se-
lected or which included our traditional community of Little Buf-
falo Lake. They refused to include mineral rights. They refused to
consider any compensation whatsoever. They even refused to meet
with any representatives of the Band.»

In the wake of the January meeting, the Lubicons once again requested
financial assistance from the Indian ministry with which to litigate theirland
claims. Implausibly, under the circumstances, Fulton denied the request on
the ostensible basis that, “The negotiating route has not been exhausted.”? At
a council meeting, the Lubicons then resolved, in view of the expressed
intransigence of Alberta authorities and the bad faith evident in their continu-
ing pursuit of the Hamlet and Land Tenure Program, to suspend all further
dealings with the provincial government. It was also decided to pursue legal
remedies despite Fulton’s default on federal trust obligations, on the basis of
limited band resources and whatever external support might be mustered.
Consequently, a second legal action was entered by the Lubicon Lake Cree
before the Alberta Court of the Queen’s Bench in February, 1982.%

In the second legal action we asked the court for a declaration that
we retain aboriginal rights over our traditional lands, that these
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rights include mineral rights, that these rights are under exclusive
Federal jurisdiction, and that the oil and gas leases granted by the
Province [on Lubicon land] are null, void and unconstitutional, or
at least subject to Indian rights. We also asked the court to grant an
immediate injunction preventing the oil companies from undertak-
ing further development activities in our area.”

Attorneys for Alberta and for the various corporations involved argued
heatedly that the province itself enjoyed immunity from the desired injunc-
tiverelief, and that the corporations (including Petro-Canada, a purely federal
entity) -as contractual agents of the province — were sheltered under the same
mantle of immunity. To its credit, the court ruled in favor of the Lubicons on
this outrageous thesis. But it then closeted itself to consider a range of
procedural issues raised by the province and corporations concerning why
the injunctive matter should not be heard, even though the Indians were
entitled to bring it before the bench.

Ultimately, we beat back all of these procedural challenges, but not
in time to stop much of the damage that we'd hoped to stop.
Concluding arguments on the procedural points were heard on
December 2, 1982. In Alberta, such procedural points are usually
decided very fast. However, in this case, a decision was not brought
down until March 2, 1983, exactly three months to the day from the
time concluding arguments were heard. These three months coin-
cided exactly with the oil companies” winter season, which is of
course the period of most intense development activity, since the
ground at this time of year is frozen, allowing for the relatively easy
transport of heavy equipment.®

Thus, the court was able to arrive at a judicially sound conclusion (thus
avoiding the entry of a disastrously contaminating precedent into Canadian
law, or risking being overturned upon review by a higher court) while
simultaneously allowing those it was preparing to rule against to complete
their objectionable activities prior to entry of its ruling. All the oil companies
had to do was accelerate their exploration operations so as to be able to
complete them in one winter rather than the two or three which had been
remaining on their various schedules. The Lubicons were then presented with
the opportunity to obtain an injunction suspending governmental/corporate
operations which had already been completed.

This was the limit of the Lubicons’ legal “success.” With the most environ-
mentally damagingaspects of the oil extraction process largely completed, the
court was free to rule that pumping operations could proceed insofar as they
—in themselves —presented “no real threat” to the Cree way of life. No attempt
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was made to determine whether the sheer infusion of outsiders into the
formerly isolated Lubicon territory might not have precisely this effect. As a
result of the court’s de facto non-intervention in oil exploitation, the value of
the petroleum being pumped from the immediate area of the Lubicon claim
had exceeded $1 million U.S. per day by mid-1987, and was rising rapidly.”

Concerning the broader issues of land rights and jurisdiction, the court held
that it could not resolve the issues because, as federal Indian minister Bill
McKnight (who had replaced Fulton, relieved as being “too sympathetic” to
his charges) later put it: “The band...attempted to follow two mutually
exclusive processes — a settlement under Treaty [Eight] and a settlement in
aboriginal title.” The court made no commentat all on the fact thatithad been
the government itself which had barred exercise of Lubicon rights under the
treaty while simultaneously holding that they were covered by the document,
at least for purposes of extinguishing their aboriginal title. Further, the court
offered no hint as to what, in its view, would be the correct course for the band
to pursue in order to effect a settlement under Crown Law.

The Lubicons, of course, took the matter to the Alberta Court of Appeal,
which upheld thelower, Queen's Court in January, 1985. In March, and again
in May of the same year, the Supreme Court of Canada refused to hear the
case.” Although the Lubicons have continued to pursue legal remedies in the
Canadian courts since then, the weight of their efforts to achieve a real solution
has shifted heavily into other areas of endeavor.

Assertion of Lubicon Sovereignty

In 1982, under the leadership of Chief Bernard Ominayak, the people of
Lubicon Lake (defining themselves at this point as being some 250 individu-
als)® began to express an ever sharper articulation of their traditional rights
as a wholly sovereign people. Following this logic, they increasingly deem-
phasized their right — under provision of Treaty 8, and always resisted by the
Alberta government - to the 25.4 square mile reserve provisionally demar-
cated in 1940. Instead, reasoning that since they’d not signed a treaty of cession
they’d ceded no land at all, they began to articulate their land claim in terms
of the territory historically used by their ancestors for purposes of hunting,
fishing, trapping, occupancy and trading purposes. In total, this amounts to
approximately 1,000 times the geography involved in the reserve Alberta had
so resolutely attempted to cheat them out of (but which they might well have
accepted, had the government followed through on its clear obligation to
convey title to them during World WarIl). This 25,000 square mile tract of land
claimed by aboriginal right comprises some 25% of the the entire province of
Alberta. In addition, the Indians stipulated that they were due some $900
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The relationship between "corporate economic development” and the
loss of indigenous land base could not be made clearer than in signs
such as this one by the Eldorado Mines — written in English, French,
Cree, and Anishinabe - which have sprouted across northern Canada
during the past three decades. (Photo: Flying Swan)

million U.S. for damages done their territory during the period of illegal
Canadian occupancy.®

The initial government response was, to be sure, to scoff at such “presump-
tuousness.” The Lubicons, however, rather than to attempt to continue to ar-
gue the merits of their case in governmentally sanctioned (and controlled)
fora such as the courts, launched a public outreach and education campaign
designed to secure widespread popular support during 1983 and "84. To the
government’s surprise and consternation, the response to this effort was so
generally favorable that steps were necessary to contain the situation. This
assumed the form of an “independent investigation” undertaken in 1984 by
the Reverend Dr. Randall Ivany, Ombudsman of Alberta. He dutifully went
through the motions of examining the Lubicon claims before releasing a
report, titled Complaints of the Lubicon Lake Band of Indians, reaching the en-
tirely predictable conclusions that there was “no substance” to the Indians’ al-
legations, and “no factual basis” to their charge that various layers of Cana-
dian government were engaged in the practice of cultural genocide against
them.®

This official nutcome was supposed to undercut the rising tide of public
sentimentin ¢ .pportof the Lubicons. But its very transparency accomplished
the exact opposite result, and it was at about this same time that Chief
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Ominayak and other Lubicon leaders began to issue statements to the effect
that they were considering the conducting a boycott, large-scale demonstra-
tions, and other disruptions of the 1988 Winter Olympics, scheduled for
Calgary, Alberta. In something of a panic, the government began to adopt
what it must have felt were extraordinary measures in an effort to avert an
international embarrassment and scrutiny of what it had been doing to
indigenous peoples under the guise of “domestic affairs.” Ivany’s sham
investigation was quickly replaced by another, functioning under auspices of
the Department of Indian and Northern Affairs, and headed by E. Davie
Fulton, recalled to from his banishment from Indian affairs for this purpose
insofar as Ottawa held him to be a “friend of the Indian.”»

The first tangible result of this change in government attitude was the offer,
made on December 10, 1985 and recommended by Fulton, of the original 1940
reservearea, complete with mineral rights, which had appeared so “problem-
atic” to Canadian policy-makers only a year before.® The overture was
rejected on the same day by the Lubicons, with Chief Ominayak pointing out
that it was the government’s own greed and deviousness which had blocked
establishment of the reserve for nearly half a century, forcing the Indians to
pursue the full extent of their aboriginal rights in the first place. The Lubicons,
he said, would be prepared to enter into any serious negotiations concerning
Canadian recognition of their sovereignty and the real scope of their land
claim.*

After a quick huddle in the national capital, the federal government re-
turned in January 1986 with an ex gratia award — which it had previously
refused to do on two separate occasions - of $1.5 million (Canadian) to cover
the cost of Lubicon litigation for reserved land rights, to date. The Indians
accepted the payment, and then filed suit in April for that amount plus an ad-
ditional $750,000 Canadian to cover future costs of litigation; in November of
1986, the April suit was amended in federal court to encompass $1.4 million
in past litigation costs and $2 million in projected legal fees.® In the latter
month, the Lubiconsalso stepped up their campaign to organize actionsatten-
dant to the XV Winter Olympics, undertaking their first truly mass mailing on
the subject and sending a delegation to Europe to engage in a speaking tour
mustering support.*

Meanwhile, in June, Fulton had been replaced by Roger Tasse, a former
federal Minister of Justice, inan attempt to arrive ata “negotiated settlement”
in which theband would drop its plans for the Olympic and broad land claims
in exchange for clear title to a tract approximately the size of the 1940 reserve.
Following a consensus of the group, Chief Ominayak agreed to meet with
federal officials, but only on condition that the government of Alberta would
be completely excluded from participation in the proceedings. In July, after
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only preliminary discussions, the Lubicons broke off negotiations when it
became clear that Ottawa was not yet prepared to take up the matter of the
aboriginal land claim in any meaningful way.”

This was followed, in January 1987, by an announcement by the Lubicons
that they had determined in council that the band was now comprised of 458
individuals, some 250 of whom did not appear on federal Indian registration
lists, and that they were prepared to accept a 90 square mile reserve centering
upon the community of Little Buffalo, over which they would exercise full
governmental control. Inaddition, they claimed undisturbed hunting, fishing
and trapping rights over an area of approximately 4,000 square miles and
insisted that, in order for these rights to have meaning, the Lubicon band
would require a voice equal to those of other governments in determining
corporate licensing and the development policy impacting their region. Chief
Ominayak also stated that the Lubicons would henceforth begin, by force if
necessary, to evict crews engaged in unauthorized oil and gas exploration
and/or production crews within the reserve proper, and elsewhere as need
be.In March, the 90 square mile reserve claim was amended to read “92 square
miles/236 square kilometers” in a motion filed with the Court of Queen’s
Bench in Alberta.®

May of 1987 saw a delegation of Lubicons once again touring Europe,
explaining the band’s position and rallying support to the proposed Olympic
boycott, and preparing an intervention on their case to be submitted to the
United Nations Working Group on Indigenous Populations (a sub-part of the
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U.N. Commission on Human Rights) the same summer. Another agenda of
the delegation concerned a partially successful effort to convince various
European museums not to participate by lending objects to The Spirit Sings, a
Canadian government-sponsored exhibition of American Indian artifacts
scheduled for display in conjunction with the Olympics in Calgary.® Other
Lubicon spokespeople were traveling and speaking in the United States at the
same time, and public response to the Lubicons’ outreach efforts in both
Europe and North America continued to be quite positive.«

In the face of mounting international pressure, both Ottawa and Alberta
appointed formal negotiators— Brian Malone for the federal government, ; Jim
Horsman for the province — in October of 1987. The federal government
simultaneously released The Fulton Report, a plan prepared by the former
Indian minister calling for tripartite meetings between Ottawa, Alberta and
the Lubicons designed to resolve the land claim and sovereignty issues
“equitably” and “permanently.” The Lubicon leadership rejected the idea,
pointing to the outcome of a similar tripartite negotiating arrangement signed
on December 23, 1986, between Ottawa, Alberta and the 1,000 member Fort
Chipewyan Band of Cree, in which the Indians’ aboriginal land claims had
been compressed into a mere 20 square mile reserve, divided into nine
separate locations. Chief Ominayak stated that his people hardly considered
this to be the “productive result of negotiations” touted by Alberta, atleast not
from the indigenous perspective. He followed up on January 23, 1988 by
releasing through the Calgary Herald the information that the Lubicons had
entered into a formal alliance with other bands and many whites in the north
country, and that these “Indians and non-Indians in Alberta, Saskatchewan
and Quebec have agreed to set up a residentarmy on Lubicon territory...[and]
provincial fish and wildlife officials will be subject to arrest and trial” in the
event they attempted to interfere with the exercise of Lubicon sovereignty
anywhere within the 4,000 square mile area to which the band had directand
immediate claims.®

With the Olympic games already occurring, and the Lubicons and their
supporters mounting highly visible demonstrations outside The Spirit Sings
exhibition,* neither Alberta nor Ottawa had a ready response to this develop-
ment. The last thing either government wanted at that particular juncture was
the outbreak of an actual “shooting war” between Canada and a small group
of Indians only a few hundred miles to the north. On February 4, Minister of
Indian Affairs McKnight - citing as cause the fact that the Lubicons were still
adamant in their refusal to even talk to representatives of the Alberta govern-
ment, or even allow the release of genealogical data on the band to provincial
authorities — officially requested that the province agree to transfer title to the
contested area back to the federal government for purposes of effecting some
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resolution.“ This was followed on February 10, when the provincial govern-
ment released a thoroughly whiney press release complaining that it was
impossible for it to negotiate a settlement with the Lubicons insofar as the
Indians refused to allow Alberta’s representatives to even attend meetings
concerning the disposition of land and resources the province considered to
be its own; the statement failed to mention that this was precisely the same
sort of insulting and demeaning treatment Alberta had all along insisted on
according Indians throughout its jurisdiction.# The province, despite its lack
of real alternatives, stillrefused to pass over either title or full negotiating pre-
rogatives to Ottawa.

Finally, on March 17, 1988, in a speech before the House of Commons
Standing Committee on Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development,
Minister McKnight publicly admitted that the Lubicon Lake Cree have every
right to pursue aboriginal title to all lands within which they could demon-
strate they had once conducted their traditional way of life. The government
would no longer raise procedural issues as a means to block litigation of the
matter, he suggested, and - probably as a result of the international attention
the Lubicons had gamered through their “extralegal” activities — “further
delay [in bringing the matter to an acceptable resolution] serves no one.”* He
also made it clear that the federal government was now prepared to enter a
suit against Alberta Provincial Premier Don Getty unless the “Lubicon Lake
matter” is “settled soon.”#

The Daishowa Connection

Even before McKnight made his speech in the House of Commons signify-
ing that the Lubicons had, to some extent at least, managed to effect a split
between the two layers of government opposing them, Getty had offered
Alberta’s response. On February 8, 1988, the premier and Alberta Forestry
Minister LeRoy Fjordbotten announced that the provincial government had
entered into an agreement with the Japanese forestry corporation, Daishowa
to construct a pulp mill and launch a timbering operation approximately 65
miles south of Little Buffalo.*

The new pulp mill will be the largest hardwood pulp mill in
Canada. It will employ about 600 people, 300 to take down and
transporttrees to the new mill, 300 to turn the trees into pulp. It will
“produce” 1,000 metric tons of pulp per day, 340,000 metric tons per
year. It will consume trees at the rate of about...4 million per year.
Thetrees will come from a timber lease which covers an area of over
29,000 sq. kilometers, more than 11,000 square miles. The timber lease
to supply the new pulp mill completely covers the entire Lubicon tradi-
tional area [emphasis in original].#
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The move was astute, insofar as it forced a certain reconciliation of the
Ottawa and Alberta positions:

The new pulp mill will...cost more than 500 million dollars, includ-
ing 75 million in Federal and Provincial Government grants. 9.5
million of the Government subsidy is being provided by Federal
Indian Affairs Minister Bill McKnight, in his capacity as Minister
responsible for the so-called Western Diversification Program. The
Western Diversification Program is a political slush fund set up by
the Federal Government to try and prop up faltering political
fortunes in western Canada. In his capacity as Indian Affairs Min-
ister, Mr. McKnight is of course also supposedly responsible for
insuring that the constitutionally recognized rights of aboriginal
people in Canada are respected.®

In addition, as Fjordbotten put it, “The Alberta government will be

building rail and road access and other infrastructure to cost $65.2 million
over the next five years, a necessary requirement to proceed in this relatively
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remote location. Lack of such access has long been an impediment to devel-
opment of the forest industry in Northern Alberta.”" In other words, the
province intended to go for the Lubicon jugular. The announcements led
Assembly of First Nations National Chief Georges Erasmus to demand that
Canadian Prime Minister Brian Mulroney fire McKnight for conflict of inter-
est.® For his part, Chief Ominayak went on the Canadian Broadcasting
Corporationradio station in Edmonton on February 9 to warn that, “we’re not
going to allow anybody to come in and cut down our trees within our
traditional lands.” When asked by talk show hostess Ruth Anderson “how far
he would go” to prevent the logging, he replied:

It just depends on how hard the other side is going to push. We
basically decided that we're going to start asserting our own juris-
diction. Now they announce this pulp mill and also that they’re
going to be leasing all the timber rights or trees that are going to be
needed for the pulp mill that we have on our traditional lands.

The exchange continued, with Anderson asking whether the Lubicons
would “resort to violence to stop this latest assault on what you claim is your
land?” Chief Ominayak replied that, “our preference would be to not getinto
violence. But again, it all depends on how forceful the other side wants to be.
But whatever it takes, that’s what we're going to do.” Elsewhere, the chief
observed that the Lubicons are preparing to make a “last stand” on their land,
and on their rights: “We're not threatening, we’re not bluffing...and we would
like to keep it as peaceful as possible. I just don’t know how much longer we
can go on like this.”® Support for the Lubicons, meanwhile, throughout
Canada and around the world increased steadily.*

The Future

The bets, as they say, are hardly in on the outcome at Lubicon Lake. At one
level, it is certainly not realistic to expect that a small Indian band, even with
a considerable number of allies, might militarily defeat the combined forces
of several transnational corporations and an advanced nation-state such as
Canada. Being forced to pursue the military option in literal terms would
undoubtedly prove utterly catastrophic for the Lubicons and their “on line”
supporters. Of this, there can be little doubt. Yet, failing to resist the imposi-
tion of governmental policy, or offering resistance only through channels
approved by Canadian officials, is a course of action which has long since
demonstrated that it will yield similarly catastrophic results for the Indians,
both in terms of their administrative liquidation as peoples, and by way of
insuring the destruction of the environment upon which all of us depend for
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our very survival. When the issues are framed in this way, it becomes as Chief
Ominayak has said, “a good day to die.”

What the Lubicon Lake Cree have going for them, beyond the sheer right-
eousnessand correctitude of their position, is the fact that they have been able
to attract widespread international attention and support to their cause.
Whatever happens next in northern Alberta will happen in the full glare of
world scrutiny, and under the full weight of world opinion. “Liberal demo-
cratic” nation-states such as Canada depend heavily upon their ability to
clamp a lid of secrecy over their internal applications of lethal force for
political purposes, thereby maintaining their ability to posture as “humani-
tarian” entities within the geopolitical arena. The Lubicons have proven
themselves singularly successful in stripping away the necessary blanket of
state secrecy in their own case, and have thus placed themselves in an ideal
position to call the bluff of Canada’s domestic saber rattlers. Canadian pursuit
of a military or paramilitary option as a means of “resolving” the Lubicon
claims to land and sovereignty thus carries with it undeniable and extremely
negative consequences for the Canadian state itself. It is this political rather
than military dimension to the Indian strategy which causes the Lubicon as-
sertion that Canada will either have to “kill us or acknowledge our rights” to
make a good deal of practical sense.

It is of course possible that Canadian officialdom, or at least some elements
of it, will prove so narrowly racist and obtuse as to undertake an outright
Indian war along the Peace River. In that case, the unremittingly ugly history
of the Anglo domination in North America will be marked by yet another in
its long series of genocidal occurrences. On the other hand it is entirely
possible, under the circumstances created by the Lubicons, that wiser heads
will prevail and that some settlement acceptable to the Indians will at last be
negotiated by the Canadian government. If this occurs - given that the
Lubicons are overtly demanding a resumption of control over their own
government, legal system, identification of citizenry, and resources, as well as
traditional lands — it will be a major breakthrough in the reassertion of
indigenous sovereignty on this continent.

The stakes are very high at Lubicon Lake. Whatever else may be said with
regard to the struggle there, the tactics and positions developed by this tiny
band of Cree are deserving of study and immulation in many places. And all
of us owe them an incalculable debt for having had the courage and vision to
both frame things in their proper terms and bring matters to a head. Ina very
real sense, as go the Lubicons, so go we all.
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Section III.

The Arctic North



Report on Critical Issues in the Arctic
Inuit Circumpolar Conference

by Dalee Sambo

The Inuit Circumpolar Conference (ICC) is the international organization
representing all Inuit (Eskimo) from Alaska, Canada, and Greenland. There
are approximately 100,000 Inuit throughout Alaska, Canada, and Greenland.
The ICC was founded by the late mayor, Eben Hopson, in Barrow, Alaska,
during 1977. Hopson and others were well aware of the threats that off-shore
oil development posed to the bowhead whale habitat and the Arctic Ocean
generally. Hopson felt strongly thatlocal people had to have local control over
progress and development of the arctic areas. After years of lobbying and
campaigning to gain national attention for Inuit concerns in Alaska, and
failing to get the needed attention, Hopson decided to form the Inuit Circum-
polar Conference.

Presently, the ICC has its international headquarters in Kuujjuaq, Northern
Quebec, Canada, where its president, Mary Simon, resides. Regional offices
are located in Anchorage, Alaska; Ottawa, Canada; and Nuuk, Greenland.
There are 18 delegates chosen by regional organizations in each of the three
countries. The 54 delegates selected in 1986 will serve until the 1989 general
assembly. These delegates appoint the six executive council members.

The main objectives of the ICC are:

* to strengthen unity among the Inuit of the circumpolar region;
* to promote Inuit rights and interests on the international level;

* toensure adequate Inuit participation in political, economic and
social institutions which Inuit deem relevant;

* to promote greater self-sufficiency of the Inuit;

* to ensure the endurance and the growth of Inuit culture and
societies for both present and future generations;

* to promote long-term management and protection of arctic and
sub-arctic wildlife, environment and biological productivity;

* to promote wise management and use of non-renewable re-
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The raison d'étre of the ICC. A great deal of traditional Inuit culture, society and
economy remains intact in the modern world and requires defense against the
effects of state policy and contemporary corporate industrialism. (Photo: Bill Hess)

sources and incorporate such resources in the present and future
development of Inuit economies, taking into account other Inuit
interests.

Since its founding in 1977, the ICC has held a general assembly every three
years. Through their resolutions, the ICC general assemblies set out the
diverse mandates of the executive counciland the day-to-day work of the ICC.
In 1983, the ICC was officially granted Non-Governmental Organization
(NGO) status by the United Nations (U.N.) Economic and Social Council. As
an NGO, the ICC enhances its capacity within the international forum to
promote the rights and interests of the Inuit regarding the many critical issues
presently confronting them.

Arctic Policy

One of the principal projects undertaken by the ICC is the development of
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acomprehensive Arctic policy. Over thelong term, the ICC intends to address
both domestic and foreign policy aspects of a wide range of issues affecting
Inuit and their circumpolar homeland. For this policy to be comprehensive it
must address economic, social, cultural, environmental, as well as political
matters. The Arctic policy can be seen as a statement of fundamental prin-
ciples that we, as Inuit, feel must be recognized and respected by govern-
ments. The aim of the Arctic policy is to achieve a broad consensus to the
priorities, policies, and principles to be advanced in Inuit circumpolar re-
gions, taking into account the significance of the Arctic and its resources to
both present and future generations. We seek to encourage coordination of
policy-making and decision-making in the international community, particu-
larly in and among those nation-states with Arctic jurisdictions and interests.

Through the Arctic policy, we seck to ensure the survival of Inuit as a distinct
people and to integrate Inuit cultural values and concerns with all aspects of
policy development. We also want to protect the delicate Arctic environment,
including the marine and other resources upon which Inuit depend. We also
feel that it is important to favour those policies and principles which foster
peaceful co-existence and use of appropriate and safe technologies in the
circumpolar regions. Furthermore, we hope to promote international under-
standing and cooperation in arctic matters through collaborative research,
information and cultural exchanges, and international agreements. We hope
to have another draft of the Arctic policy document ready for review by the
1989 general assembly delegates, scheduled to meet in late July-early August
at Sisimiut, Greenland.

Inuit Regional Conservation Strategy

In 1985, the ICC established its environmental commission, charged with
the mapping out of an environmental policy strategy covering Alaska, Can-
ada, and Greenland. The commission has been working to create the basis of
a common environmental and developmental policies approach. Through
this approach, the relevant laws of the three ICC member nations may be
harmonized in the future. The project, called the Inuit Regional Conservation
Strategy (IRCS), received unequivocal endorsement by the ICC at its 1986
general assembly in Kotzebue. It is the first such strategy by an indigenous
people to implement a “world conservation strategy,” an attempt — on an
international level - toblend together into one single plan the respective needs
for modern-day development on many levels, as well as for sustainable tradi-
tional wildlife harvests and a growing Inuit autonomy.

We are well into Phase II of the IRCS and have made substantial progress.
Recently, ICC representatives participated in the 17th assembly of the Inter-
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national Union for the Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources
(IUCN), which took place in San Jose, Costa Rica, on February 1-10, 1988. The
TUCN, which celebrated its 40th anniversary this year, participated in the
drafting of the world conservation strategy and is concerned with con-
servation of natural resources and sustainable development. There are over
117 countries represented through nation-states (59), government agencies
(125), national and international NGOs (384), and non-voting affiliates (21).
On February 2, 1988, the ICC’s application for membership was approved by
the IUCN membership. We now have voting power within this worldwide
organization. In addition, a resolution was adopted by the assembly which
strongly supports the efforts of the ICC and endorses the Inuit Regional
Conservation Strategy.

The IUCN is another important international forum for indigenous peoples
and their organizations to be involved in. The ICC was able to inform the
members of the IUCN that traditional knowledge and the expertise that
indigenous peoples hold with regard to use of natural resources is significant
and must be respected. Indigenous peoples must take an initiative to follow
the work of the ITUCN and similar organizations. To effect change and to

Marine mammals are an integral part of the traditional Inuit economy as is wit-
nessed by this group of contemporary seal hunters. (Photo: Bill Hess)
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provide input you must join and take an active role in the work, and make the
contributions that you can.Indigenous peoples harvesting rightsare under at-
tack at all levels and from all quarters. The formation of Indigenous Survival
International (ISI) testifies to this fact: indigenous peoples now need to
organize coalitions to counter anti-harvest movements to protect their way of
life. The Inuit Circumpolar Conference has addressed harvesting issues
ranging froma polar bear study to the Migratory Birds Treaty. With our limited
staff and resources, we have been able to follow up on issues of importance to
Inuit communities.

Marine Mammal Protection Act

The Marine Mammal Protection Act is up for re-authorization during this
congressional session. We willbe working to ensure that the native exemption
remains in place, and that our rights to harvest marine mammals will not be
limited nor undermined in any way. The exemption allows harvest of marine
mammals for food or the production of traditional handicrafts. We have also
considered addressing the problems of trade of marine mammal products.
Currently, we are restricted from trade of these products and this has
seriously limited our full use of the animals that we do harvest. In fact, at this
time it is not possible for us to travel with traditional handicrafts to share with
our friends in other countries. For example, delegates from Greenland trav-
eling to the 1986 general assembly had their seal skin vests and other personal
items confiscated. Some items were not returned until quite some time later,
others were not returned at all. The ICC executive council has identified the
first priority to be retention of the native peoples” exemption for subsistence
harvesting purposes and that consideration for trade and sharing of products
be given only after this priority is met.

Migratory Birds Treaty

On October 9, 1987, the 9th U.S. Circuit Court in California issued a decision
which removed the legal foundation for the rules governing the subsistence
hunting of migratory birds. This decision has triggered a position within the
U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service to actively pursue enforcement of the “closed
season” under the Migratory Birds Treaty. This means that the federal agency
will prosecute anyone taking migratory birds, specifically waterfowl and /or
their eggs, during the closed season. The closed season happens to be the time
in which these migratory birds are in Alaska, making the springtime taking
of the waterfowl illegal. Basically, the decision has expropriated the subsis-
tence hunting rights of indigenous people. A protocol to amend the Migratory
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Birds Treaty to provide for managed subsistence use of waterfowl in northern
Canada and Alaska is underway. This protocol will enable subsistence
harvest and management of the waterfowl during the spring season. The ICC
executive council called upon the governments of Canada and the United
States together with the provincial, state and regional authorities, to adopt the
protocol, and further called upon native and subsistence users to urge
representatives to demonstrate support for adoption of the protocol as soon
as possible. It is the view of the ICC executive council that the work towards
the protocol must be a priority in Canada and the United States.

Shared Resources

We have also been concerned about shared resources between two different
jurisdictions, i.e. polar bears in the Ellesmere Island (High Arctic Islands) and
the Thule District of Greenland. The ICC hasinitiated a polar bearstudy under
the IRCS program. We have also discussed small whales, such as belugas, as
a shared resource that may require shared management. Bilateral agreements
between Canada-Greenland/Denmark, and possibly Canada/Alaska for
beluga, may be possible. The IRCS project encourages such local management
regimes for local user groups.

International Whaling Commission

The ICC, throughout the organization and its region members, has played
an important role in the recognition of subsistence whaling rights within the
International Whaling Commission (IWC). In 1980, the ICC created the Inuit
Circumpolar Whaling Commission to research subsistence whaling activities
and whale conservation programs. In 1981 the ICC was granted status as an
official observer of the IWC. We have worked closely with the Alaska Eskimo
Whaling Commission and the Hunters and Fishermen’s Association of
Greenland (both hold IWC observer status) to lobby for their concerns and
whaling quotas. At the next International Whaling Commission meeting, the
Alaska Eskimo Whaling Commission and the Hunters and Fishermen’s
Association in Greenland will attempt to maintain whale quotas. However,
they wish the quotas would be increased and feel that the scientific research
could support increased quotas.

The ICC is concerned that the IWC may begin looking at the regulation of
small cetaceans, walrus and other marine mammals. Because of a moratorium
on commercial whaling the IWC has little to do, other than regulating subsis-
tence hunt of whales by Alaskans and Greenlanders. We strongly feel that
small cetaceans, walrus and other marine mammals be regulated by the
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The cohesion of contemporary Inuit society is readily evidenced in the community
nature of gathering sustenance. Scenes such as this remain the norm rather than the
exception (Photo: Bill Hess)
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primary user groups — the Inuit and respective government agencies, rather
than the IWC. These matters must be carefully monitored. We hope that
through the IRCS and other avenues, that we can move closer to circumpolar
agreements, joint management agreements, and begin direct local control and
management programs similar to that of the Alaska Eskimo Whaling Com-
mission and the Alaska Eskimo Walrus Commission. Ultimately, this is the
purpose of the IRCS project, and it will take only time to putall of the required
strategies in place.

Soviet Inuit Participation

No Inuit from Siberia have yet attended an ICC General Assembly. ICC
continues to lobby the respective governments to secure the future participa-
tion of the Siberian Inuit in the ICC. The i. e of Yuit (Soviet Inuit) participa-
tion at the 1989 ICC general assembly and Siberian Inuit exchange were
discussed by the ICC executive council in Nome recently. In addition, the
news of an invitation to the Soviet Union was brought to Nome by the
Greenland council members. Nine people from Alaska, Canada and Green-
land, have been invited to the Soviet Union in August of 1988. If all goes well,
they will travel to the Chukotka Peninsula and visit two Siberian Inuit
communities, including Uelen, whichislocated near Big Diomede Island. The
recent invitation flows from discussions undertaken by Greenlandic political
party members and organizations in the Soviet Union. Based upon these
recent developments we are very hopeful that Yuit observersand participants
will attend the next general assembly.

Militarization of the Arctic

The recent contacts with the Soviet Union are complemented by the foreign
policy work that the ICC has undertaken in pursuit of a nuclear weapon free-
zone for the arctic. Since our inception in 1977, we have been concerned about
excessive militarization of the Arctic. Witha view to encouraging alternatives,
the ICC s preparing a draft international agreement concerning the establish-
ment of an Arctic Nuclear Weapons Free Zone. At the ICC general assembly
(July, 1986) in Kotzebue, Alaska, we were specifically mandated to formulate
an Arctic foreign policy as an integral part of our work. The ICC is convinced
that it is an opportune time to be directly involved in foreign policy work.
Moreover, the United Nations General Assembly and other U.N. bodies have
highlighted with approval the role of non-governmental organizations in fur-
thering peace and disarmament.

Presently, the world is witnessing a new Soviet openness to curbing the
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arms race. This change in Soviet policy could potentially lead tobalanced and
deepreductionsin strategic nuclear forces. Since progressin this regard by the
superpowers has not been satisfactory, it would seem essential that other
Arctic-rim nation-state governments and other interested organizations seek
constructive ways to influence or contribute to the peace process. The Inuit
Circumpolar Conference fully recognizes the central role of nation-state
governments in defense and other foreign policy matters. At the same time,
policy-making concerning Arctic and global security is too crucial to exclude
northern communities and organizations. Decisions affecting the future of the
Arctic and the quality of life should not be left solely to “experts” in the
military or in remote government departments.

Mary Simon, ICC president, has sent formal letters to General Secretary
Gorbachev and President Reagan outlining our concerns about militarization
of the Arctic. The letter and attachments sent by diplomatic pouch to General
Secretary Gorbachev outline our concerns about the militarization of the
Arctic and it also cites his recent Murmansk speech, where he referred to the
Arcticasa “zoneof peace.” Since then President Simon has met with the Soviet
Ambassador, in Canada, to discuss specific defense related issues and the
need for formal cultural exchange with Soviet Inuit. These efforts may lead to
an official meeting between ICC President and General Secretary Gorbachev.
We have received a response from the National Security Council, on behalf of
President Reagan. The response simply outlines the U.S. position on defense
and militarization, it does not really offer an opportunity for future discus-
sions and consultations with U.S. government officials on these matters.
However, ICC will continue to pursue further consultations with all in-
terested governments and parties.

On June 3, 1987, Mary Simon also met with Defense Minister of Canada,
Perrin Beatty, to discuss similar defense issues and the concerns of the Inuit
Circumpolar Conference with respect to nuclear weapons and militarization
of the Canadian north. After the Nome Executive Council meeting, a proposal
to the Greenland Home Rule Government was sent to the Premier of Green-
land and members of a newly formed government commission on Peace and
Security matters. This proposal outlines our specific concerns about militari-
zation of Greenland and seeks cooperation and financial support for our
foreign policy work, within the framework of the Arctic policy .

In Greenland, the Home Rule Government, in 1986, adopted a resolution
declaring the whole of Greenland a nuclear free zone. Of course, the United
States will neither confirm nor deny assertions that there are nuclear weapons
in place in Greenland. However, it is significant that the Home Rule Govern-
ment has taken this strong position on nuclear weapons and nuclear activity
in their homeland.
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Theunity of humans in the natural order s still manifested in every aspect of today's
Inuitlife. Indigenous cultures such as this have obvious abilities to show industrial
society how to recover its sence of balance and harmony (Photo: Bill Hess)




The ICC Alaska Office has been involved in the campaign for the adoption
of legislation in the Alaska state legislature, calling for a nuclear free Arctic
and sub-Arctic. We have also expressed opposition to the proposed pluto-
nium flights that may stop for re-fueling in Anchorage, and the homeporting
issue. Communities in Alaska have been considered as possible homeporting
sites. Congressional testimony over this issue has indicated that the navy
warships involved are “nuclear capable,” meaning that they are capable of
carrying nuclear weapons. This includes long-range and nuclear-tipped
Tomahawk cruise missiles. Once based in Alaska, it is highly probable that
they will be traveling throughout Arctic and sub-Arctic waters. In light of the
ICC’s position on nuclear weapons, General Secretary Gorbachev’s recent
speech, and the INF Treaty signing, the homeporting proposal will only hin-
der any favorable and positive discussions to adopt a more comprehensive
approach to arms control measures.

International Work

The ICChas also been very active in the work of the United Nations Working
Group on Indigenous Populations, based at the Human Rights Center in
Geneva, Switzerland. This working group is charged to draft principles
addressing indigenous humanrights. The ICC has contributed to this work by
making submissions about Inuit political developments and our discussions
with nation-states about self-determination and other fundamental princi-
ples that should be recognized by governments. We have offered our full text
of the Arctic policy principles to the Working Group for consideration
throughout their drafting work. We have worked with other international
indigenous NGOs in co-sponsoring meetings to discuss common problems
and to share our experiences with other indigenous peoples from all over the
world. The 1987 meeting of indigenous peoples attracted participants from 8
indigenous NGOs, and 25 other NGOs. At the 1986 ICC general assembly the
delegates adopted a resolution calling upon the United Nations to declare
1992 as the “Year of Indigenous Peoples of the World.” The Indigenous
Peoples Preparatory Meeting (July, 1987) adopted a similar resolution and
formally submitted it to the U.N. Working Group. Since the summer session,
this resolution has slowly climbed the U.N. ladder. The Working Group and
the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of
Minorities have adopted the resolution. The Human Rights Commission is
meeting now and will likely review and adopt the 1992 resolution.

The Indigenous Preparatory Meeting also agreed to submit statements to
the U.N. Working Group addressing the Draft Declaration of Principles
adopted by the preparatory meeting of 1985; a resolution supporting the
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Australian aboriginal people’s position on the 200 year anniversary of colo-
nial invasion of Australia; a resolution on the International Labour Office and
its partial revision of Convention 107 - “Indigenous and Tribal Populations”;
and a statement on indigenous self-determination.

International Labour Organization

The ICC will also be playing an active role in the International Labour
Organization (ILO). The ILO will be revising Convention 107, addressing
indigenous and “tribal” populations in June 1988. The ILO is comprised of
employers, unions, and nation-state governments — there is no membership
place for indigenous organizations like the ICC. The current language of the
Convention is written from an “integrationist” standpoint. Through our
participation and the participation of other indigenous peoples and orga-
nizations we may be able to improve the language of Convention 107 and the
ILO’s overall policy towards indigenous populations. The access that we, as
indigenous organizations and representatives, have is quite limited; how-
ever, it is important for us to participate to the extent that we can. We will be
working to lobby ILO members to ensure that they are aware of the ICC’s
Arctic policy principles and our general goals and objectives, and how they
relate to the Convention 107 language. The ICC application to “special list” of
NGOs has been accepted. An Indigenous Working Group to focus on the ILO
has been organized in Canada. The working group meetings are held to
develop a coordinated strategy and response by Canadian indigenous
peoples in preparation for the upcoming series of ILO meetings. Representa-
tives of Inuit Circumpolar Conference, Inuit Tapirisat of Canada, Assembly of
First Nations, Metis National Council, Native Council of Canada, and others
are members. The U.N. Working Group and the ILO are just two international
bo dies that have undertaken the development of draft principles and policies
which will eventually affect indigenous people at the community level.

International Congress on Circumpolar Health

This international symposium is held every three years with the goals of: (a)
bringing together medical scientists, health care delivery specialists, health
administrators and health consumers to discuss the state of the art in their
respective fields, (b) to allow national and international participants to
observe and discuss the health situation in their own countries, and (c) to
relate solutions to health problems in other parts of the world to the unique
problems of the circumpolar regions. During the June 8-12, 1987, ICCH
meeting, researchers focused on matters of circumpolar health without the
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benefit of broad indigenous peoples participation. There is a strong need for
greater indigenous participation within this important international forum.
Below are some examples of research that the Congress members will be
focusing on:

e The study of the Genetics of the Sami and Inuit and reference to
people as geneticisolates. One comment was that “research must
be done before the genetic pool is ‘diluted’.”

* AIDS research done in the northern regions because of the
general attitude that particularly Greenland will be susceptible to
an AIDS epidemic. Of major import was the fact that two Inuit
seen in Montreal contracted AIDS by transfusion and have now
gone into remission. Possibly genetically isolated people such as
theInuit will be used as a testing group for AIDS researchbecause
of their possible immunity.

¢ Research of alcohol metabolism, studying the genetic predispo-
sition to “alcoholism” among the people of the northern regions.

¢ The research of the northern adaptation. Cold adaptation has
been studied but new research would be on the electromagnetic
aspects in adaptation.

During these discussions there was no mention of the Inuit Circumpolar
Conference Arctic policy or the Alaska Native Health Board’s Policies, or of
the impact of research concerning traditional values and behavioral issues.
The general attitude did not reflect the impact and concern of bio-medical
research on indigenous people. The ICC will be working cooperatively with
other indigenous groups to establish a clearing house for material on research
of native communities and people. Canada has started working on this
already. This effort will try to ensure that indigenous peoples are involved
with health issues and concerns both nationally and internationally, and that
the native viewpoint be represented and published by indigenous people in
recognized health publications. In Alaska we have begun work on a talent
bank of native people that will document the variety of skills needed to
become “professionally” involved and for generating relevant data. Our goal
is to make sure that at the next International Congress on Circumpolar Health
in 1990, at Whitehorse, therebe representative viewsand papers presented by
indigenous people.
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Regional Issues
Arctic National Wildlife Refuge

The United States Congress is currently considering the opening of the
coastal plain of the Arctic National Wildlife Refu ge(ANWR), located in the far
northeastern corner of Alaska, to oil exploration. The Coastal Plain may have
large deposits of oil and it may not. If opened for exploration, development
would likely follow. There are two views being represented in congress: that
of the pro-developers who are strongly in favour of opening the refuge to oil
exploration, and that of the environmental groups who are strongly opposed.

Throughout 1987 the U.S. Department of Interior held a brief series of public
hearings on the ANWR issue. The Departmentof Interior then issued the Draft
1002 Report, which was to be considered an impact statement. There was only
one hearing held in a rural community: Kaktovik. The Athabascan Indian
people of Arctic Village, Venetie, Fort Yukon, and Old Crow, Canada, were
not given the opportunity to comment through a hearing process. The Inuit
and Indian of both Canada and Alaska are dependent on the migratory
wildlife resources of the coastal plain, in particular, the Porcupine caribou
herd. The ICC executive council, in a formal statement, felt that the Draft 1002
Report was notadequate. The issues of consultation with affected communi-
ties, impact on wildlife, primarily the Porcupine caribou herd, and the likely
effects on Inuit cultureand lifestyle on botha local and regional level werealso
addressed in the ICC Council statement. In addition, the matter of benefits to
Inuit and the communities affected, allocation of a reasonable portion of
mineral revenues, training and employment, infrastructure, and other com-
munity improvements should be provided in the event of exploration activ-
ity. Finally, if the area is opened up for development, the matter of strict
compliance measures must be put in place and enforce.

In addition to the various positions of Inuit and Indian peoples in Canada
and Alaska, there are many other matters that will have to be addressed in the
legislative process. One important matter is that of the “land exchanges”
prompted by ANWR. Some native regional and village corporations own
land within wildlife refuges near their communities or regions. The U.S. Fish
and Wildlife Service has management jurisdiction over these lands and they
would like to own all the lands within the refuges to allow for easier
management. The fish and wildlife service is working out deals with native
corporations to exchange their “inholdings” for subsurface tracts within the
coastal plain; it is a process of speculation. The land exchanges will not go
through if congress votes to keep the coastal plain closed to oil exploration. If
no oilis found, the fish and wildlife service would return some of theland and

189



keep therest, but thisis only an option. This option and the deals are currently
being negotiated by the corporate officers. It is not clear as to whether or not
the people will be able to vote to approve or ratify the agreements. The ICC
issued the statement, however, they did not take any position to support or
oppose the opening of the coastal plain for development. This has been con-
sidered a “regional issue.” There are diverse positions on ANWR in the Inuit
community. Some of the native regional corporations established under
ANCSA could berefit financially, while other indigenous communities could
suffer from the development. The matter will be decided upon by the people
of Alaska and the U.S. Congress.

Amauligiak Project

The ICC executive council has also reviewed documents concerning the
proposed oil development in the Amauligiak Field in the Canadian Beaufort
Sea. This issue is similar to that of ANWR due to it being a “regional issue,”
where some of the Inuit communities could benefit financially, while others
may suffer the consequences of development. The Amauligiak project in-
volves transporting oil by tanker, and this method of transport has generated
great concern because of the Arctic ocean conditions. Also, Alaskan Inuit are
strongly concerned about the effects that thismay have on the bowhead whale
population. Here again, the council statement addressed matters of consul-
tation, benefits/revenues, training and employment, infrastructure, etc.

Greenland

The Greenland home rule government will focus on many issues in the
months ahead. In particular, they will be dealing with budget and finance
matters. The ICC Greenland office has informed us of the establishment of an
Inuit resource center to be based in Nuuk, at the ICC office. The Nordic
Council in Greenland is donating books and documents to the new center. At
the recent executive council meeting in Nome, we addressed the matter of the
Commission on Relocation, established by the Danish Government. This
commission is responsible for studying the impact on the forced relocation of
the Qanaq (Thule) peoplein 1953, to allow for the placementof a U.S. Air Force
base. We learned that the commission is scheduled to make its final report by
the end of 1989, but they have not yet begun their work. There has been no
substantive report to the parliament or to the people concerned. The council
strongly urged the commission to begin its work immediately, to restore
public confidence in the commission and to demonstrate its accountability.
The people of Qanaq have lived with uncertainty for too long with respect to
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this issue and it is the view of the ICC that the commission must begin to
respond to these concerns and provide a full report as soon as possible.

Canada

In Canada the issues of land claims in Labrador, low-level military training
flights, and elections for officers and members of the Inuit Tapirisat of Canada,
the National Inuit organization, is coming up. Makivik Corporation, the
regional corporation established under the James Bay/Northern Quebec
Agreement, recently held their elections. Charlie Watt was elected to serve as
president and Zebedee Nungak will serve as vice president in charge of
political development. The creation of Nunavut (“Our Land”) will also be
dealt with throughout the year. Nunavut is a proposal to establish a territo-
rial-type government beyond the tree-line in the present Northwest Territo-
ries, where indigenous people are a majority. The matter of the constitutional
talks and First Minister’s conferences is certainly going to be at issue again.
Possibly ina future series on the Arctic, we can better address these important
issues.

Alaska

Alaska native land rights were not addressed in the new constitution when
Alaska became a state in 1959. The discovery of huge quantities of oil in
Prudhoe Bay in the late 1960s encouraged industry and the state and federal
governments to support swift passage of the Alaska Native Claims Settlement
Act of 1971 (ANCSA), which assigned title of 44 million acres of native lands
to profit-making regional and village corporations, and whose stockholders
were solely indigenous Aleuts, Tshimpian, Tlingit, Athabascan, Haida and
Eskimos of both Yupik and Inupiaq heritage. There are many obvious threats
to native lands and cultures inherent in the corporate scheme of ANCSA.

In 1983 the ICC established the Alaska Native Review Commission (ANRC)
to conduct an in-depth review of ANCSA. Thomas R. Berger was selected as
sole commissioner. The ANRC conducted a series of hearings involving
thousands of Alaska natives, from 1983 to 1985. The final report Village Journey
strongly recommends that Alaskan native nations assume title of their corpo-
rately owned lands as soon as possible in order to retain their landbase. The
recommendation, and others made by Berger pertaining to protection of the
hunting and fishing rights of Alaska natives and maintenance of traditional
tribal governments, reflect the aspirations of Alaska natives.

After a lengthy and difficult lobbying effort, on January 20, 1988, President
Reagan signed into law the provisions that amend ANCSA. The new law, the
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“1991” legislation (Public Law100-241), does not really protect the land from
being lost or sold, nor does it ensure continued indigenous ownership and
control of the corporations. It does not provide for returning land to the
nations. Neither congress nor the state are willing to acknowledge that
nations have the powers of self-government. Public Law 100-241 does not re-
quire stock for the “after-borns,” those born after 1971 who are not eligible for
enrollment. Shareholders still have to vote to include the “new natives.” The
new law does not stop the stock from being sold; it just makes it more compli-
cated. Native stock will not automatically go on the market in 1991, but
shareholders can vote to do this. The bill actually allows corporations to sell
new stock to non-natives! The new provisions addressing stock and issuance
of new stock means indigenous people will have less control than ever over
their corporations and lands.

In some cases, a handful of present-day adults are empowered to sell off the
whole patrimony of an indigenous village or nation, which was once held in
common for the benefit of all, forever. The wrongs of ANCSA are unchanged.
A flow of information to the villages and nations, and a series of educational
workshops in the communities must be held to warn people of the new law
and the precautions to be taken in order to retain their land and way of life.

NOTE: The information in the final section (Alaska) is provided on behalf of the
author, and is not reflective of the ICC’s views about and position on this regional
issue,

For further information, contact:

ICC Alaska Office
429 D Street, Suite 202
Anchorage, AK 99502

U.S.A.
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